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Company at a Glance
AREN

AAG Energy, the Leading

Independent CBM Producer in China
DXRER PREEBRITENEALE

Our Vision

To be the leading independent E&P
platform in Asia

Mission
We are committed to providing a superior
rate of return on our shareholders’

investments in a socially responsible and
environmentally sustainable way
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About AAG Energy Holdings Limited

AAG Energy Holdings Limited is an international energy company and a
leader in China’s CBM exploration and development sector. It focuses on
developing and optimizing the value of unconventional gas resources to
supply clean energy to the Chinese economy. AAG Energy’s key operating
assets, Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, are located in the southwestern
part of Shanxi province in the Qinshui Basin, which boasts the largest proved
CBM geological reserves of any basin in China. AAG Energy’s Panzhuang
concession in partnership with China United Coalbed Methane Corporation
Ltd., is the most commercially advanced Sino-foreign CBM asset in China
and the first Sino-foreign CBM cooperative project to have entered full-scale
commercial development and production. The Project has a designed annual
production capacity of 500 million m3. AAG Energy’s Mabi CBM Project
Phase 1 in partnership with PetroChina received the preliminary ODP
approval from NDRC in November 2013. The designed commercial scale
capacity of Mabi Phase | is 1 billion m® per year. With proven ability to
commercialize CBM and a highly-respected management team, the Group
has attracted support from leading international and Chinese investors
including Warburg Pincus, Baring Private Equity Asia, Chinastone and Ping
An.

> INON=ED g —
AR e R RIER B R A A
DERERIERBRARE —REF K ERENER A B ER B LA 8
BB gER AR BERIEERAARERNFAZREEENL  APBELE
HEBERER - DXRERNEBELEEEZT LS VELRAN L TR 3AY
KB - HEEREPAMEREEPRSAM 2 E - hXaEREP B
ERAREERETRRATEEELLEESRNTINIEREEREE -
EPHEEEATAREREMNEENTINGIEREREM - FRFTERE
BSEM AR - DEEREFABEIENSVEERIAE BRBAZ TR
HIE R 2013F 11 AESBERERBHOATEIE - — XA TRTE
BEA10EM K o« REEEREREF(CERTRIINERUAREBFH
EEEK  EEREERS T RABBEEREA—REERENTRMA X
B BREREREVREEE  BEDMLEES  FAMELERESE -




Company at a Glance

NGl by

| 4

- - S C—
— — —
W
-_

AAG Core Values

One Team

AAG excels through teamwork in which
each member shares ideas and inspires
each other. With one team, we believe
that one plus one can be greater than two.

Entrepreneurship

AAG has been thriving because of
entrepreneurship in motion. Constantly
evolving and seeking new technologies,
new solutions, and fresh ideas are the
founding cultural features of our company.

Integrity

AAG'’s foundation and structure are based
on mutual openness, trust, and respect.
This is vital to the very existence and
future of our company.

Initiative

With its entrepreneurial nature, AAG
encourages its employees to think
creatively, to embrace change, to
continuously innovate, and to relentlessly
seek improvement.
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People

AAG’s employees are our most important
asset. We hope to create synergy between
the company’s success and each
individual’s career development.

Health, Safety and Environment
(HSE)

AAG’s success depends on the effective
protection of health and safety of our
employees. We believe that sustainable
development is best achieved by
protecting the environment first, while
managing social impacts with balanced
economic growth.

Accountability

Each AAG employee will be held
accountable for all his/her decisions,
actions and results. Company’s survival
and future growth rely on our ability to
deliver on our promises to each other and
our shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement
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We are committed to providing a
superior rate of return on our
shareholders’ investments in a socially
responsible and environmentally
sustainable way
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Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
Chairman
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of
AAG Energy Holdings Limited ("AAG"” or the "Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | hereby present the
annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016.

2016 was a very challenging year for AAG and its shareholders.
Impacted by the low global oil price, the China gas price was cut
during the first full calendar year after our IPO in June 2015. This
caused our average realized gas price in 2016 to reduce by RMB0.46
per cubic meter, which eroded much of our expected profits. To face
these challenges, with clear directions from the Board, the
management stayed focused on production increase, cost control and
new business development. As a result, AAG's fundamentals remain
very strong, as we continue to be the leading independent producer of
coalbed methane (“CBM") in China.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

Here are some monumental achievements in 2016. First of all, 2016 was
another year of excellence in our Health, Safety and Environment
("HSE") performance. Secondly, Panzhuang became the first Sino-
foreign CBM project to complete development and officially enter
Production Phase. Third, Mabi finished another year of great
improvements with record pilot production as it approaches Overall
Development Plan Phase | (“ODP |") approval. With all these
achievements, in its Thirteenth Five-Year Development and Utilization
Plan for Coalbed Methane published in November 2016, the National
Energy Administration (“NEA") highlighted Panzhuang and Mabi as
the leading CBM assets in China for developed and developing phases
respectively.

In summary, The Group's 2016 total gross production increased by 7%
to 541 million cubic meters ("MMCM") (19.1 billion cubic feet ("bef")),
comprising 506 MMCM (17.9 bcf) from Panzhuang and 35 MMCM (1.2
bcf) from Mabi. Our gross gas sales volume before value added tax
("VAT") and local taxes increased by 3.5% to 496 MMCM (17.5 bcf),
compared with 2015. The Group's sales revenue in 2016 reduced 23.4%
to RMB411.3 million compared with RMB536.7 million in 2015 reflecting
the decrease selling price of CBM from RMB1.66 per cubic meter in
2015 to RMB1.20 per cubic meter in 2016. The Group's reported
EBITDA decreased from RMB371.9 million in 2015 by 26.9% to
RMB271.8 million also primarily due to the decrease in average realized
selling price ("ASP") of CBM. Although these financial indicators
decreased due to the reduction in realized sales price, we are confident
that 2017 will be a good year for AAG as we continue to focus on
production growth, and cost control.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

To preserve sufficient cash to support the Group's development and
production in the existing Panzhuang and Mabi projects operated by
its two respective subsidiaries Sino American Energy, Inc (“SAEI") and
Asian American Gas, Inc. ("AAGI"), as well as expand our business
through M&A activities in 2017, the Board did not recommend
payment of a dividend.

Hereunder are some highlights of the Group in the year 2016:

J Outstanding HSE record: We are most proud this year of our
HSE achievements, and we are happy to report that our full year
safety metrics were 0.00 incidents per 200,000 man hours worked
for both recordable and lost time incidents. This is a remarkable
achievement for the Company. We are actively focused on our
HSE programs, as we strive not only to keep our employees safe,
but to improve the environment and community around us. To
show our determination to support the sustainable development
of local communities, we have included our Environment, Social
and Governance ("ESG") report on page 93 as part of this year's
Annual Report to shareholders.

o Further enhancement of Group reserve base: The Group is
very pleased with the 2016 reserve upgrade program in both
Mabi and Panzhuang. Based on reports issued by Netherland,
Sewell & Associations, Inc. ("NSAI"), the Group's Net Proved +
Probable ("2P") natural gas reserve as at year-end 2016 is
approximately 698 bcf, which represents a 4.1% increase over the
Net 2P of 670 bcf at year-end 2015. We continue to migrate
reserves up the value chain and are very pleased that we will
announce Net 1P reserves of 9.7 bcf in Mabi in 2016.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

SAEl's record production: Panzhuang 2016 gross production
increased 3.7% to 506 MMCM (17.9 bcf) compared to last year's
Panzhuang gross production of 488 MMCM (17.2 bcf).
Panzhuang's gross sales volume before VAT and local taxes
increased by 3.5% to 496 MMCM (17.5 bcf), 98% of the gross
production, from full year 2015 actual gross sales volume before
VAT and local taxes of 479 MMCM (16.9 bcf). We are very proud
that Panzhuang was the first ever Sino-foreign CBM project to
enter production phase as it continues to be the best CBM asset
in China.

AAGI's Mabi record pilot production and ramp up: in 2016,
Mabi showed promising success in its pilot development plan
ahead of the approval of ODP |. Mabi's 2016 gross pilot
production increased to 35 MMCM (1.2 bcf) compared to 16
MMCM (0.57 bcf) in 2015. The 2016 average daily production for
Mabi was 95.5 thousand cubic meters per day (“MCMD"), a 119%
increase compared to 43.65 MCMD in 2015. AAG is very pleased
with the increasing success of the well stimulation and
completion techniques in Mabi further demonstrating AAG's
leading technological advantage in the CBM production space.

All Mabi ODP | associated sub-approvals have been secured.
The ODP | report and it is now under final review by our project
partner China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC"), after
which it will be submitted to the NDRC for final ODP approval.
We expect to receive ODP | in the second half of this year.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

o Strong balance sheet: We are one of a very few oil & gas
companies in the world to weather through this difficult period
and come out even stronger. While many oil & gas companies
were selling off assets, re-structuring their loans/debt, re-
capitalizing, or even going into insolvency, AAG had a strong
cash balance and had been actively looking for opportunities to
expand. The majority of the US$250 million Reserve-Based
Lending ("RBL") loan was not utilized during 2016. As at 31
December 2016, AAG had a cash balance equivalent to US$342
million (approximately 67% held in US and Hong Kong dollars
offshore), borrowings of RMB496 million (US$76 million) and an
unutilized RBL of US$174 million.

o New Business Development: The Group has been actively
pursuing new oil & gas opportunities for future growth, mainly
covering attractive oil & gas assets inside and outside China. In
2016, AAG built a world class M&A team that competitively
screened numerous deals and progressed one highly attractive
South East Asia deal to a very advanced stage of negotiations.
Unfortunately, the seller pulled the asset of the market during
this advanced stage due to internal corporate and strategic
reasons. We believe AAG is well positioned for further expansion
in the near term, and are very excited about prospects in 2017.

Fellow shareholders, 2016 was a year full of crises and opportunities for
energy companies globally. | firmly believe that AAG came out of the
year in very good shape: while most energy companies are struggling
survive, AAG is fully capitalized and actively looking for new
opportunities. 2017 will continue to be a challenging year for the world
economically and politically, and AAG has a lot of work to do. However,
we are very excited for 2017 as the commodity markets continue to
pick up globally, and the Chinese economy bounces back. In this year
of the Rooster, we will stay focused on improving our fundamentals,
increasing production while controlling cost for our China CBM
projects, and actively looking for new opportunities.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

In closing, | thank you, our Board, staff, shareholders,
partners for your continued trust and support.

Sincerely,

e

Stephen Xiangdong Zou
Chairman
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BUSINESS REVIEW

2016 total gross production and net reserve growth:

We are pleased to announce the Group continues to deliver both gross
production and net reserve growth, compared with 2015. The Group's
2016 total gross production increased by 7% compared with 2015 to
541 MMCM (19.1 bcf), comprising 506 MMCM (17.9 bcf) from
Panzhuang and 35 MMCM (1.2 bcf) from Mabi. Our gross gas sales
volume before VAT and local taxes increased by 3.5% to 496 MMCM
(17.5 bcf), compared with 2015. The Group’s Net 2P natural gas
reserves as at year-end 2016 is approximately 698 bcf, which represents
a 4.1% increase over the Net 2P of 670 bcf at year-end 2015.

Panzhuang entered production phase:

The Group would like to announce that the Panzhuang project,
partnered with China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (# B
HEREREMEA T, "CUCBM") reached its Overall Development
Plan ("ODP") design capacity of 495 MMCM (17.5 bcf) and entered
production phase on 1 November 2016. This makes Panzhuang the first
Sino-foreign Coalbed Methane CBM project to complete development
and enter production phase. This is another major milestone for
Panzhuang since its receipt of ODP approval from The National
Development and Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of
China ("PRC") (FEARKMBIBEIRERMLEEZEE, "NDRC") on
28 November 2011.

AAG reported a profit of RMB106.6 million in 2016:

2016 was a challenging year for oil and gas producers globally and it
was no different for AAG. Due to the slowdown in the Chinese
economy and the announcement by the NDRC to reduce the China
gas price, our realized ASP was RMB1.20/m? (US$5.13/mcf) in 2016, a
decrease of RMB0.46/m?* or 28%, compared with 2015. As a result, our
2016 revenue declined by RMB125.4 million to RMB411.3 million. While
revenue decreased in 2016, the Company realized a profit of RMB106.6
million in 2016.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 75 Bl Ea
Please refer to section headed Review of Financial Results F2EARANER M BB EEDRE | —
below. I
As at or for the year ended 31 December
BEYQELEEE12A31H
ltems 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
BHH 2016 20154 20144 20134 20124
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AREBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Current Assets 2,699,512 2,820,279 1,347,769 348,623 83,846
Non-current assets 3,238,962 2,667,486 2,147,103 1,846,924 1,266,485
Total assets 5,938,474 5,487,765 3,494,872 2,195,547 1,350,331
Current liabilities 443,775 392,893 316,439 1,887,800 1,288,068
Non-current liabilities 657,765 503,426 375,432 363,505 158,492
Total liabilities 1,101,540 896,319 691,871 2,251,305 1,446,560
Revenue 411,278 536,655 425,895 138,382 92,397
Profit/(loss) before income tax 178,980 51,717 275,048 68,651 (80,311)
Profit/(loss) for the year 106,635 (56,939) 194,988 39,568 (71,691)
Net cash generated from/
(used in) operating activities 257,418 317,382 297,587 611 (27,518)
Net cash used in investing
activities (337,742) (743,937) (420,954) (607,575) (441,149)
Net cash generated from
financing activities 12,874 1,517,712 1,014,039 787,666 461,514
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

The Group has achieved significant progress towards certain key

operational objectives for its two key assets operated by the Group's

two subsidiaries: Panzhuang concession operated by SAEl and Mabi

concession operated by AAGI.

Panzhuang Concession

Panzhuang production update

Panzhuang 2016 gross production increased by 3.7% to 506
MMCM (17.9 bcf) compared to last year's Panzhuang gross
production of 488 MMCM (17.2 bcf). Panzhuang's utilization rate
remained very good at 98% of gross production in 2016.
Panzhuang’s gross sales volume before VAT and local taxes in
2016 increased slightly by 3.5% to 495.5 MMCM (17.5 bcf),
compared with the full year 2015 gross sales volumes before VAT
and local taxes of 478.6 MMCM (16.9 bcf). Further details on
production and well count of Panzhuang are set out below in
Table 1.

Panzhuang drilling and surface facilities update

In 2016, AAG drilled and completed 30 wells (comprising 28
single lateral horizontals (“SLH") and 2 pad drill wells (“PDW(s)").
The 28 SLH wells were drilled in just 22 days on average with an
average drilling cost of RMB3.8 million compared with a 2015
average of RMB5.8 million, with wells drilled in 31 days on
average. We fractured 6 PDWs and completed 10 surface
compressors uplift projects further expanding the well
completion activities and achieving the target wellhead gathering
pressure in 2016. By the end of 2016, there was a total of 5 gas
gathering stations, and 16 wellhead compressors online. The
2016 average daily production was 1.38 MMCM per day
(“MMCMD") and remained the highest productive CBM
concession in China. At the end of 2016, there were a total of 97
wells contributing to production. Of these 97 wells, there are 14
PDWs, 49 multi-lateral wells (“MLD"), and 34 SLH wells.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Mabi Concession

14

Mabi pilot program update

AAG's Mabi concession showed promising success in 2016 as it
continues to ramp up to ODP | approval. Mabi's 2016 gross pilot
production increased to 35 MMCM (1.2 bcf) compared with 15.9
MMCM (0.57 bcf) in 2015. The 2016 average daily production for
Mabi was 95.5 MCMD, a 119% increase compared to 43.65
MCMD in 2015.

We drilled 8 SLH wells in Mabi in 2016 with an average drilling
cost of RMB4.8 million and average drilling time of 28 days. The
fracture work plan was expanded in 2016 building off the
demonstrated success in 2015, with 31 wells fractured, a total of
127 stages. Of these 127 stimulations, there were 69 fractures on
7 SLH wells with an average of 10 stages per well. These fracture
stimulations cost an average of RMB550,000 per stage in 2016.
The remaining 58 fractures were conducted on PDW wells, with
an average of 4 stages per PDW in multiple coal seams. The
fracture work for PDW cost an average of RMB400,000 per stage.
Of the fractured PDWs, pad MB02-A3-67S with 12 PDWs
averaged 34 MCMD in December 2016, representing an average
of 2.8 MCMD per well, very promising production for PDW. AAG
is very pleased with the increasing success of the well stimulation
and completion techniques further demonstrating the Group's
leading technological advantage in CBM development and
production.

Mabi continues to dewater the recently drilled SLH wells as many
have yet to hit their gas production peak rate and still have a high
bottom hole pressure. Therefore, more production track record is
needed before we can determine the economic viability of these
wells.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)
Mabi Concession (Continued)
Mabi pilot program update (Continued)

Mabi ODP progress

Mabi made further progress in 2016 based on the approvals
for Mabi ODP I. All Mabi ODP | associated pre-approvals
have been secured, including land use, social stability
assessment and environment impact assessment, etc. The
Mabi ODP | report has been revised based on the latest
progress made in the Mabi pilot program and changed
market conditions, and is currently under final review by our
project partner, China National Petroleum Corporation (H
BAmARAREB AT, "CNPC”), and it will be submitted
to the NDRC afterwards. Based on prior experience, once
submission is made to the NDRC, Mabi ODP | approval is
expected to be obtained within 6 to 12 months.

Table 1— Operation matrix of Panzhuang ("PZ") and Mabi
("MB") concessions

RO EE ()
ENEH ()
ENEREEERER(H)

55N BRARRE T B T 2 R

B ARBRTE 2016 FF 34 5 % ODP | #)
HEMSE—TER - FIAES Y
ODP | HHE M B EE B G -
BIELHHA - g BE T EA
REFETNHES - SHODP I#H
HERBEEVESHENEER
AR TE#HEE LTS R ET
TIER]  REEERMHIEL B
FEABAAKEER QA
([CNPCH M T EZ2H - 218
1 — IR R BKRENZE o RIBEMA
&8 HEODP B SR E
REREZRXBABEROEZ12BEANA
TEEHE o

R — AR ([EH ) &HBER
8 ([B ) IEEEAR

2016 2015 % Change
2016 F 2015 EFHAHL
PZ gross production (MMCM) EHEEE(BEMYFAK) 506.13 488.29 3%
Total PZ producing wells* A EEH A 97 63 54%
PZ MLD EIEZ D OKTH 49 49 0
PZ SLH BB D KT H 34 7 386%
PZ PDW EIEEAH 14 7 100%
PZ daily production FEHRAARBHES

(MMCMD) (BB KREXR) 1.38 1.34 3%

PZ daily production per well AHTHSHAYES
(MCMD) (FILHAEXR) 14.26 21.23 -33%
PZ wells fracked EEERR A E 6 13 —46%
MB gross production (MMCM) BEheEs(BEMLFAK) 34.95 15.93 119%
Total MB producing wells* B EEFEE 121 80 51%
MB MLD BB KFH 2 4 -50%
MB SLH BB D KFH 12 7 71%
MB PDW HBEAF 107 69 55%

MB daily production (MCMD) BURARABYES

(FILHAEXR) 95.5 43.65 119%

MB daily production per well SUFHSHEHESE
(MCMD) (FZFHKREX) 0.79 0.55 44%
MB wells fracked BB 31 35 -9%

Well count is calculated from pumping start date

* FEmE BB R 2 B E
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE

The Group is very pleased with the 2016 reserve upgrade program in
both the Mabi and Panzhuang concessions. In Mabi, 8 reserve wells
have been drilled, and 37 wells have been fractured in 2016. A total of
35 wells are contributing to the reserve upgrade program in Mabi
(targeting coal seams 2, 3, 9, and 15) in 2016 which will contribute to
both the national reserve certification by the PRC Ministry of Land
and Resources, (1 A R 2k + & J& #B, "MOLAR") and the
NSAl's 2P reserve upgrade for Mabi. In Panzhuang, we drilled 2 wells in
2016 that contributed to the reserve upgrade, with one well currently
under commercial production.

Based on reports issued by NSAI, an independent reserve certification
company, the Group’s Net 2P natural gas reserves as at year-end 2016
are approximately 698 bcf, which represents a 4.1% increase over the
Net 2P of 670 bcf at year-end 2015. The Panzhuang concession
contributed a Net 2P of 197.3 bcf, a 6.1% increase over the Net 2P of
186 bcf at year-end 2015, and the Mabi concession contributed a Net
2P of 500.5 bcf, a 3.4% increase over the Net 2P of 484 bcf at year-end
2015.

We continue to migrate reserves up the value chain and are very
pleased that we announced Net 1P reserves of 9.7 bcf in Mabi in 2016.
The Group’s Net 3P reserves at year-end 2016 is 1,525 bcf, a decrease
of 3.1% from 1,574 bcf at year-end 2015. The main cause of this
decrease, is the delay in receiving Mabi ODP | approval that we now
expect to receive in the second half of 2017.

Panzhuang's Net 3P reserves increased by 8.9% from 243 bcf at year-
end 2015 to 264.8 bcf at year-end 2016 due to additional wells added
to our long-range plan, increasing the amount of gas we expect to
produce before the Panzhuang production sharing contract (“PSC")
expires in 2028. This shows our commitment to developing Panzhuang
above its original design capacity of 17.5 bcf per year. This expanded
reserve base will further contribute production uplift in Panzhuang and
the full-scale commercialization of Mabi.
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE (Continued)

The following table sets forth our reserve data as of 31 December 2016

compared with 2015:

Table 2 — The reserve data of the Group

BERRBEEH @

THIR 25 E T M 20155 B A & 2016 5 12

A 31 BB AR -

R2—AKBEREEHR

Post-tax 2015 Net
Reserve Data*** REHE Gross Net(*) (***) NPV10%(**) (E9) (F9)
RE() BB 20156
ﬁi (***) gﬁﬁ10%** gi(*)(***)
(bcf) (bef)  (US$ millions) (bcf)
(tBYAER) (+EIFER) (BBZEn) (HEIFER)
Total A5t
Proved (1P) BEMZ(P) 136.0 107.2 277.6 935
Proved + probable (2P) BE+HERE Q2P 1,002.1 697.8 701.6 670.5
Proved + probable + possible (3P)  FHE +#E +AJ L= (3P) 2,357.6 1,525.0 1,137.0 1,573.8
Panzhuang BREER
Proved (1P) Eﬁfgrﬁi 1P) 124.4 97.5 252.6 93.5
Proved + probable (2P) EE+MEFEQ 253.1 197.3 508.8 186.0
Proved + probable + possible 3P)  ZEE +#H +7] d;{ﬁ (3P) 341.6 264.8 682.8 2434
Mabi EVER
Proved (1P) BERE(P) 11.6 9.7 25.0 N/A
Proved + probable (2P) BE+HE fﬁ%(ZP) 749.0 500.5 192.8 484.4
Proved + probable + possible (3P)  FE -+ &+ 8L E(3P) 2,016.0 1,260.2 4542 1,330.4
Notes: Bisr

*

*%

Net gas reserves are our share of the gas reserves according to the terms of each
production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel and shrinkage.

Represents our share of the future gross revenue from the CBM concession under
the production sharing contracts, after additions for cost recovery and deductions
for value-added taxes, royalties, future capital costs and operating expenses. The
future net revenue is presented after deduction of income taxes and has been
discounted at an annual rate of 10% to determine its net present value, which is
shown to indicate the effect of time on the value of money. Future net revenue
presented in this report should not be construed as being the fair market value of
the properties.

Our reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been prepared by NSAI in
accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and evaluation
principles set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil
and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.
NSAIl used standard engineering and geosciences methods or a combination of
methods, including performance analysis, volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it
considered to be appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and estimate
volumes in accordance with the 2007 PRMS (the Petroleum Resources Management
System published by the Society of Petroleum Engineers, American Association of
Petroleum Geologists, World Petroleum Council, and Society of Petroleum
Evaluation Engineers in March 2007) definitions and guidelines. These reserve
amounts are estimates only and should not be construed as exact quantities.

*k

BER
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RAHRIEH AR R EPIEENRAREHE -

BRFINERDKE T RERER IR KGR E
DK M ER TN b EYRAR R R BB E B - RE
REEAE  RRERLARGLER o RAOFR R
RIMBEAERE2S] - WERI10% M FRITE A
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BENFE - ARER2IIHRAOF UGS T IR FERE
RAEVENRTMISEER -
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE (Continued)

The following table is the summary of the expenditures incurred in our
exploration, development and production activities for the year ended
31 December 2016:

MRERBEEH (&)
TR =2 — B R B AR -
BIEs R AR EEM S -

Exploration Development Production/

(Thousands of RMB) expenditures expenditures operating expenditures

(AR®F ) B R H X LEEEXH

Panzhuang 1,158 203,946 125,941

Mabi 119,836 243,785 41,042

Total 120,994 447,731 166,983
NEW OPPORTUNITIES LTSS 3

The Group has been actively pursuing new oil and gas opportunities
for future growth, mainly covering attractive oil and gas assets inside
and outside China. Under the current lower oil price environment, the
valuation of oil and gas assets is very attractive. In 2016, the AAG Team
screened numerous deals and progressed one highly attractive South
East Asia deal to a very advanced stage of negotiations. Unfortunately,
the seller pulled the asset off the market during this advanced stage
due to internal corporate and strategic reasons. With our strong
balance sheet and technical knowhow of the management team, we
believe the Group is well positioned for further expansion through
partnering with other oil and gas producers and/or acquiring attractive
assets in the near term.

OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2017

China gas demand is expected to grow by 14% in 2017 according to
research conducted by SIA Energy, an independent China-focused oil
and gas consulting firm. Global oil price recovery, combined with the
PRC government plan to encourage the use of more natural gas to
replace coal consumption, will further contribute to an increase in
China gas demand and natural gas's competitiveness over oil and
other hydrocarbon products in 2017.

As published in the 13th Five Year Plan, the PRC government is
committed to establishing the right incentives and market drivers for
increasing gas demand by 2020, and CBM is a major part of this plan.
The National Energy Administration of the PRC (BI1ZK8E/RE, "NEA")
and the NDRC took great strides in 2015 and 2016 in gas reform
initiatives, including: pushing third party access implementation, rolling
out fuel switching programmes, enhancing infrastructure
interconnectivity, and streamlining the hierarchy of gas transmission
and distribution businesses. The NEA will take further steps in 2017 to
incentivize gas production and market reform. These measures will
support AAG's growth aspirations as we continue to be the leading
independent producer of CBM in China.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2017 (Continued) 2017 FRERIES| (&)
For 2017, the Group will continue making investments in Panzhuang 20174 » NEB B ETIR IR E NI LS
and Mabi as follows: KEWT :

o Panzhuang o

In Panzhuang, the Group will continue to invest in production
enhancement of existing production wells, by implementing
nitrogen cleanouts, surface compression, and fracture
stimulation, as well as drilling new wells.

The full year plan includes drilling 29 SLH production wells, 3
major fracture jobs on PDWs and 4 major work overs on existing
wells. Surface facilities investments will include the continuation
of the central station upgrade, further power station construction,
and related trunk line construction for future development.

The Group's full year gross production expectation for Panzhuang
is 557 MMCM (19.6 bcf) subject to anticipated project execution
and related government approvals.

. Mabi .

In Mabi, the Group will focus on fine tuning fracture stimulations
of PDWs, and developing the Mabi ODP | implementation plan.
This will include both drilling new wells in core areas, infill drilling
in existing development areas, and building a core developed
zone where the downstream infrastructure already exists. The
drilling and completion technology will build off the success in
recent years of low cost PDWs while observing longer term
performance of SLH wells.

The full year plan includes drilling approximately 60 new PDWs,
36 well completion works and 8 re-fractures. Much work will go
into surface facilities such as trunk lines, gas gathering stations,
well pad preparation, and forestry and land approval.

The Group's full year gross production expectation for Mabi is 57
MMCM (2 bcf) subject to anticipated project execution and
related government approvals.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2017 (Continued)

o Exploration
The Group will continue to prove up reserves in our Mabi
concession. We plan to drill 1 new reserve well in 2017, while
conducting at least 24 fractures on existing wells. Further
investment will go into well completion works, including pumping
and dewatering for the production test on the portfolio of pilot
production wells.

The Group plans to incur capital expenditures (“CAPEX") of
approximately RMB590 million (comprising approximately RMB290
million in Panzhuang, RMB230 million in Mabi and RMB70 million for
exploration, respectively) which will be funded by internal cashflows, a
portion of proceeds from the IPO or the unutilized portion of the
US$250 million reserve based lending (“RBL") loan.

The Group is confident that as a high productivity, low-cost upstream
gas producer with a strong balance sheet, we are well positioned to
further expand our production in Panzhuang and commercial
development in Mabi to satisfy China’s growing energy demand. At
the same time, the Group will continue to pursue new oil & gas
business opportunities within China and in other regional markets to
expand our business, serving adjacent communities with clean energy,
and realizing further return to our shareholders.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS g E S e

Year Ended 31 December
HZE12A3MHILEE

2016 2015

2016 F 2015 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBT T

Revenue WA 411,278 536,655
— Panzhuang — B 411,278 536,655
— Mabi — BN - -
Subsidy income #HEE A 119,820 68,808
— Panzhuang — EaT 119,820 68,808
— Mabi — B - -
VAT refund BEHRRH 29,456 58,864
— Panzhuang — T 29,456 58,864
— Mabi — B - -
Other losses, net HiEE 558 (913) (163)
Operating expenses TR Y (362,501) (434,323)
Depreciation and amortization e RE#E (74,613) (142,086)
Employee benefit expenses BITEMNMEX (164,142) (155,162)
Materials, services and logistics MR RS R (100,203) (113,815)
Others Hib (23,543) (23,260)
Panzhuang B (184,449) (241,557)
Depreciation and amortization PrE LY (65,906) (131,214)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMNES (46,316) (49,258)
Materials, services and logistics MR RS R (60,978) (49,601)
Others Hi (11,249) (11,484)
Mabi B (50,135) (51,496)
Depreciation and amortization rE LY (5,589) (8,370)
Employee benefit expenses S TENES (24,896) (24,581)
Materials, services and logistics ME - RIS RDIR (13,249) (12,496)
Others Hib (6,401) (6,049)
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued) WX ED R (E)

Year Ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2016 2015
2016 & 20154
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Headquarters 4 3 (127,917) (141,270)
Depreciation and amortization e RE# (3,118) (2,502)
Employee benefit expenses BTHEMNMEX (92,930) (81,323)
Materials, services and logistics MR RIS R (25,976) (51,718)
Others Hith (5,893) (5,727)

EBITDA EBITDA 271,753 371,927
— Panzhuang — & 441,628 554,009
— Mabi — B (45,075) (43,314)

Profit from operations SRR 197,140 229,841

Interest income FEWA 10,699 5,815

Finance costs B 765 Ak 2N (18,578) (29,126)

Exchange losses & N EriE (10,281) (154,813)

Finance costs — net Bt AR AN R &E (18,160) (178,124)

Profit before income tax BREr BB AEF 178,980 51,717

Income tax expense REY b (72,345) (108,656)

Profit/(loss) for the year EREF(EE) 106,635 (56,939)

Revenue. Our revenue decreased by RMB125.4 million, or 23.4%, from WA - HAFIEIURA B 2015 F 8 AR 5.367 8

RMB536.7 million in 2015 to RMB411.3 million in 2016. This decrease ~ TUIR A A R ¥ 1.25418 7T 5 23.4% E 2016 5 &Y

was due to a decrease in ASP of CBM after NDRC reduced non- AR 413ETT o 5B Ty B TE B R 32k

residential gas price in late 2015, which was partially offset by an §2015¢$EF§@53FEEFH)E'%FZ%&%

increase in production. The ASP of CBM for 2015 and 2016 were  REVFHAEBRRD MEKS - BERMBHHE

RMB1.66/m? to RMB1.20/m?, respectively. ML I - 2015F M2016 F H E R
FHEEN R AT RKARE1.667TH1.20
I e
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Set out below are the production, sales, number of producing wells,
ASP and revenue for Panzhuang:

B 4E TR ()
ERAESES WERAEHHE  THE
BRKALEFIMT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2016 2015
2016 20154
Gross production volume (bcf)’ EES (HE HER) 17.866 17.241
Gross sales volume (bcf)? e (HEI A HER)2 15.127 14.648
Net sales volume (bcf)? FiHE (HEZAER)? 12.102 11.389
Accumulative number of producing wells EEHZRFEE 97 66
ASP FHEE
RMB per cubic meter ANRWETT /1K 1.20 1.66
US$ per mcf E/FTIUFERR 5.13 7.60
Revenue (in RMB in thousands) WA (NEREETT) 411,278 536,655
Notes: 5T -
1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced. 1. HEERDEEKERMESE -
2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less (i) utilization loss and (i) 2. BHERBESRNERABARG)AZNERLEE
amounts sold to pay applicable VAT and local taxes. BREMBIBZ R AEHE -
3. Net sales volume is that portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the 3. SFHERARMBBRER DK ARESHNEHELND -

production sharing contract.

Subsidy income. We had subsidy income of RMB68.8 million and
RMB119.8 million in 2015 and 2016, respectively. Our subsidy income
increased by RMB51.0 million or 74.1%, mainly due to the increase in
the government subsidy rate for CBM from RMB0.20/m* to RMB0.30/m?
with effect from January 2016 and an increase of net sales volume as a
result of increased gross production volume at Panzhuang.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund reduced from RMB58.9 million in 2015 to
RMB29.5 million in 2016, a decrease of RMB29.4 million, or 49.9%. The
decrease was mainly due to a reduction in ASP of CBM in 2016 and an
increase in the local government’s share of VAT refund with effect from
January 2015.

Other losses, net. Our other loss was RMB163 thousands in 2015 and
RMB913 thousands in 2016. These losses represent disposal loss of
scrap materials at Panzhuang and Mabi.

YL A © 20154 K2 2016 4F » T A9 89 % BE Uk
ADBIABARE68808 TR ARK11981E
TT © MBRUR AIE N A R# 51008 758 74.1%
FERARA2016F 1 AT AEL A
KARBO20TTEMEEY T AKAREQ030
JL R EANETAESEIIMERFHE
HE AN -

EEFER - RMAIBERRBL2015FH
5808 LA T AR ®29408 T =
49.9%  B2016F M)A REE29508 7T © 1A
LPEEHR06FNEBRIEHEERD &
7 B AL 20154 1 A FIEAI8 N T 1 EFE
B BUT B8 R EB 5 FTE

H 5167 88 o BP0 E b 5 1B 7 2015 F F
2006FE DR AANRE163IETMINIET
TERHNEIEERMEVAERATE
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses decreased by RMB71.8
million or 16.5%, from RMB434.3 million in 2015 to RMB362.5 million in
2016 primarily due to decreases in depreciation and amortization costs,

decrease in materials, services and logistics expenses, but partially

offset by increases in employee benefit expenses.

24

Depreciation and amortization. Our depreciation and
amortization decreased by RMB67.5 million or 47.5%, from
RMB142.1 million in 2015 to RMB74.6 million in 2016 largely due
to change in estimate for unit of production depreciation rates
calculated based on proved and probable gas reserves from the
whole concession instead of proved and probable gas reserves
of individual well or well groups to make it consistent with
industry practice.

Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
increased by RMB8.9 million or 5.7%, from RMB155.2 million in
2015 to RMB164.1 million in 2016 primarily due to: (i) increase in
non-cash share-based compensation expenses in headquarters
due to the issuance of restricted stock units in early 2016 and
modifications of certain terms of the existing share option
scheme, (i) one-off severance pay as a result of departure of one
of our Co-CEOs, and (iii) additional headquarters’ senior
management headcount hired in 2016.

Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and
logistics expenses decreased by RMB13.6 million or 12.0%, from
RMB113.8 million in 2015 to RMB100.2 million in 2016, primarily
due to one-off expenses related to IPO totaling RMB28.3 million
in 2015, but offset by increased electricity and other operation
costs at Panzhuang associated with more wells put into
production and additional boosters and compressors installed in
gas gathering stations in 2016 and increased compliance
expenses after IPO.

Others. Our other expenses remained steady at RMB23.3 million
and RMB23.5 million in 2015 and 2016, respectively.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA decreased by RMB100.1 million or 26.9%, from
RMB371.9 million in 2015 to RMB271.8 million in 2016. This decrease
was primarily due to decrease in ASP of CBM from RMB1.66/m? in 2015
to RMB1.20/m3 in 2016 after NDRC reduced non-residential gas price
in late 2015, reduction in VAT refund since our ASP of CBM dropped in
2016 and the local government increased its share of VAT refund,
which was offset by an increase in subsidy income after the government
increased subsidy from RMB0.20/m?® to RMB0.30/m? with effect from
January 2016. Included in the EBITDA of RMB371.9 million in 2015 are
non-cash share-based compensation expenses of RMB44.7 million,
one-time expenses of RMB28.3 million related to our IPO and non-
operations-related expenses for headquarters’ business development
feasibility studies of RMB13.0 million. Included in the EBITDA of
RMB271.8 million in 2016 are non-cash share-based compensation
expenses of RMB48.3 million, non-operations-related expenses for
headquarters’ business development feasibility studies of RMB8.3
million and one-off severance pay of RMB4.6 million as a result of
departure of one of our Co-CEOs. After excluding (i) non-cash share-
based compensation expenses, one-time IPO expenses and non-
operations-related business development feasibility studies expenses
included in 2015; and (ii) non-cash share-based compensation
expenses, non-operations-related business development feasibility
studies expenses and one-off severance pay as a result of departure of
one of our Co-CEOs included in 2016, our adjusted EBITDA from core
operations is RMB457.9 million and RMB332.9 million in 2015 and 2016,
respectively. Included in EBITDA of 2016 is a one-time adjustment to
increased local government'’s share of VAT refund with effect from
January 2015 which not only reduces our VAT refund income in 2016
but also decreases our shares of VAT refund income in the future, and
has not been adjusted to calculate adjusted EBITDA for 2016.
Panzhuang's EBITDA decreased by RMB112.4 million or 20.3%, from
RMB554.0 million in 2015 to RMB441.6 million in 2016. Panzhuang's
EBITDA in 2016 decreased mainly due to decrease in ASP, lower VAT
refund and higher material, services and logistic expenses associated
with more wells, boosters and compressors which was partially offset
by increased subsidy income in 2016. Mabi’'s EBITDA was negative
RMB43.3 million in 2015 and negative RMB45.1 million in 2016 since it
was still in the exploration stage during both years.

B EEEREE (@)
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our profit from
operations decreased by RMB32.7 million or 14.2%, from a profit from
operations of RMB229.8 million in 2015 to a profit from operations of
RMB197.1 million in 2016.

Interest income. Our interest income increased by RMB4.9 million or
84.5%, from RMB5.8 million in 2015 to RMB10.7 million in 2016 primarily
due to interest earned from increased cash and fixed deposit balances.

Finance costs. Our finance costs decreased by RMB10.5 million or
36.1%, from RMB29.1 million in 2015 to RMB18.6 million in 2016, largely
due to writing off non-cash unamortized costs of RMB14.9 million in
2015 related to the original US$100 million RBL loan after re-financing
this US$100 million RBL loan (“Original US$100 million RBL") with a
new US$250 million RBL loan (“New US$250 million RBL") in 2015,
partially offset by increased commitment fees in 2016.

Exchange losses. Our foreign exchange translation losses decreased
by RMB144.5 million from RMB154.8 million in 2015 to RMB10.3 million
in 2016. Non-cash foreign currency translation losses of RMB161.3
million was booked in 2015 due to the depreciation of Renminbi during
the year and a US dollar denominated intercompany loan was provided
by us to our subsidiaries while local books and records are
denominated in Renminbi. In order to manage the foreign exchange
risk, we executed a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting
the intercompany loan into a perpetual loan through entering into
perpetual loan agreements between respective group companies.
Upon completion of the debt restructuring, any foreign exchange
differences arising from retranslation of the US dollar denominated
perpetual loan are recognized in equity in the consolidated financial
statements. The exchange loss of RMB10.3 million in 2016 is largely
due to the impact of the depreciation of the Renminbi on the drawn
portion of the New US$250 million RBL.

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax increased by
RMB127.3 million or 246.2% from a profit of RMB51.7 million in 2015 to
a profit of RMB179.0 million in 2016 mainly due to reduction in non-
cash foreign exchange translation losses and reduction in depreciation
and amortization expenses in 2016, one-time write off of non-cash
unamortized costs in 2015 related to the Original US$100 million RBL,
and the factors affecting EBITDA stated above.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Income tax expense. Our income tax expense decreased by RMB36.4
million or 33.5%, from RMB108.7 million in 2015 to RMB72.3 million in
2016. Income tax expense arises from Panzhuang's operations. In 2016,
Panzhuang did not have taxable income subject to taxation, whereas in
2015 Panzhuang had taxable income subject to taxation. Mabi had no
income tax expense given it is still in the exploration stage and had no
profit.

Profit/(loss) for the year. Our profit/loss for the year changed from a
loss of RMB56.9 million in 2015 to a profit of RMB106.6 million in 2016,
primarily due to the factors affecting profit before income tax and
EBITDA stated above and the decrease in income tax expense.

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to profit/
loss for the year, our most directly comparable financial performance
calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS. EBITDA refers to
earnings before interest income, finance costs, exchange loss, income
tax and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA refers to
EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash expenses, non-recurring items
or non-operations-related expenses to show EBITDA from the Group's
core operations.

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
a financial measure commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management and by investors, research
analysts, bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash
flow and return on capital as compared to those of other companies in
our industry, and our ability to take on financing. However, EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as an indicator of our operating performance or
profitability. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA fail to account for income
tax, exchange losses, interest income, finance costs and depreciation
and amortization.

B EEEREE (@)
BiR#AS - ZRPIMATBHAS H2015F 8
ARBE10871B TR T AR 3,6408 L8k
33.5% * E2016F M ARE72308 7T - 5
TS R E N ERFUEFE - 2016
F o BELEREFRANERBEN  B2%
2015 F BB MRET ARG o Bl &
FriSFiRY > RAREMNERIFREE &
FERFLE A o

FREF(BK) - BHAIEAR R, 185K i
2015 F R AR 5,690 8 7T 752016 F )i 7
ARBE10661ETT  TEEZHN LMPERA
1535 Al A A1 EBITDA B [ 22 K2 P45 15t B SR
DRTEL

EBITDA X &£ Z EBITDA

BP9 HE & W EBITDA & #& 33 2 EBITDA B )i
T ABKRNEER - ZaF, BRABRESEH
MEEAFTE R 25| MRER M I LRI
FIE - EBITDARBR A B URA ~ BAFSAC A ~ (B
Hikzs BB RITE RBHEATNAT - &7
FEBITDAJSEBITDAFAE = B IE IR £ 5
T R EMIAE SKIELEMBEMY - LA
REEZOFETEH EBITDA °

MR EBITDA R &L FH B EBITDA  BHR
T MR ABEBITDAT M RITEE AR M &5t
£ o MR AEBITDA KX & ZEBITDA T H
BEREE - IREE  AROWE - RITR R EHA
AT RERETT T E - AFFERIFAERRE
NEMARMNKEERE  BoRE REALR
KARBPIEERERNEE S - A - EBITDA
K2 4% BE EBITDA A 0] 3 52 1€ 98 3 PO A & 35 1)
SEMEMRFGE T T REALE R
SEMEMRBEAENERER R AN
LRI A FIEE IR FEIZ - EBITDA R AL H
FEBITDAKRAEH TS T ~ IE X e FEW
A BIRERAR R T E R S i RO IR o

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER 27




Management Discussion and Analysis

- Y

EEEH R AT

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued) EBITDA K £&& 7 2 EBITDA (%)

The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted T % 5 B fH EBITDA K& 4% 3 # EBITDA B )i

EBITDA to profit/loss for the year: F,BREEER o

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEFE
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) FRHEF,(BX)HE
for the year to EBITDA: EBITDA ¥R :

Profit/(loss) for the year FriaF, (BX) 106,635 (56,939)
Income tax expense eyl 72,345 108,656
Interest income FLEMA (10,699) (5,815)
Finance costs B F5 R 2N 18,578 29,126
Exchange losses PE & W= 10,281 154,813
Depreciation and amortization PrE R 5 74,613 142,086

EBITDA EBITDA 271,753 371,927
Non-cash share-based compensation IEIR & AR D BEER

expenses B 2 48,270 44,702
Listing expenses related to the IPO BHEBRAHBEEN LM - 28,273
Non-operations-related feasibility ¥R TR

studies expenses e BERART 8,272 12,968
Severance pay for departure of one R AP E A — (LB

of our Co-CEOs BRENITE B M Y

BEERRGI X 4,613 -
Adjusted EBITDA EMBEBITDA 332,908 457,870

Our EBITDA decreased by RMB100.1 million or 26.9%, from RMB371.9 ~ FFIEEBITDA R 20156 M A R # 3.719 8 7T
million in 2015 to RMB271.8 million in 2016. This decrease was primarily M2 T AR 1.001 BTk 26.9% + 22016 %
due to decrease in ASP of CBM from RMB1.66/m? in 2015 to  HIARM2718ET - RS EBEHNEE
RMB1.20/m? in 2016 after NDRC reduced non-residential gas price in K& RZ2015F FEEEIFERAFEEZ
late 2015, reduction in VAT refund since our ASP of CBM dropped in  ERERFHEEH2015FHNEL T KAR
2016 and the local government increased its share of VAT refund, #1.66 LR ZE 2016 F ML K AR 1.20
which was offset by an increase in subsidy income after the government 7T ~ SR EBUR B 2016 F H R B R F 19 E E
increased the subsidy from RMB0.20/m? to RMBO0.30/m? with effect )& s I BX AT S8 ANEK AT B8 AR TRl 2> - (B2 4%
from January 2016. 20164 1 A e B 7 R AR 0.20 T 3%
INZEFZ 7K AR 0.30 7T M 22 A A U #5 BA
WA AP 35
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

Our adjusted EBITDA decreased by RMB125.0 million, or 27.3%, from
RMB457.9 million in 2015 to RMB332.9 million in 2016. This decrease
was due to the reasons explained above for the decrease in EBITDA,
adjusted for non-cash share-based compensation expenses, one-time
IPO related expenses, non-operations-related feasibility studies
expenses and one-off severance pay as a result of departure of one of
our Co-CEOQOs included in 2016 and 2015. Included in EBITDA of 2016 is
a one-time adjustment to increased local government'’s share of VAT
refund with effect from January 2015 which not only reduces our VAT
refund income in 2016 but also decreases our shares of VAT refund
income in the future, and has not been adjusted to calculate adjusted
EBITDA for 2016.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of funding include cash generated from operating
activities and bank borrowings.

We had cash and bank balances of RMB2,375.3 million as at 31
December 2016 (RMB2,563.8 million as at 31 December 2015).

As of 31 December 2015 and 2016, we had long-term borrowings of
RMB418.9 million and RMB496.4 million, respectively, all of which were
non-current secured U.S. dollar bank borrowings representing the
drawn portion of the New US$250 million RBL.

As at 31 December 2016, the gearing ratio (ratio of total borrowings to
total equity) of the Group was 10.3% (31 December 2015: 9.1%).

Save as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual
report, we had no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures or other
loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, borrowings,
liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire purchase
and finance lease commitments, or any guarantees or other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2016.

EBITDA K & EBITDA (%)

H MR LT EBITDAR 2015 F M AR 4,579
Bamd T ARE12501E L 527.3% &
2016 FM AREE3 32918 TT » A 2R R L
XA EBITDAR B RE - hi_E 20165 0
2015 F M ARG () AR IR S HBFESL - B
BHAARBEERBRN— XY - JEEERE
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—(E R EERITE R M TR IR B
Y RARENER - 2016 FHEBITDAB S
F S E R R B 5 BRI B8 AR BB 9 R 42 hn i &
AR—RIEFEIRE @ WFABRNERLD T HRM
2016 4 &Y 3G E B R B A T B ARk 2 B A A
FEEMBERRRIA - B2RFHRE
2016 FHYAE TR EBITDA ©
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash Flows

The table below sets forth our cash flows for each of the years
indicated.

RBEEREXER @
ReRE
TRIURTEFIBOE FNRSHE

Year ended 31 December

BE12AMBLEE

2016 2015

20165 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTFT

Net cash generated from operating activities  #&&& /EZEFTSIE € F58 257,418 317,382

Net cash used in investing activities KEEEMAR e 558 (337,742) (743,937)

Net cash generated from financing activites ~ @& /EE TSR & F5 12,874 1,517,712
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and REMBSEEWORD), 18

cash equivalents FER (67,450) 1,091,157

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning HYNRE MRS EEYD

of the year 2,309,810 1,099,673

Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents IR& MR EEWIE K K& 101,404 118,980

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year HiRRIRE MIREEZEEY 2,343,764 2,309,810

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB257.4 million in
2016 largely due to profit before income tax of RMB179.0 million,
depreciation and amortization of RMB74.6 million, non-cash share-
based compensation of RMB48.3 million, finance costs of RMB18.6
million and unrealized exchange losses of RMB12.6 million, and
increase in trade and other payables of RMB7.8 million. These were
offset by an increase in trade and other receivables of RMB40.9 million,
RMB26.3 million of interest paid, interest income of RMB10.7 million
and RMB5.3 million income tax paid.

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB317.4 million in
2015 largely due to profit before income tax of RMB51.7 million,
exchange translation losses of RMB159.1 million which includes non-
cash foreign exchange translation losses of RMB161.3 million arising
from the US dollar denominated intercompany loan, depreciation and
amortization of RMB142.1 million, non-cash share-based compensation
of RMB44.7 million, RMB28.3 million of expenses related to IPO,
finance costs of RMB29.1 million which included RMB14.9 million non-
cash unamortized costs written off for the Original US$100 million RBL,
and increase in trade and other payables of RMB9.5 million. These
were offset by an increase in trade and other receivables of RMB7.3
million, RMB109.9 million income tax paid, and RMB24.2 million of
interest paid under the Original US$100 million RBL and New US$250
million RBL.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB337.7 million in 2016 is
mainly for the purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB570.1
million, increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB23.6 million, offset
by decrease in term deposits with an initial term of over three months
of RMB246.0 million and interest received of RMB9.5 million. The
purchase of property, plant and equipment primarily comprised of
payment for more wells drilled, additional boosters and compressors,
and construction of gas gathering stations and power facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB743.9 million in 2015 is
mainly for the purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB494.8
million, increase in term deposits with an initial term of over three
months of RMB246.0 million, increase in restricted bank deposits of
RMB8.0 million, offset by interest received of RMB4.8 million. The
purchase of property, plant and equipment primarily comprised of
payment for construction of Panzhuang's new office building, more
wells drilled, additional boosters and compressors, and construction of
gas gathering stations and power facilities.

Financing Activities

Net cash generated from financing activities was RMB12.9 million in
2016 largely due to RMB40.4 million of cash received from drawing
down a portion of the New US$250 million RBL, offset by finance costs
of RMB19.9 million largely due to payment for commitment fees paid
for unutilized portion of the New US$250 million RBL and payment of
RMB7.7 million of IPO-related expenses.

Net cash generated from financing activities was RMB1,517.7 million in
2015 largely due to RMB1,544.4 million of proceeds from the IPO and
RMB428.0 million of cash received from the New US$250 million RBL,
offset by RMB29.3 million of IPO-related expenses, RMB379.0 million
repayment of the utilized portion of the Original US$100 million RBL,
and finance costs of RMB48.7 million comprising RMB12.3 million
payment for commitment fees paid for unutilized portion of the
Original US$100 million RBL and the New US$250 million RBL, and
RMB36.4 million of arrangement fee and expenses related to the New
US$250 million RBL.

RBEEREXER @

BREED

R2016%F - RAFDHBRLFRAARE
3377 ERFEWEARE 5701 B
WME - BE R ERERHRTEREMAR
M 236087 « MY IR BB =18 A ME
BT UM D AR 2460 87 R E WA B AR
IS0 TTATIEE - MEWE - BERREE
EREINERRNESH  FERERNE
R BRI R B R -

R2015F - KRB EHMARSFHLEARE
74391870 - TERAREEARK4948ETLH
Yz WE MR - BR=E A EBERE
MARE2.460187T ~ R BISRITFFIZMA
R¥800& L MEHEWFIBARKEI0E T
Frifsy - BEWE  BERRBETIEZBEIHN
BN ETERERNIE  BREZRHA AE
BER - BEH - BEERIREERE -

BMEES

R2016%F  BWEETHAEERSFE/AR
%1.20087T  TEHNUH25RETHER
BRAFEARKEA040ETT  BEHANX
N#F25EETHERERDAAEONAEE
RZBBRARARKE1,9908 7T K &R AR
EHEAFX ARK 7708 T ©

20154 - MEESBREFHBABARE
151771870 FERHERERXRFEEMEK
HARBEIS444ETT R EF25EELHEER
BUWEIR S AREA280E TS - R E X
AHABEEBENAIARB29308 T EHE
REAE1VEETHERECIHALED ARK3.790
BRI AARE 48708 T (REI R
E1REELHERERT2EELHERE
REAILH R EEB R AR 11,2308 7T M FT
2EBELHEREEENIZIRAREZA
R¥3,64087T) FTifkss -

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER 31




Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash and Bank Balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB2,563.8 million and RMB2,375.3
million as of 31 December 2015 and 2016, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash at banks, term deposits
with an initial term of over three months, and restricted bank deposits.
The decrease in our cash position is largely due to cash used in
investing activities. As at 31 December 2015 and 2016, we had
approximately 73.9% and 67.2% of our cash and bank balances held in
Hong Kong or US dollars.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks, including credit
risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow interest rate
risk), liquidity risk and concentration risk. Our overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimize potential adverse effects on our financial performance.

Credit Risk

As the majority of the cash at bank balances are placed with state-
owned and international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and
Hong Kong, and there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk
is relatively low. Therefore, our credit risk arises primarily from trade
and other receivables. We have controls in place to assess the credit
quality of our customers. We have concentration risk on trade
receivables. Only limited allowance for uncollectible receivables were
made in the past as our sales were only made to the customers with
good credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.

Foreign Exchange Risk

We are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the U.S. dollar. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency other than our functional
currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, we were exposed to non-cash foreign exchange
risk arising from retranslation of US dollar denominated inter-company
loans. To manage the foreign exchange risk, we executed a debt
restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting the intercompany loans
into perpetual loans through entering into perpetual loan agreements
between respective group companies such that the perpetual loans do
not bear interest and the lenders can not request repayment. Upon
completion of the debt restructuring, any foreign exchange differences
arising from retranslation of the US dollar denominated perpetual
loans are recognised in equity in the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk (Continued)

We manage our foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates, and by monitoring the amount
of the US dollar loan utilised from the US$250 million revolving credit
facility, which is our only US dollar borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2016, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against the US$ with all other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been RMB3,909,000 (31 December
2015: RMB28,905,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar denominated
payables held by our entities with entity’s functional currency as RMB.

Interest Rate Risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
the changes in market rates. Our floating-rate bank borrowings expose
us to cash flow interest rate risk.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investments for the year ended
31 December 2016.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group has no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies for the year ended 31 December 2016.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had 690 employees, with 66
based in Beijing, 618 based in Shanxi and 6 based in Hong Kong,
respectively. There have been no material changes to the information
disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 11 June 2015 (the
“Prospectus”) in respect the remuneration of employees,
remuneration policies and staff development.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (“Dr. ZOU") (BEIRE L), aged 59, is
the primary founder of the Group, an executive director of the
Company (“Director”) and the chairman of the Board. Dr. ZOU is
primarily responsible for the Group’s overall development and growth
strategies, investor and public relations, board governance and
supervision of key management issues. Dr. ZOU has been the chairman
and chief executive officer of AAG Energy Limited (our then parent
Company the “Parent Company”) since February 2008 and October
2013, respectively. He has been a director, the chief executive officer
and chairman of the board of directors of AAGI since July 2004, August
2006 and October 2013, respectively. He was the president of AAGI
from July 2005 to October 2013. He has been a director and the
president of SAEI since June 2007.

Dr. ZOU has over 31 years of experience in energy resources fields in
the U.S. and the PRC, mainly in coal, CBM and petroleum exploration
and development. He is considered one of the pioneers of China's
CBM industry. From 1999 to 2006, he was a director, executive vice
president, president and chief China representative of Asian American
Coal, Inc. ("AACI") and was responsible for development and
implementation of AACI's short-term and long-term work plans,
management of its daily operations and business development,
including project acquisition, assessment and approvals, contract
negotiation and approvals, and partner relations. During this period,
he identified and developed two coal mining projects, the Daning coal
mine and the Gaohe coal mine, and two CBM projects.
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Dr. ZOU was the general manager of CBM projects of Phillips China
Inc. (3E 1B HT A BI A BR A 7)) from 1996 to 1997. He was responsible
for the project coordination between Phillips China Inc. and its
partners, overall management of the projects, negotiation of the
production sharing contract and coordination of the support processes
from Phillips China Inc. From 1994 to 1996, Dr. ZOU was the vice
president of CBM Energy Associates, L.C. and was responsible for its
in-country management, partner relations and business development,
including identification, contract negotiation and development of two
CBM concessions, which led to the establishment of Shanxi Hedong
CBM Company, Ltd., a joint venture established by CBM Energy
Associates, L.C., Shanxi Energy Enterprise (Group) Corporation and
four other local companies in Shanxi Province, and Fuxin Sino-
American CBM Co. Ltd., a joint venture established by CBM Energy
Associates, Inc. and Fuxin Energy Development Corporation, as the
operators of the CBM concessions. From 1994 to 1997, Dr. ZOU was
the vice chairman and general manager for both Shanxi Hedong CBM
Company, Ltd. and Fuxin Sino-American CBM Co., Ltd. and managed
their daily operations, CBM explorations (drillings and reservoir
evaluation), CBM sales contracts’ negotiations and partner relations.
From 1989 to 1993, while pursuing his doctorate degree at the
department of geology and geography of West Virginia University, Dr.
ZOU was a teaching assistant as well as a research assistant on a
project sponsored by the U.S. Department of Energy entitled
“Measuring and Predicting Reservoir Heterogeneity in Complex
Deposystems.” Prior to that, he worked as an engineer at the branch of
geology & exploration, China Central Coal Research Institute (1 B /&
B2 b it E B3R 5Pt ) from 1985 to 1989 and worked at Shanxi
No. 2 Coal Geological Exploration Co. (L 7o B #E #1 K =) from
1975 to 1978. Dr. ZOU obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
coal geology and exploration from Shanxi Mining College (1L FafE 22
BT) in May 1982 and obtained a master degree from China Central
Coal Research Institute (7 B & ik B E2 W 32B%) in December 1985. Dr.
ZOU earned his doctor of philosophy degree in geology from West
Virginia University in December 1993.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall Kagan, aged 48, is a non-executive Director. Mr.
Kagan is primarily responsible for advising on industrial, geological and
financial matters, Mr. Kagan was appointed to the Parent Company’s
board of directors in April 2011. He has also been one of the directors
of AAGI and SAEI since April 2011.

Mr. Kagan has over 19 years of experience with energy companies and
investments and broad knowledge of the oil and gas industry. He is a
partner of Warburg Pincus & Co., and a member and managing
director of Warburg Pincus LLC, where he has been employed since
1997 and became a managing director in 2002. Mr. Kagan is also a
member of Warburg Pincus LLC's executive management group. Prior
to joining Warburg Pincus LLC, he worked in investment banking at
Salomon Brothers in both New York and Hong Kong from 1990 to
1993. Currently, Mr. Kagan acts as a director for a number of listed
companies. He is an independent non-executive director of MEG
Energy Corp. (TSX: MEG), Antero Resources Corporation (NYSE: AR),
Antero Resources Midstream Management LLC, Targa Resources
Corp. (NYSE: TRGP) and Laredo Petroleum Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: LPI),
respectively.

Mr. Kagan served as a director of Targa Resources GP LLC, the general
partner of Targa Resources Partners LP (NYSE: NGLS), from February
2007 to February 2013 and of Targa Resources, Inc. (Nasdag: TRGP)
from February 2004 to December 2010, respectively. In addition, he
was a director of Broad Oak Energy, Inc. from May 2006 to July 2011.

Mr. Kagan received his bachelor of arts degree cum laude from
Harvard College in June 1990. He also obtained both juris doctor and
master of business administration degrees with honors from the
University of Chicago in June 1997.

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw (B§ X ), aged 52, is a non-executive Director.
Mr. Shaw is primarily responsible for advising on accounting, internal
control and financial matters. Mr. Shaw was appointed to the Parent
Company'’s board of directors in February 2008. He is also one of the
authorized representatives of the Company and has been one of the
directors of AAGI and SAEI since February 2008 and March 2010,
respectively.
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Mr. Shaw has over 21 years of private equity experience with a broad
variety of experience in the finance industry across Asia. Mr. Shaw is a
managing director of Baring Private Equity Asia Limited. Prior to joining
Baring Private Equity Asia Limited in January 1999, Mr. Shaw was a
director at Hong Kong-based AIG Investment Corporation (Asia) Ltd.,
which he joined in September 1993. Mr. Shaw served as a director of
Airtac International Group (TT: 1590) from December 2009 to May
2013.

Mr. Shaw received his bachelor of science degree in electrical
engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in June 1986
and his master of business administration degree from Columbia
University in October 1992. Mr. Shaw is a fellow of Life Office
Management Association, Inc (LOMA).

Mr. Zhen Wei (B138), aged 45, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wei is
primarily responsible for advising on financial related matters. Mr. Wei
was appointed to the Parent Company’s board of directors in March
2010. He has been one of the directors of AAGI and SAEI since March
2010.

Mr. Wei joined Warburg Pincus Asia LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Warburg Pincus LLC, in 2002 and is currently a managing director
leading investments in the consumer and retail, energy and natural
resources and industrial sectors. Before that, he worked as a financial
analyst at the investment banking division of Morgan Stanley Asia
from1997 to 1999 and a business analyst at McKinsey & Company from
1995 to 1997.

Mr. Wei obtained his bachelor of science degree from University of
Texas at Austin in May 1995. He received his Master of Business
Administration degree from Harvard Business School in June 2002.
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Mr. Lei Jin (£%), aged 39, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Jin is primarily
responsible for advising on business development matters. Mr. Jin was
appointed to the Parent Company's board of directors in June 2013.
He has also been a director of AAGI and a director of SAEI both since
June 2013.

Mr. Jin has more than 12 years of experience in private equity funds,
principle investment, investment banking and corporate finance. Mr.
Jin has been a managing director and a member of investment review
committee of Chinastone Capital Management Limited since January
2011. Mr. Jin was an assistant to the chairman of a Hong Kong based
investment company from June 2008 to December 2010 and served as
board secretary to Shantou Dongfeng Printing Co., Ltd. (SHA:601515)
from June 2008 to December 2010. He was a vice president of ABN
AMRO from February 2007 to May 2008, an executive director of
Cathay Fortune Corp. from September 2006 to January 2007, an
international business director of a PRC conglomerate from February
2002 to August 2006 and a vice president of a securities company from
February 2002 to August 2006.

Mr. Jin obtained his bachelor degree in economics from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in July 1999 and his master of philosophy degree in
economics with merits from University of Cambridge in May 2002.
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Dr. Guiyong Cui (¥ B8 ), aged 54, is a non-executive Director.
Dr. Cui is primarily responsible for advising on investor relations. Dr.
Cui was appointed to the Parent Company’s board of directors in May
2014. He was one of the directors of AAGI from July 2004 to June 2006
and has resumed such role since July 2014. He has also been one of
the directors of SAEI since July 2014.

Dr. Cui has over 21 years of experience in investment in the energy and
resources sectors. He is a managing director of Baring Private Equity
Asia Limited and is primarily responsible for the firm’s investments in
greater China. Prior to joining Baring, he worked as a managing
director at HOPU Investment Management Co. Ltd. from May 2008 to
September 2009 and became a partner since October 2009. He worked
at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited from April 2007 to April 2008 and acted
as a managing director of investment banking. From March 2004 to
April 2007, he was employed by HSBC Group and held the position of
managing director of Global Investment Banking Asia Pacific —
Resources and Energy at HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited. From June 2002
to August 2003, he served as head of the investment banking division
at ICEA Capital Limited. Dr. Cui was employed by N M Rothschild &
Sons and assumed various positions from September 1994 to June
2002 including the position of managing director, investment banking
and the chief representative China in N M Rothschild & Sons’ Beijing
Office. Dr. Cui is currently a non-executive director of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (HKSE:1432) since March 2014. He also served as
a non-executive director of Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited
(HKSE: 1733) from June 2010 to January 2012.

Dr. Cui obtained his bachelor of engineering degree and master of
engineering degree from the University of Science and Technology of
Beijing (3t R EHZ K E, previously known as Beijing Steel College (3t
T ERT) in April 1982 and June 1987, respectively, and his doctor
of philosophy degree from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom in May 1995.
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Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal (appointed on 24 March 2017), aged
36, is a non-executive Director. Mr Agarwal is responsible for advising
on human resources and business development matters. Mr. Agarwal
is a Managing Director at Warburg Pincus. He joined Warburg Pincus
in 2009 and has over eight years of investment experience in the
energy sector. He is currently based in Singapore, where he relocated
from New York in 2017. Mr. Agarwal focuses on investments in
Southeast Asia and also leads the firm's energy investments across the
Asia-Pacific region.

Prior to joining Warburg Pincus, Mr. Agarwal worked at Temasek
Holdings in Mumbai as Private Equity Investment Associate from March
to August 2007, and worked at McKinsey & Company, in New Jersey
and New Delhi as Business Analyst from 2004 to 2007.

Mr. Agarwal is currently a director of Solar Mosaic, Inc., a solar project
finance company based in Oakland, California. He previously served on
the boards of several energy companies, including Competitive Power
Ventures, Delonex Energy, RimRock Oil & Gas, RS Energy Group,
Trident Energy, Velvet Energy and Venari Resources.

Mr. Agarwal received a degree of bachelor of technology in electrical
engineering and a degree of master of technology in electrical
engineering with specialization in microelectronics under the dual
degree program from the Indian Institute of Technology Bombay in
August 2004. He also received a master of business administration
degree from the Harvard Business School in June 2009.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen Wu (R X ), aged 73, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Wu is primarily responsible for independently overseeing
the management. Mr. Wu joined the Group in June 2015.

Mr. Wu has served as chairman of the board of China Coal Energy
Group Ltd (R B EEEREE B BR A &) since October 2008. Mr. Wu
served as an outside director of Baosteel Group Co. Ltd (Zili5E B R A7)
from October 2005 to March 2013. Mr. Wu served as deputy general
manager in charge of the overseas business of China National
Petroleum Corporation (F B 75 i1 X %A &, % & 2 7]) from December
1996 to December 2003. Mr. Wu served as one of the board members
and vice chairman in Petro China Company Limited (# B # KA FAR
MBMRAF]) from May 1999 to July 2004. Mr. Wu also served as chief
petroleum engineer of the National Energy Ministry of the PRC (BIZR &
JRED) from July 1988 to May 1993. Prior to that, Mr. Wu was a general
manager of Qinghai Petroleum Administration Bureau (& /8 £ i & 12
/&) from September 1986 to July 1988. He was a deputy general
manager of China Offshore Oil Donghai Corporation from July 1983 to
October 1986.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor of science degree in drilling engineering
from the China University of Petroleum (47 B4R A2, formerly known
as 1t A H 2 BT) in August 1968. Mr. Wu is a senior engineer in
professor grade.

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, aged 73, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Parks is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Parks joined the Group in June 2015.

Mr. Parks was appointed as the chairman of Oaktree Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Oaktree”), covering the Asia Pacific region from
February 2007 until March 2012. He is a member of the board of
trustees of Rice University in Houston, Texas in the United States and
serves as chairman of the board of Rice Management Company, which
oversees the university's endowment. He was appointed as an adviser
to the investment committee of the Carnegie Corporate, a charitable
foundation, in New York City. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Ambow Education in Beijing, PRC. He recently completed
his last term as an independent non-executive director of The Siam
Commercial Bank Public Company Limited (SET: SCB) in Bangkok,
Thailand.
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Mr. Parks has over 40 years of experience in investment banking and
has held senior management positions in Asia Pacific, Europe and the
United States. Prior to joining Oaktree, he was chairman and chief
executive officer in JP Morgan Asia Pacific from early 2001 to
November 2006. Prior to that, Mr. Parks joined the Beacon Group in
1997 and was a partner from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Parks joined Goldman
Sachs & Co. in the beginning of 1981 and became a partner in 1986
and was a limited partner for two years until 1996. Mr. Parks started his
investment banking career with Merrill Lynch in 1970. In 1995, Mr. Parks
founded Pear Tree Point School in Darien, Connecticut, USA, an
independent elementary day school, of which he remains the sole
proprietor to the present time.

Mr. Parks obtained his bachelor of arts degree from Rice University in
June 1966 and his master of business administration degree from
Columbia University in June 1970.

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (£ 8), aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director. Mr. Law is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Law joined the Group in July 2016.
Through his past and current experience, Mr. Law's professional
qualifications and related financial management experience (as
mentioned below) have met the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law was serving as the finance director
and a member of the executive directorate of MTR Corporation
Limited (HKSE:66) (“MTR"). Prior to MTR, Mr. Law was the chief
financial officer at Guoco Group Limited (HKSE:53) (“Guoco"). Prior to
Guoco, Mr. Law was a managing director at TPG, one of the largest
global private equity funds. Prior to TPG, Mr. Law also worked in direct
investment at Morningside. Mr. Law is a a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr.
Law is also a council member of HKICPA, and a vice-president of the
Hong Kong Business Accountants Association, and an adjunct
professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. In addition, Mr. Law
was appointed by Ministry of Finance of the PRC (the “MOF") as an
expert consultant to advise the MOF on finance and management
accounting.

Mr. Law holds a bachelor degree in science (civil engineering) from the
University of Birmingham, the United Kingdom and also received a
master degree in business administration from the University of Hull,
the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett, aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Barrett is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Barrett joined the Group in June
2015.

Mr. Barrett has over 31 years of experience in the energy and resources
industry. Mr. Barrett currently serves as a non-executive director for
Tamboran Resources, a private independent exploration and
production oil and gas company headquartered in Sydney, Australia
since September 2014. Mr. Barrett also currently serves as chairman of
the Compensation Committee for Tamboran. From 2014 to 2015, Mr.
Barrett served on an advisory panel and steering committee for Santos
Ltd. (ASX: STO), a leading oil and gas producer headquartered in
Adelaide, Australia, providing technical and strategic advice on their
unconventional programs in Australia. Mr. Barrett served various
positions in the Bill Barrett Corporation from 2002 to 2013, which was
co-founded by him in January 2002, and he retired in January 2013. He
served as president and executive director from January 2002 to July
2006, chief executive officer and chairman of the board from March
2006 to January 2013 and also served as chief operating officer from
June 2005 to February 2006 and also served as president from July
2010 to January 2013, respectively. Prior to that, Mr. Barrett was a
senior geologist for Barrett Resources in the U.S. Rocky Mountain
Region from 1997 to 2001, and a geologist from 1989 to 1996. Mr.
Barrett was a partner in the Terred Oil Company from 1987 to 1989, a
private oil and gas partnership providing geologic services for the U.S.
Rocky Mountain Region. Mr. Barrett worked as a project and wellsite
geologist intern-in-training for various periods for Barrett Resources
from 1983 to 1986, and held similar training internship roles for various
periods for Barrett Energy and Aeon Energy from 1981 to 1983.

Mr. Barrett obtained his Bachelor of Science and master of science
degrees in geology from Ft. Lewis College, Durango, Colorado, USA
and Kansas State University, Manhattan Kansas, USA in April 1984 and
March 1989, respectively. Mr. Barrett graduated from the Harvard
Business School Advanced Management Program in May 2005.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jing Li (Z23X), aged 47, is the chief executive officer and the president
of the Company. Mr. Li was the co-chief executive officer and the
president of the Company from October 2013 to October 2016. He has
been the president of the Parent Company since October 2013. He was
the senior vice president and the vice president of business
development of the Parent Company from March 2011 to October
2013 and from February 2008 to March 2011, respectively. He was the
vice president of business development of AAGI from February 2008 to
October 2013 and has been the president of AAGI since October 2013,
He is primarily responsible for the Group's overall development and
growth strategies, operations, the technical group, health and safety
matters, as well as government and partner relations, sales and
marketing, human resource managements and public relationships.

Mr. Li has over 17 years of experience in business development, project
management and marketing and sales management in CBM and coal
exploration and development business. Before joining the Group, from
December 1999 to June 2008, he held various positions with AACI
including deputy president of business development, business
development director, project manager and marketing manager.

Mr. Li worked as a sales manager in Beijing Micromatic Machinery Co.,
Ltd. (3t B & BT 2 A R 2 &) from June 1995 to May 1997
and a mechanical engineer in Capital Steel Corporation (& &Pl 25 &)
from July 1992 to May 1995.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor degree in engineering from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University (_E/83BAZ) in July 1992 and his bachelor degree in
economics from Peking University (36 5K Z2) in August 1998. He received
his master of business administration degree from China Europe
International Business School (H BXEIBE T & 26 ) in April 2000.
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Mr. Allen Mak (ZH#4®), aged 55, is the Company’s chief financial officer.
Mr. Mak has been the chief financial officer since August 2014. He is
primarily responsible for financing, financial reporting, budget
planning, internal control, project evaluation and financial management
operations of the Group.

Mr. Mak has over 32 years of experience in finance and accounting. He
was previously an executive director, joint company secretary and chief
financial officer of MIE Holdings Corporation (HKSE: 1555), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak worked at MIE Holdings
Corporation from 2008 until he joined the Group. He was also
previously the chief financial officer of CITIC 21CN Company Limited
(HKSE: 0241), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, for over three
years.

Prior to his career as a chief financial officer, Mr. Mak was an investment
banker and had over eleven years of experience in investment banking.
He was an assistant director at Peregrine, executive director at Citicorp
and the managing director and head of the investment banking group
of a securities firm based in Hong Kong. Mr. Mak also worked in the
private equity business for over three years as an investment director at
CVC Asia Capital and Citicorp. Prior to Mr. Mak's career in investment
banking and private equity, he worked for seven years in the
accounting profession at Price Waterhouse (subsequently renamed as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong, and KPMG and Deloitte in
Canada.

Mr. Mak obtained his bachelor degree in commerce and business
administration from the University of British Columbia in Canada in
May 1984. He is a chartered accountant certified by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants.
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Ms. Yang Lin (#15), aged 43, is the Company’s chief legal officer. She
has been the chief legal officer since October 2013 and the chief legal
officer of AAGI since October 2013, respectively. She is also the
corporate secretary of AAGI. Ms. Lin was appointed as the Company'’s
joint company secretary in March 2015. She is primarily responsible for
the Group's general legal matters and corporate compliance.

Ms. Lin has over 20 years of experience in providing legal advice, in
particular nine years of experience in providing legal advice on CBM-
specific matters. Ms. Lin served numerous positions in the Group since
she joined the Group in February 2006. She was the vice president and
general counsel of the Parent Company from February 2008 to October
2013. She was the vice president and general counsel and corporate
secretary of AAGI from February 2008 to October 2013 and was the
general counsel of AAGI from August 2006 to February 2008. She was
the vice president of legal and general counsel of AACI from February
2006 to June 2008.

Before joining the Group, Ms. Lin worked as an associate with Baker &
Daniels LLP from February 2004 to February 2006 and as the legal
counsel of China Minmetals Corporation (1 B 7 7% & B 2 7)) from
August 1995 to August 2002.

Ms. Lin obtained her bachelor of law degree from University of
International Business and Economics (¥} b &8 % & 5 K £) in June
1995 and her master of laws degree from New York University School
of Law in May 2003. She was admitted to the New York State and the
PRC bars in November 2004 and October 1996, respectively.
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Mr. ShuXing Dong (E#&i £), aged 47, has been the vice president of
technology since June 2016. He is primarily responsible for leading the
technology team of the Company for project implementation and
development. He is mainly responsible for the field development and
management and provision of technical guidance and support for
operations.

Mr. Dong has over 24 years of diversified experiences in the oil and gas
industry, including conventional oil/gas reservoir, heavy oil and un-
conventional gas (CBM). From 2002 to May 2016, he held various
positions with ConocoPhillips, an independent E&P company,
including reservoir engineer, senior reservoir engineer, reservoir
engineering supervisor and chief reservoir engineer. From 1997 to
2002, he was a reserve/completion engineer in Phillips China Inc.. From
1992 to 1997, he held positions of assistant engineer and engineer in
China Coal Research Institute Xi'an Branch.

Mr. Dong received his bachelor degree in Production Engineering
from Xi’an Petroleum University in China in 1992 and his MBA degree
from Vlerick Leuven Gent Management School in 2012.

Mr. Jeffrey Lobao, aged 58, has been the Company’s vice president
of business development — Southeast Asia since March 2016. He is
primarily responsible for seeking, coordinating and executing potential
merger, acquisition or other new business opportunity of the
Company.

Before joining the Group, he was the chief executive officer and the
managing partner of Matrix Capacity Petroleum from 2013 to 2015,
responsible for E&P area. In 2012, he served as an independent energy
advisor for several oil and gas companies in Southeast Asia, providing
E&P consulting services. He served as new ventures manager from
2006 to 2008 and managing director from 2008 to 2012 in Lundin
Petroleum, a Swedish independent oil and gas exploration and
production company. From 1985 to 2006, he held various positions in
Royal Dutch Shell Petrolum, an energy and petrochemical company,
including senior seismic interpreter/geologist, principal seismic
interpreter/geologist, and business opportunity coordinator in Asia
Pacific, exploration manager and manager of exploration and new
business in Asia Pacific region.

Mr. Lobao received his bachelor degree in Geology from Northeastern
University in Boston and his Master degree in Geology from Louisiana
State University in the United States.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGREERE

Mr. Lijun Pan (BFIE), aged 44, has been the vice president of commercial
since November 2016. He is in charge of exploration, business
development (China), marketing & sales, procurement, project support,
mineral rights management, and contract management. Mr. Pan has
over 8 years of experience in new project development, project
management, exploration operation and reserve certification and pilot
development before commercial production in the CBM business. Mr.
Pan served several positions since he joined our Group in August 2008.
Mr. Pan was exploration director and general manager for Inner
Mongolia projects from February 2012 to September 2016. He was
project manager of Mabi project during November 2011 to February
2012 and then promoted for general manager of Mabi project during
January 2010 to February 2012. He was a new business development
manager from August 2008 to January 2010.

Before joining our Group, Mr. Pan was a senior manager in Beijing
Mainstream Technology Co., Ltd. from March 2008 to August 2008 and
the senior project development manager in LK Group of HK Company
from March 2005 to March 2008. Mr. Pan worked as an engineer and
department head in Yanshan Petro-chemical Company of Sinopec from
June 1996 to September 2003.

Mr. Pan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Polymer Manufacturing and
Machinery from Sichuan University (formerly known as “Chengdu
Science & Technology University”) in June 1996 and his international
MBA degree from a joint MBA program supported by Tsinghua
University, School of Economics & Management and MIT Sloan School
of Management in June 2005.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGREERE

Mr. Bing Wang (£ k), aged 47, is the Company'’s vice president of
government liaison. Mr. Wang has been the vice president of
government liaison of the Parent Company since November 2013. Mr.
Wang served numerous positions in the Group since he joined the
Group in June 2005. He is primarily responsible for government
relations and project approvals and support.

Mr. Wang has over 12 years of experience in project management,
sales and marketing in the CBM business. Mr. Wang served as a
director of operation from February 2012 to November 2013 and as a
general manager of Panzhuang Project from October 2008 to February
2012. He was one of the Company’s core team members to conduct
exploration and pilot operation tests for the Panzhuang Project. He
was a business development manager of AAGI from January 2007 to
September 2008 and a sales manager of AAGI from June 2005 to
December 2006.

Before joining the Group, he was a vice general manager in Shanxi
Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (1L 78 &t Z=  # 1l1 B R 2 A1) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager in the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001. Mr. Wang worked as a regional manager in Shanghai
Jiahua United Company Limited (_E/8Z {62 F]) from December 1995
to July 1997 and a branch manager in the Beijing branch of American
NCH Company from December 1993 to December 1995.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in metallic material
engineering from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (821t 25 AU 4% £2Fx)
in September 1992 and his master’'s degree in business administration
from the Open University of Hong Kong in December 2000.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is the leading independent CBM producer in China. The
Company focuses on the development and value optimization of
unconventional gas resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese
economy. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
of the Group are set out in note 29 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the year ended 31 December 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2016 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found in the section
headed “"Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be
found in note 3 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year ended 31 December 2016 using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section headed
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further,
discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with
its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Report of the Directors”,
"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” and “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report, respectively. Discussions
and information therein form part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set
out in the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2016.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The total net proceeds from the Listing which involved the issue of
761,400,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) amounted to
approximately RMB1,506.9 million received by the Company after
deduction of the underwriting commissions and other estimated
expenses. As of 31 December 2016, RMB235.0 million of the proceeds
had been utilized. The net proceeds were and will continue be used in
accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus which
includes the funding of capital expenditure set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook and
Guidance for 2017" of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2016 are set out in note 7 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings during the year ended 31
December 2016 are set out in note 16 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company's share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in notes 13 and 21 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” and of this annual report and the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
articles of association (the "Articles”) the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2016.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting ("AGM"), the register of members of the Company
(the “Register of Members"”) will be closed from 4 May 2017 to 9 May
2017, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfer form of shares of the Company,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 2 May 2017, being the first business day
before the first day of closure of the Register of Members.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2016 are set out in note 30(b) to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the accumulated deficits to be made up of
the Company was approximately RMB125.4 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group made no
charitable contributions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 87% of the total sales for the year
ended 31 December 2016 and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to 31.5%.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 25.37% of the total purchases for
the year ended 31 December 2016 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to 6.57%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, there was no material and

significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2016 and up to the date of this annual report were:
Executive Director Date of Appointment

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
(Chairman)

(appointed on 28 January 2015)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall KAGAN (appointed on 28 January 2015)

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan SHAW (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Mr. Zhen WEI (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Mr. Zhijie ZENG (retired on 28 April 2016)

Mr. Lei JIN (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Dr. Guiyong CUI (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Dr. Bo BAI (resigned on 28 February 2017)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan AGARWAL  (appointed on 24 March 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen WU
Mr. Robert Ralph PARKS

(appointed on 5 June 2015)
(appointed on 5 June 2015)

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin WONG
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin LAW
Mr. Fredrick J. BARRETT

(retired on 28 April 2016)
(appointed on 2 July 2016)
(appointed on 5 June 2015)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed "Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
therein, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of
the Directors that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and there was no information relating to the Directors
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of
the Listing Rules as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Director has entered into a services agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting(s) of the Company (the
"AGM(s)") of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Each of the
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years subject to the relevant provisions of
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in
accordance with the Articles.
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In accordance with the Articles, Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou, Mr.
Gordon Sun Kan Shaw, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett,
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law and Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal, will
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou, Mr.
Gordon Sun Kan Shaw, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, Mr. Fredrick J.Barrett,
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law and Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year ended 31 December 2016 or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in notes 32 and 21 to the section
headed "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. The
remunerations of the Directors are determined based on the market
price and contribution made by such Directors to the Company. There
has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and as at the
date of this annual report still considers them to be independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2016.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the
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Stock Exchange were as follows:

Number of Approximate
Capacity/ underlying percentage of
Name Position Nature of interest Shares shareholding
HE B B EnttE FEHEERAHE FREAEIE
Stephen Xiangdong ZOU™ Chairman and executive Beneficial owner 126,524,107 (L)@ 3.80% (L)
Hr=mo Director EnEAA
FRERATESE
Founder of a 84,677,113 (L) 2.55% (L)
discretionary trust
2REFENEIZA
Guiyong CUI Non-executive Director Beneficial owner 275,326 (L) 0.01% (L)
EEE FHITES BEnEAA
Fredrick J. BARRETT® Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 477,708 (L) 0.01% (L)
Director
BIEITESE BE=EAA
Robert Ralph PARKS® Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 715,708 (L) 0.02% (L)
Director EnEEA
B IEITESE
Yaowen WU® Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 477,708 (L) 0.01% (L)
RyEx@ Director EnEEA
B FEHITES
Jing LI®) Chief executive officer and Interest in a controlled 63,586,595 (L) 1.91% (L)
= president corporation
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Notes:

©)

Save

Dr. ZOU beneficially owns interests in 126,524,107 Shares. Dr. ZOU is deemed to be
interested in 63,075,458 Shares and 9,612,371 Shares for the purposes of the SFO,
which is beneficially owned by Dr. ZOU's descendants as beneficiaries of The Zou
2011 Family Trust and The Zou 2012 Family Trust, respectively. Dr. ZOU is also
deemed to be interested in 11,989,284 Shares for the purposes of the SFO, which
are beneficially owned by Dr. ZOU and his descendants as beneficiaries of the Zou
GRAT. Each of The Zou 2011 Family Trust, The Zou 2012 Family Trust and the Zou
GRAT is a discretionary trust established by Dr. ZOU as a settlor and its beneficiaries
are Dr. ZOU and his family members. 11,942,710 Shares among these interests
represent interests in the outstanding options he held under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme (as define below). Dr. ZOU is also interested in 6,621,733 Shares
which represent interests in the outstanding restricted share units (“RSUs") he held
under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme (as defined below).

All these interests represent interests in outstanding options they held under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2016.

Mr. Parks beneficially owns interests in 715,708 Shares of the Company. 477,708
Shares among these interests represent the interests in the outstanding options he
held under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2015.

Mr. Li beneficially owns interests in 63,586,595 Shares through China Energy
Holdings Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. LI. Among these interests
42,915,168 Shares represent the interests in outstanding options he held under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and 6,621,733 Shares represent the interests in the
outstanding RSUs he held under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

The Letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the

Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective

associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in

the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)

which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executives

of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of

the SFO), or were required to be recorded in the register required to

be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which

will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2016, the following persons (other than the

FERREADRRD - HEKRD
RESTFHEANESZNAE

R2016F12A318 THAT(ARRESE
HEBITHABRIN FEARRBIRIEEH K& H
BIEFIE 336 1E6TF B B e METE A - 18RE
B RESFFEEERSGABWNT ¢

Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares held™ shareholding
BRREB 54 FrERmE R ® BERBAES L
Warburg Pincus & Co.@ Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
RN
Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC® Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
R E/NE
Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.@ Igterest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
SN AR
WPP GP LLC® Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
RN AR
Warburg Pincus X GP L.P.@ Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
B za/NSb -
Warburg Pincus X, L.P.@ Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
SR /NEIL
Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P.? Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
RN AR
Asia X Investment | LLC® Interest in a controlled corporation 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
S NET = e
WP China CBM Investment Holdings Beneficial owner 844,713,882 (L) 25.39% (L)
Limited® N
EmEAA
Salata Jean Eric® Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.71% (L)
SR/ ey
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P.® Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.71% (L)
R /N
Barings Private Equity Asia GP IV Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.71% (L)
S NET =
The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV LP¥ Interest in a controlled corporation 688,933,679 (L) 20.71% (L)
SN AR
Baring Private Equity Asia IV Beneficial owner 688,933,679 (L) 20.71% (L)
Holding (4) Limited® -
En#EAA
Ping An Group® Interest in a controlled corporation 345,906,690 (L) 10.40% (L)

TEREEo

RN EER

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares held™ shareholding
BREAE 56 s 8 E M EREINBE ST
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou M HEH L Beneficial owner 126,524,107 (L) 3.80% (L)
EnEA A
Founder of a discretionary trust 84,677,113 (L) 2.55% (L)
2HEEFAISZA
EEZIRMA(EE) BRARO Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.44% (L)
SN E R
EERCIRERARAAD Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.44% (L)
SN A
BB RIEEBR AT Beneficial owner 180,833,000 (L) 5.44% (L)

Notes:

58
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The letter “L" denotes long position in such securities.

WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited beneficially owns 844,713,882 Shares
(long position) of the Company. Asia X Investment | LLC holds 100% equity interest
in WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited. Warburg Pincus Private Equity X,
L.P. controls 96.90% equity interest in Asia X Investment | LLC. Warburg Pincus
Private Equity X, L.P. is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X, L.P., which in turn is
100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X GP L.P., which in turn is 100% controlled by
WPP GP LLC, which in turn is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.,
which in turn is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC, which in turn is
100% controlled by Warburg Pincus & Co..

Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited beneficially owns 688,933,679
Shares (long position) of the Company. The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P.
holds 99.26% equity interest in Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited. The
Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. is 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity
Asia GP IV L.P., which in turn is 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV
Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Jean Eric Salata.

Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China (“Ping An Group”) ultimately owns
100% of Chinastone Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which is directly interested in
248,046,164 Shares of the Company. Ping An Group also ultimately owns 100% of
the shares in PA Investment Funds SPC, which is directly interested in 97,860,526
Shares of the Company. Therefore, Ping An Group is deemed to be interested in
345,906,690 Shares of the Company.

wYiE TR EEIRR & B R 2 B beneficially owns 180,833,000 Shares (long position) of
the Company and is 100% controlled by & =t s JR B R 2 7] , which in turn is
51% controlled by & =BT (£E) BRAA] .
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the pre-IPO share option scheme of the
Company (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015,
which became valid and effective perpetually from the same day and
subject to certain termination events. The exercise price of US$0.151
per Share in respect of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme was determined at the sole discretion of the Board.
The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to any
one person (including exercised and outstanding options) pursuant to
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share compensation
arrangements adopted by the Company shall not exceed 3.0% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

Other principal terms (including the purpose, the participants, the
consideration for accepting any options among others) of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme"” in Appendix V
to the Prospectus.

Outstanding Options

For the year ended 31 December 2016, 5,175,174 options have been
cancelled, 4,060,520 options have lapsed. As at 31 December 2016,
there were a total of 230,615,273 options outstanding. If all the
outstanding options are exercised, there would be a dilution effect on
the share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2016 of
approximately 6.93%. Save as disclosed above, no further options have
been or would be granted by the Company after the date on which the
Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and from which dealing
therein commenced (the “Listing Date”) pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

B EXHEEEN £2016F12A31H ° &
NEIERENFEITHA B TABEMEAMA
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MRS AR D R A S S A R o
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g BRBARKEES  BRESTRISE
FAIGTEIAR E - SRR E R AR ERIERE
R H AR AR M &% 0.151 ETAT(E
B HEFLEEINERT - BEEBALRE
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RITEEBRE

HZE2016F12 A31HIEFE  B5,175,1741%
BEARREFESY - 4,060,520 10 BB IR R SK - L2
2016 12 A 31 H + #£5 230,615,273 17 B A 1
BARITIE o BB RITEBRIEETE - A2
AR 2016512 A 31 B MR i8I fE S e
PEAEBE B4 6.93% B Eiloh - KRB LT
AR W ERIEE X ARSI 8%
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Movements of the Options under the Pre-IPO Share Option BE2016F12A3MBLFE BRAMHE
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2016 ERBERETEETNIBRESZD
Number Total number
of Shares of Shares  Approximate
represented represented  percentage of
Exercise by Options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Number of Number of by Options at issued Shares
price  at1January  duringthe  duringthe  during the unvested vested 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Name of grantees”  Date of grant (US$) 2016 period period period Options Options 2016 Company® Period? period®
BRER BRER
2016 % 2016 F AR
1818 1283185 BRfT
e FRENRS Are *EEE  CHEBRE RRORG REBNELY
AERAZEY RBH (%7) YB  HREOKR  BRBAX HH  RENEE HWEA %A P4 SEH0 xR
Directors
£
Dr.ZOU 31 March 2015 $0.15 11,942,710 - - - - 11,942,710 11,942,710 0.36% Please see Please see
note 2below  note 3below
ol 015634317 01517 FEUTX  F2HTX
liE¥ i}
Yaowen WU 5June 2015 $0.15 477,708 - - - 355,892 121,816 477,708 0.01% - -
RiEX 01556 A5H 01517
Robert Ralph PARKS 5 June 2015 $0.15 477,708 - - - 355,892 121,816 477,708 0.01% - -
01566858 0.157T
Tin Yau Kelvin WONG® 5 June 2015 $0.15 477,708 - 477,708 - - - - - - -
BRHY 01556 A5H 01517
Fredrick J. BARRETT 5 June 2015 $0.15 477,708 - - - 355,892 121,816 477,708 0.01% - -
201566850 0.1517¢

Other employees of the Company

FAAFEMER
31 March 2015 and $0.15 225,997,425 - 3,582,812 5175174 88,141,904 129,097,732 217,239,439 6.54% Please see Please see
5 June 2015 note 2 below  note 3 below
V5F3A3NBR 01517 F2UTX #BMTX
015%6A5H ) M3
Total 239,850,967 - 4,060,520 5175174 89,209,580 141,405,690 230,615,273 6.93%
st
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Notes:

Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to
companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall vest as follows:

(a) 50% of the Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i) one
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant date on which the employment relationship between the Company
(the “"Employment Date") is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (ii) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; and

50% of the Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options”) and shall
be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being linked
with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of one (i)
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the following payout
schedule:

(] 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI

Target is met; or

if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1%
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of above, “KPIs" refer to (i) EBITDA; (i) Reserves; and (iii) All-in-
unit Cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or
105% (in the case of All-in-unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPI-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the
Committee as delegated by the Board.

Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested.

Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing
the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of

the Company as at 31 December 2016.

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin WONG retired as a director of the company on 28 April 2016.
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Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note
21(b)(i) to the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of
this annual report and the Prospectus.

Post-IPO RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the post-IPO restricted share unit scheme of
the Company (the “Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which
took effect on the Listing Date, a summary of principal terms (such as
the purpose, the participants, among others) of which is set out in the
section headed “Statutory and General Information — Post-IPO RSU
Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

On 18 December 2015, the Company offered to grant of an aggregate
of 41,234,696 RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected
grantees of the Group in accordance with the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.
On 31 January 2016, an aggregate of 19,865,199 RSUs were accepted
by the connected grantees and an aggregate of 21,199,297 RSUs were
accepted by the non-connected grantees, respectively.

OUTSTANDING RSUs

For the year ended 31 December 2016, 345,700 RSUs have been
cancelled and 734,800 RSUs have lapsed. As at 31 December 2016,
there were a total of 40,154,196 RSUs outstanding. If all outstanding
RSUs are vested, there would be a dilution effect on the share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2016 of approximately 1.21%.

BRARBEEABRES S EMFBHNA
FHEBRERIAHBBERE | — M
21(b)(i)

BRALAHRERZREIRMENGE
RAFI2015F 6 A5 BEME XA EE
ZRHRDEMFTE([BERAHBRERZRE
ROEMTE])  ERETHEBEER EX2
B (EPREEN - 2BAN)BMEHNBRE
ERSRIZER—RER — 5 REE
% ZRHIRDENETE ] —55 -

R2015%F 124188 » AR RIBIEEH XA
EBRZRHIRMD BT T ALE IS DREE
EAR AR IERE AR A G ££41,234,696 1D Z R
H A% {7 B o MN201651A31H - # &
19,865,199 17 5 R | A% 1 B o7 A B8 i3 A X A 82
4 5T 21,199,297 15 R IR {7 Bz A FE B8
EAR NN o

RITEZ PR & IR0 E AL

H E20165 128318 1L F & » A345,7001%
52 BRI B A7 BE AL B RE 8 0 734,8001% 52 BR il A%
MEBMKA®M - BE2016F12A31H £F
40,154,196 17 52 BR H 3% 19 BE AL 18 R1TIE © B F
BRTEZRFBGEMLWTE  AAFR
2016 4E 12 A 31 B B IR AN i 15 71 #ESE U - iR
TEEEEL1.21% ©

Number Total number
of Shares of shares  Approximate
represented represented by percentage of
by RSUs at RSUsat issued shares
Name of RSU 1January Granted during  Vested during  Lapsed during  Cancelled during 31 December of the
Grantees Date of Grant Consideration 2016 the year the year the year the year 2016 Company Vesting Period”
ZREBRSD ZRERSD
B 2016 F B 2016 F
1818 128318 AR
ZRERGER i FREN  BRORGOK
ERAEHE RHAH R RE#E HRERE HAERE BRBAX BRBEH REGEE R 2] Eell
Directors of the Company
FARES
Dr. Zou 22 January 2016 - 6,621,733 - - - - 6,621,733 0.20% 31 March 2016 -
gEt 01651728 1 April 2020
V16F3ANEE
200%F4A18
Other employees of the Company
FAFEMES
18 December 2015 - 34,612,963 - - 734,800 345,700 33,532,463 1.01% 31 March 2016-
2015F 128188 1 April 2020
016F3A318Z
0054418
Total 41,234,696 - - 734,800 345,700 40,154,196 1.21%
gt
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Note:

The RSUs granted to the subjected RSU grantee under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme
shall be vested in accordance with the vesting schedule as follow:

M

50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the rate of one-fourth
(1/4) for each 12-month period commencing from 31 March 2016; and

50% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs and shall be divided into three
equal instalments, with each instalment being linked with one of the three
KPlIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of one-fourth (1/4) for each
12-month period commencing from one-fourth (1/4) pursuant to the
following payout schedule:

(a) 100% of the KPI-linked RSUs shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI
Target (as defined below) is met; or

(b) if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
RSUs shall vest if 80% of the relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked RSUs shall vest for each 1% further
improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the performance
rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of the
improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of the above, KPIs refer to (i) EBITDA,; (i) reserves; and (iii)
all-in-unit cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and
reserves) or 105% (in the case of all-in-unit cost) of the estimated number of
that relevant KPI presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the
relevant year approved by the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and
budget for the relevant year, which is subsequently presented to and
approved by the Board. The treatment for any unvested KPI-linked RSUs
shall be determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee as
delegated by the Board.

Further details of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme are set out in note 21(b)(ii) to the section headed “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report and the

Prospectus.

Equity-linked Agreements
Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may

result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to

enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company

issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year or

subsisted at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any Directors
or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate for the year ended 31
December 2016.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed in this annual report in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2016. The Directors confirm that they have
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Grant of RSUs to Connected Persons

To recognize the contribution to the success and development of the
Group by each of the connected grantees and to attract and motivate
the connected grantees to participate in the continuing operation and
long-term development of the Company, on 18 December 2015, the
Board conditionally approved the grant of an aggregate of 19,865,199
RSUs to Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board), Mr. Jing Li (the chief executive officer and the
president of the Company) and Mr. Carl Lakey (the then co-chief
executive officer and the chief operating officer of the Company) in
accordance with the terms of Post-IPO RSU Scheme. On 22 January
2016, the grant of RSUs to the connected grantees was approved by
the then independent shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting. On 31 January 2016, an aggregate of
19,865,199 RSUs were accepted by the connected grantees.

The above grant of RSUs and the related transactions constitute non-
exempt connected transactions of the Company in accordance with
the Listing Rules. For details, please see the announcement of the
Company dated 18 December 2015, the circular of the Company dated
7 January 2016 and note 21(b)(ii) to the section headed “Consolidated
Financial Statements” of this annual report.
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Relinquishment of Right to Exercise The Inner Mongolia
Option

On 26 August 2016, the Company announced to relinquish the right to
exercise the option (the “Inner Mongolia Option”) to the Company
granted by China CBM Investment Holding Il (2) Limited (“CCBMII"), a
connected person of the Company, to participate as the only foreign
investor in the exploration and development of the relevant CBM
concessions in Inner Mongolia by entering into production sharing
contract or any other similar forms of arrangement as allowed under
relevant PRC laws and regulations at the time (the “Inner Mongolia
Project”). The relinquishment of the Inner Mongolia Option is to
enable new investment for the Inner Mongolia Project in order to
support exploration activities planned under the Inner Mongolia
Project and maintain sufficient capital level as required under the
relevant exploration licenses granted by the Ministry of Land and
Resources of the PRC. No consideration is required to be paid by the
Company for the relinquishment of the right to exercise the Inner
Mongolia Option. For details of the Inner Mongolia Option, the Inner
Mongolia Project and the relinquishment of right to exercise the Inner
Mongolia Options, please refer to the Prospectus and the
announcement published on 26 August 2016.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2016 are set out in note 28 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Connected
Transactions”, the related party transactions as set out in note 28 to
the section head "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report do not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or
“continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2016.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the sufficiency of public float as required
under the Listing Rules at all times for the year ended 31 December
2016 and as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.
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SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND

COMPLIANCE MATTERS
For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company was not engaged

in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatened against the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the respective
development stages of projects in Panzhuang and Mabi.

For the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in all material respects.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 8 July 2015, SAEI (as borrower) and AAGI (as guarantor) entered
into a senior secured revolving credit facility agreement (the “New
Facility Agreement”) with certain banks in relation to a
US$250,000,000 69 months term loan facility.

Under the New Facility Agreement, it will constitute an event of default,
among others, if (i) Dr. ZOU holds (whether directly or indirectly or by
way of a trust) less than 25% of the Shares that Dr. ZOU holds (whether
directly or indirectly or by way of a trust) as at 8 July 2015, representing
approximately 1.45% of the issued share capital of the Company; (ii) at
any time, Dr. ZOU ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or (iii)
during the period from 23 June 2015 to 23 June 2016, any of the
Controlling Shareholders disposes of, or enters into any agreement to
dispose of, any shares he/it holds (directly or indirectly) in the Company
in breach of his/its undertakings to the Stock Exchange in relation to
Rule 10.07(1) of the Listing Rules as set out in the Prospectus. Upon and
at any time after the occurrence of an event of default, the majority of
the lenders may, among other actions, immediately cancel all
commitments and declare any or all outstanding amounts under the
New Facility Agreement and the relevant financing documents
together with interest accrued thereon to be immediately due and
payable.

For details of the New Facility Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 July 2015.
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EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2016

On 24 March, 2017, the Board approved the proposed conditional
grant of an aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs to certain connected
grantees and non-connected grantees of the Group in accordance with
the terms of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to the approval by the
shareholders, or independent shareholders, of the Company and the
acceptance by the grantees where applicable. Save as disclosed
above, there was no subsequent events between the end of reporting
period and the date of this annual report that would cause material
impact on the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group’s development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2017 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.
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AUDITORS BB ED

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years. EBE=ZFP  ZHEEEE -
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD REEFE

Stephen Xiangdong ZOU EFERFHTEF

Chairman and Executive Director ARG

Hong Kong B

31 March 2017 20173 H31H
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report the
period commencing from 1 January 2016 and to 31 December 2016
(the "Review Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions under the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2016. The Company will continue to review and monitor its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG
Code.

Following the retirement of Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong as an
independent non-executive Director, during the interim period
between 28 April 2016 and the effective date of Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin
Law’s position as independent non-executive Director (the “Interim
Period”), the composition of independent non-executive Directors has
fallen short of the minimum number requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules and the qualification requirement under Rule 3.10(2).
In addition, during the Interim Period, the composition of the Audit
Committee and the composition of the Nomination Committee have
fallen short of the requirements set out in Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and code provision A.5.1 of CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, respectively. Following the appointment of Mr. Law as
the independent non-executive Director with effect from 2 July 2016,
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board, the Company fully complies with the
requirements under Listing Rules 3.10(2), 3.10A and 3.21 and A.5.1 of
the CG Code to the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, the Board has established three Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the new business committee (the
“New Business Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference.

EEEN 2 BE2016F1A1HE2016512
A3 HEM ((EER ) D EEATRE -

TEERER

AEBY IR EFSRENDEE R URER
RM@SI T CEEBELFEXL - ARFE
R LR A S5 14 PrE R DR EVRTRI([ 4
EERTAUDERESMHEEERTAl -

Br T SRR ASN - R 2016 12 A 31 H LEF
B ARREETEEERATRINMAEEAST
BN o AR RSB R WE R M EERE
RUABRESTOEE ST

EEREBLTR2016F4 F28 BRTE T IE
HITEE R RSB EEIB Y IERTESS
M(THREEE]) B e TESMERRE
R ETRBIEII0AGEHNEEASRENE
310 EHEREE S o LA - AP EAERE - &
%EEEMEARTIREE 8 eEKII DRIk
R T AR BISE 3.21 5 AN _E T AR A B 8% 14 B
D EEATRIFEASIENIRTE - BELW
ZERBINIIENTES  BERZESHNEIEM
RAZE K EIN20165F7 A28 £51% -
RARERE EMAABEI 102 - 2£3.10A
IR 3 21MIERIIRE R EE AT RIME AL
IERRRTE ©

Exg

BE

EFESRRARENEBERETE  BEEAR
FARBORTE - KBERR - EFFREAE
EefEEEaESBAREREREE - RE
BARASERBOER  EFEKLT =
ExZ8e BWEXKLZES FMHEZEe
((#MEEE]) REZE2((REEET))
MHEBZES((HEBEES]) (AR HE
EREE)) EFECREFZREERTTR
B BERE NI MNBE -

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER 69




Corporate Governance Report
TEELERE

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised one executive
Director, seven non-executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Director
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall Kagan

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw

Mr. Zhen Wei

Mr. Zhijie Zeng (retired on 28 April 2016)

Mr. Lei Jin

Dr. Guiyong Cui

Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017)

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal (appointed on 24 March 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen Wu

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (retired on 28 April 2016)

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (appointed on 2 July 2016)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

The biographies of the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Saved as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report (if any), to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material relationship with each other.

During the Review Period, Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong has retired as an
independent non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of Nomination Committee due to his
business engagement/arrangements, effective from 28 April 2016. Mr.
Stephen Cheuk Kin Law has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 2 July 2016.

70 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2016

PIEESRARREETARROEREBETH

B OMTFHMERREN  WHA AT RE
R T -
EEREMR

RARERY B 5 2WTEE L
AIFATESMORABLIFATESFHT ¢

BITES
FARBL (EFELE)

FHUTES

Peter Randall Kagan 5t 4

BTFRELE

mELL

2 B (P 2016584 A 28 HIRE)

TRALE

EEEEL

FIR 81 (722017 2 7 28 HEFR)

Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 7& 4
(201763 A24 REZ )

BIFHITES

RS

Robert Ralph Parks 9t 4

BAMELT (R2016F 4 A28 BiEE)
BEEREAE(R2016F7 A2HET)
Fredrick J. Barrett 564

ARRRBEZNBEEGNERNAFR(ESR

RREEE] —f - RBRERLAFERA
BENBT (MBI REEEMM EFE
REMHEZ REMFAM - X5 RESKEM
EE2HE-

CIEEHAAN > ERBIBTRERZER EBR
BEMERABIIENTES BFREESEFENR
REZEEKE  N2016F4 8288 £, -
BEREEWNBETABIINTES Tl
BEEXRNMIREREEERE R2016F7 A2
BAR -



Corporate Governance Report
TEELERE

Between Dr. Tin Kau Kelvin Wong's retirement from the Board on 28
April 2016 and the appointment of Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law on 2
July 2016, since the Company only had three independent non-
executive Directors and none of them had the qualification required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, (i) the composition of
independent non-executive Directors has falled short of minimum
number requirement under Rule 3.10A and the qualification
requirement under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the
composition of the Audit Committee has fallen short of the
requirements set out in Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the New Business Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a Director.
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During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous ~ 7ERIEEEIA - 2R EEHBAELX MM, HEE
professional development by attending training courses and/or HBEAREEXE FTHAREEAE - et
referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business, BEBENDEE AMEE NEIIRIEM, 5
corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and  ##l - U2 EFEHERRE -

duties of a director of a listed company:

Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses
relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update  directors’ duties
SMEBREEE
EBHESHE
ZEREHRE
- Ve
EEpS HEBRNEEER ERRE
Executive Director HITES
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou FEREL 4 v
Non-executive Directors FHITESE
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7t 4 v v
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw Gordon Sun Kan Shaw 7t 4 v v
Mr. Zhen Wei BESEAE v v/
Mr. Zhijie Zeng (retired on 28 April 2016) G2 B (R 20165 v -
4 A28 HiR1E)
Mr. Lei Jin REAE v/ v/
Dr. Guiyong Cui ENEELT v/ -
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) B IE T (722017 £ v/ v/
2 A28 HEHE)
Independent non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Yaowen Wu R4 4 -
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 7t 4 v v
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong =REET (R 2016F v v/
(retired on 28 April 2016) 4 A28 HIiRfE)
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law mEERE A (R201645F v/ -
(appointed on 2 July 2016) 7H2BEZE)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 504 v v
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Each of the executive Director, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreements or a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years. Such term is subject to his re-election by the Company at
an annual general meeting upon retirement. The Articles provide that
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting. Besides, any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election. In accordance with the Articles, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one third of the Directors for the time being
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law, Mr.
Saurabh Narayan Agarwal and one-third of the Directors, being Dr.
Stephen Xiangdong Zou, Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw, Mr. Robert Ralph
Parks and Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett shall retire and Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin
Law, Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal, Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou, Mr.
Gordon Sun Kan Shaw, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks and Mr. Fredrick J.
Barrett being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the
Company's forthcoming annual general meeting.
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General Meetings

During the Review Period, two general meetings were held and the
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in
the table below:

BRRAESH
FEOEMA  RRASRITTMAGH &L
EEHFEELEEFZENBERATXR

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EENE BIERLE ATHERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman) BrRIELT (FE) 2/2
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 74 0/2
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw RFR L E 2/2
Mr. Zhen Wei =St 0/2
Mr. Zhijie Zeng BZERE 0/2
Mr. Lei Jin B@EE 172
Dr. Guiyong Cui EFEBEELT 172
Dr. Bo Bai S 0/2
Mr. Yaowen Wu REXFE 0/2
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks %4 1/2
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong ERAET 172
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 4 172
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law BARSLAE
(appointed on 28 April 2016) (FR20165F 4 A28 BEZAT) 0/0

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least three days
before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.
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During the Review Period, nine board meetings were held and the AERIBEHRN @ EESRITTIAEH  SUE
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in  EHEELEZNBERR TR
the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BEHE W HERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman) BRRIELT(F/E) 9/9
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan %t 4 7/9
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT EE 9/9
Mr. Zhen Wei MERE 6/9
Mr. Zhijie Zeng (retired on 28 April 2016) G2 BEFEE (R2016F 4 A28 HIRIE) 0/2
Mr. Lei Jin SWIEE 8/9
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEEET 4/9
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) BB (72017 2 A 28 HEHE) 8/9
Mr. Yaowen Wu RESEHE 8/9
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 9/9
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (retired on 28 April 2016) HAREE T (A 201654 A28 HiR) 0/2
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 5£ 4 8/9
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law BERSEA
(appointed on 28 April 2016) (FR20165F 4 A28 HEZE ) 5/5
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FEREEHTE

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and ~ REBE®EEATAIRREA2ERE - £F
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different ELEFHITENBEMUAESF - WHARAL
individuals. BT

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the ARBEFEEENRERENTE ([ BEHT
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) are currently two separate B 1) IRBMEEZEA - D RBEETELE
positions held by Dr. ZOU as the chairman of the Board and Mr. JingLi F&XF BHFEREAEETERHNITE  H T
as Chief Executive Officer, with clear distinction in responsibilities. The EMAAHE - EFEFFEERAKEEBERE
chairman of the Board is responsible for providing strategic advice and RERBERFIEE  MERNTENEES
guidance on the business development of the Group, while the Chief HE&ZE -

Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the

Group.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the code of conduct and the Model
Code during the Review Period.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the "Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company'’s securities. No incident of non- compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted
by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. Directors could have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.
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PANE-R- 2N H

TRERHKSE

Corporate Governance Function EERRE

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the ZBEZE@RRCEBSAAEEHRAENEML
collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance MEEABEE

duties include:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(a)

AT EZARBNEEERABRET
MBI

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional  (b) BZUWEEARAEENEREERAE
development of Directors and senior management of the IR R EEERER
Company;

(© to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on ~ (¢)  FZILESE AN RIE TR AR R TE K
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; BERRERBER

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and (d) #IF] - ERLEFRERANEERESH
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and BRI REa i FMmE) ARk
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and (€ BERARRIATEREATARERE
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. AMEWBEEENBER

EEREREBASHMH

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in note 32
to the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.

The senior management’s remuneration for the year ended 31

RRABBHEAEBEE RS HEEA BT
WBREY T —ELRMEAGERENER -
REERFEEEHE 201612 A 31 BHE B
BEERAER [AHMBHRE] —&HE32-

AEEHZE2016F12 83 BEREREAEN

December 2016 is within the following bands: Mg ELT -

Year ended
31 December 2016
BZ2016F
12A31HLELEE

Emolument bands M E
HKD1,500,001-HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7T ZE 2,000,000 # 7T 2
HKD2,500,001-HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 77T 2 3,000,000 7T 1
HKD3,000,001-HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 & T2 3,500,000 77T 1
HKD?7,500,001-HKD8,000,000 7,500,001 77T 2 8,000,000 7T 1
HKD10,000,001-HKD10,500,000 10,000,001 77T 2 10,500,000 7T 1
HKD15,000,001-HKD 15,500,000 15,000,001 & 7T 2 15,500,000 /& 7T 1
7

Note: The above emoluments included share-based compensation expense.

MISE © BB e R AR AR H BN X -
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Directors’ Liability Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Stephen
Cheuk Kin Law, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, and Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw,
the majority of who are independent non-executive Directors. The
chairman is Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law, who confirmed that he
possesses appropriate professional qualifications as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit
Committee include the following:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

() to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures, including the
adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material

issue, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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TEERHRE
During the Review Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee was EREEAA - BREEBGRITT=ZREE © &

held to discuss and consider the following matters: WA EE T AT EIE

e reviewed annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries for o  FHHARQ T REME R TEZ 201512
the period ended 31 December 2015; A 31 AR FEEE

. reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for e ERHARNRRENBRAREE2016F6

the period end 30 June 2016; A 30 B EA R P EAZEA
o reviewed internal control system, risk management systems and o EZANBEERSG BREBRRFENR
processes; e
. reviewed 2016 audit plan, internal audit report; and o EIZ2016F EFIZETE - NEbEZIRE
K
J discussed new disclosure re enterprises risk. . HH TERATRBRHTFRERNS -

During the Review Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee ZERIEHAN  BEREZERIT T =ZREE &
were held and the attendance record of the Audit Committee BHZZEEKEMEFLERTE
members is set out in the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BER LR ATHERE
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (Chairman of the BEREE (FREZEERLE) 2/2

Audit Committee) (appoint on 2 July 2016) (201667 A2 AEZE)

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (retired on 28 April 2016) FEAME LT (R 201694 A28 HiR(E) 1/1
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT EE 2/3
Mr. Robert Ralph Rarks Robert Ralph Rarks 5t 4 3/3

Pursuant to the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit BEPEBATAERFECIIERTE B
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a ZHZEQ@ESERVEAARZEMEEMIX
year. During the Review Period, the Company had met the auditor LR @ NAF D BEAZHET € @EM X
twice.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett and Mr. Saurabh
Narayan Agarwal, the majority of whom are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board;

3. either to determine, with delegated responsibility or to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. These
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

4, to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of
the Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The written terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, three meetings of the Remuneration FEEERA - HFMESSEITT=REE - L

Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters: AN E A T EIE
e discussed the vesting of KPI-linked Pre-IPO options; o  HMABAREEESHBZRHIRMN B
S

. discussed directors’ and senior management’s remuneration in HMESMNENEIEEN 2016 FFH ML
2016; B

o reviewed and discussed year-end bonus and salary adjustment; o ER MG RERIEANRNGERT

J reviewed performance evaluation system; and . ERRARTERES &

e reviewed long-term incentive plans. o  EBRHIAEIES -

During the Review Period, three meetings of the Remuneration RN FMEZESRITT =ZRE% &
Committee were held and the attendance record of the Remuneration FHEZE @M ENHFELER TE -
Committee members is set out in the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEHAR BRHETTHERE
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks (Chairman of the Robert Ralph Parks %4 3/3
Remuneration Committee) (FiNEE & F/E)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett t 4 3/3
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) HE 4 (72017 62 A 28 BEtE) 3/3
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5t 4 0/0
(appointed on 24 March 2017) (R2017 63 A24BEZF)
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee currently consists of two independent

non-executive Directors, being Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law and Mr.

Yaowen Wu, and an executive Director, Dr. ZOU, who is the chairman

of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the

following:

82

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive

officer; and

to review the Board diversity policy.
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The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

° reviewed and considered retirement and re-election of directors.

The written terms of reference of Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee  fERIEEHEIA - 2R EE BT T —A2E - &
was held and the attendance record of the Nomination Committee 1BEZESe@REMEFELEE TE
members is set out in the table below:
Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEHA BEHE THERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou BRAREE(BELZESFE)

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) 11
Mr. Yaowen Wu R 11
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law BERLAE

(appointed on 2 July 2016) (201657 A2 BEZE) 0/0
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (retired on 28 April 2016) FRABIELT (7A2016F 4 A28 HiR{E) 11
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New Business Committee

The New Business Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. Fredrick J.Barrett, Mr. Robert Ralph
Parks and Mr. Yaowen Wu, and a non-executive Director, Mr. Saurabh
Narayan Agarwal. Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett is the Chairman of the New
Business Committee.

The principal duties of the New Business Committee include the
following:

1. to review, evaluate and provide feedback on the investment
strategies, annual investment plan(s) and the relevant risk
management policy of the Company and make recommendations
to the Board;

2. to review, evaluate and provide feedback on the investment
opportunities of the Company and issue opinion for long-term
development plan (including mergers & acquisition, joint venture
and equity investments) and make recommendations to the
Board;

3. to review, evaluate and provide feedback on significant
investment projects pursued under the Company's investment
strategy and annual investment plan, review and approve the
issue of non-binding indicative offers or letter of intent, and make
recommendations to the Board;

4. to review and assess, in addition to new opportunities, the
ongoing investment strategy, technical merits and risks
associated with existing development and exploration programs,
including the annual reserve and resource assessments and make
recommendations to the Board;

5. to advise management from time to time on the engagement of
appropriate external financial and technical advisors in
connection with material acquisitions or divestitures, including a
review of the terms of their proposed compensation; and

6. other matters as delegated by the Board.

The written terms of reference of New Business Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, three meetings of the New Business MEIFEMA - SEKEESBRIToREE - UL
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters: SR EEIA T EIE

. reviewed and discussed the terms of reference for new business o ERM R ESTE e RESE
committee;

. reviewed report on oil opportunities in China & overseas; . EZEEN P BRI R E RS

. reviewed technical merits and risks of Panzhuang and Mabi e FHEAMKEMES - BUIEERRE
projects; and LA K2

e discussed long term development plan and investment o  FiRHBERITEIFIREFER -
strategies.

During the Review Period, three meetings of the New Business REIEHAN  HEKEZESRIT=Ex M
Committee were held and the attendance record of the New Business &SI EKEZES@KEMEFELEFHN &K

Committee members is set out in the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEpE BRHETHERE
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett (Chairman of the Fredrick J. Barrett %t 4
New Business Committee) (EBZEEFE) 3/3
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 3/3
Mr. Yaowen Wu RIEX e 3/3
Dr. Bo Bai (resigned on 28 February 2017) HRE 4 (72017 62 A 28 B tE) 3/3
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5& 4 0/0
(appointed on 24 March 2017) (R2017 63 A24 BEZF)
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 11 Directors. Four of
the directors are independent non-executive directors and
independent management, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also characterized by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of culture and
education background, professional background and skills.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the section headed "Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management forms the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
aimed to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective risk
management practices by operational management throughout the
Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company's risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on their preferences towards risk, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for risk
mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control system.
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In this reporting period, five risk areas had been selected by senior
management and confirmed by the Board to form the top of the
Company's 2016 risk management agenda, aiming to reduce the risk
exposures to an acceptably low level. In order to better facilitate the
reduction of these risks as well as risks in future periods with good
organisation, coordination and collaborations across all departments
involved, the Company established a risk management working group
(the "RMWG") with three members, chaired by the CEO. Action plans
for the mitigation of the five risk areas had then been formulated,
approved, and carried out after rounds of discussions and evaluations.
The five risk areas were addressed through the design and
implementation of new policies and procedures, and in particular the
establishment and refinement of internal controls.

The Company's internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO"), and has five components,
namely Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities,
Information and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system
intends to facilitate the design and functioning of good control
practices and reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an
acceptably low level, in order for us to achieve our objectives in
operations, reporting, and compliance.

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statues are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

In 2017, the Company plans to use its best endeavour to continuously
refine our risk management and internal control systems whenever
necessary, which would include the establishment of a more formalised
risk response process, improvements to be made in control design and
execution in high risk areas identified through our annual risk
assessment, and a mechanism to monitor the resolution of control
deficiencies, to mention but a few.
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Internal Audit Function

The Company's internal audit department plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes. The
major tasks of the department include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company's governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides consulting services in risk management and internal control
related issues within the Company.

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
We prepare and submit reports to the Board in risk and control related
issues at least annually, detailing how risks have been managed and
internal controls been designed and implemented in accordance with
the established risk and control frameworks, to keep our overall risk
exposures within risk appetite and achieve our business objectives. The
Board reviews the reasonableness of these reports and representations
from management and makes sufficient enquiries whenever they feel
necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the reporting period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate in both design and operations.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the total remuneration paid or

payable to the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and audit related services totaled RMB3.8 million.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
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below:

Year ended
31 December
HBZ12A31A
LEE
2016
2016 F
RMB’000
ARETR

2016 annual audit service 2016 FEEF R
— The Company — KRR H] 3,800
— Subsidiaries — KB AR 400
Services relating to IPO EPNGE =) =
Non-audit services * JEEETARTS * 596
4,796

Non-audit services primarily represent tax and advisory services
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yang Lin (“Ms. Lin"), one of the joint company secretaries of the
Company, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
also engages Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai"”), senior manager of TMF
Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as another
joint company secretary to assist Ms. Lin to discharge her duties as
company secretary of the Company. The primary corporate contact
person at the Company is Ms. Lin, one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company.

During the Review Period, Ms. Lin and Ms. Lai have undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the joint company
secretaries of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The Directors shall within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene such meeting. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Enquiries to the Board and contact details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: george.massey@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company was adopted by the Company on 5 June 2015 and was
effective on the Listing Date. The Company has not made any
significant changes to its constitutional documents during the year
ended 31 December 2016.
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VALUE AND RECOGNITION

Liability Attribute

Coalbed methane (CBM), is an unconventional form of natural gas
trapped in coal deposits or coal seams, whose main composition is
methane. Its heat value is equivalent to that of natural gas. CBM is a
type of high-quality clean energy. It can convert what was once wasted
into something profitable, process waste into useful material to
quicken the development and utilization of CBM. Therefore, it is
significant for guaranteeing safety production of coal mines, increasing
the clean energy supply, and reducing greenhouse gases emissions.
The "13th Five-year Plan” explicitly proposes to “promote the low-
carbon cyclic development, as well as actively develop natural gas,
CBM and shale gas”.

Enrich Energy Supply: The vigorous development of CBM, shale gas
and other unconventional gases will guarantee reliable energy for
China’s sustainable economic development. During the period of the
"13th Five-year Plan”, China will implement the supply-side structural
reform for energy to increase production and consumption of non-
fossil energy and natural gas, to extent the proportion of natural gas in
primary energy consumption to 10%. It also encourage to vigorously
develop CBM.

Guarantee Coal Mining Safety: China has always maintained the
principle of “CBM extraction before coal mining”, and it is the most
important measure to strengthen CBM extraction for preventing coal-
mine gas accidents. During the “12th Five-Year Plan”, coal-mine
accidents and deaths rate achieved “three fell and two cuts”. In 2015
the total coal-mine gas accidents declined by 69% while the number of
fatalities was reduced by 72.6%; major coal-mine total accidents
declined by 66.7% while the number of deaths was reduced by 68.9%;
and the death rate per million tons dropped by 78.4%, compared with
those in 2010.

Promote Environmental Protection: With the main component being
similar to that of natural gas, CBM is a type of clean energy as well as
an important complementary energy to natural gas. During the "12th
Five-Year Plan”, CBM was extensively applied in power generation,
household gas, automotive fuel, as well as other fields. The total
utilization of CBM in five years reached 34 billion m3, which is
equivalent of saving 40.8 million tons of standard coal or reducing 510
million tons of carbon dioxide emissions.
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Awards

Finance Asia Achievement Award — Best Project Finance 2015
presented by Finance Asia

Best Oil and Gas Deal in Asia Pacific 2015 presented by [JGlobal
Awards

Green Leadership category, Asia Responsible Entrepreneurship
Awards for 2016 presented by Asian Business Association

Nobel Laureate Series — Social Caring Awards for Green
Excellence presented by Institute of Social Enterprise

2015 best green trade enterprise in the Asia-pacific region
presented by Asia Pacific oil and Gas Commission
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SUSTAINABLE OPERATION
As a leading independent CBM producer in China, the Company focus

ARFEEE
{Fh— R ERERDRMA B ALEN AL
sl MERARAR - AARLINERRR

on the development and value optimization of unconventional gas

resources to provide clean energy for China’s economy. We adhere to
the concept and culture of promoting the coordinated development of

the economy, society, and environment. Therefore, organize, operate

and manage activities in a manner that is responsible for society and

environment, all while pursuing the sustainability development with

society and environment.
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Mission and Strategy 58 i B B B
Our mission RMEHEmD

94

We are committed to providing a superior rate of return for our
shareholders’ investments in a socially responsible and
environmentally sustainable way.

To contribute to China’s economic growth by supplying
commercial quantities of coalbed methane, a new source of clean
and economically efficient energy, to local communities and
industries.

To maintain the highest safety standards across all our business
functions.

We are committed to developing an outstanding management
team that strives to realize our stated vision and to improve
employees’ well-being.

We respect every employee and regard our employees as a key
company asset and we seek to proactively provide active
trainings for their career development.
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Growth strategy

The Company has ample cash-on-hand and a focused growth strategy.
We will maintain our competitiveness by implementing the following
strategies:

J Continue to realize gains by making full use of group technology
and management, advantages of scale development and
operating of existing assets;

o Acquire in-production and in-development assets of oil and gas,
to expand group resources reserve, business scope and scale of
production, and enhance the level of earnings;

J Expand reserves and achieve synergies through operating
acquired assets;
° Build an international management team that boasts connections,

extensive oil and gas exploration, production experience, a
proven track record.

Credibility and integrity

The Company has formulated the Anti-Fraud and Whistleblower Policy
as its highest standard for publicity, integrity, and responsibility in all
affairs. It also endeavors to build a corporate culture of integrity, anti-
malpractices and anti-fraud. The policy expounds the Company’s
principles in prevention, reporting, and management of malpractices
and fraud. It aims at promoting the core values of the Company and
guiding the communication of behaviors involving malpractice or
corruption among employees and the public, so as to regulate
business activities.

The Company’s senior management and internal audit department
have the primary responsibility of preventing, supervising and rectifying
existing and potential malpractices. The Company has set up the Anti-
malpractice Commission, composing of the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Legal Officer, head of internal audit department, as well as other
senior management members designated by the Chief Executive
Officer.

In 2016, the Company had no litigation cases caused by malpractices
or fraud.
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Management of Sustainable Development
Commitments to sustainable development
The Company understands that it is our main objective to provide

superior rates of return to shareholders’ investment and simultaneously
shoulder our share of social and environmental responsibilities. We
work with Chinese organizations at all levels to jointly address social,

energy, and environmental challenges in order to make contributions

to China’s economic growth by supplying clean and economically

efficient energy to residential and industrial end-users through

commercial development of CBM.

We are committed to adopting fair labor practices at our
workplaces and will abide by all relevant laws and industry
standards.

We are committed to preventing any work-related injuries,
fatalities, or health impairments of employees and contractors.
We will form open and trustworthy relationships with all
stakeholders to increase mutual understanding on matters of
common concern.

We will strive to run our operations in a social, responsible,
sustainable, and environmental manner; thereby preventing or
minimizing adverse impacts caused by our operations.

We are committed to providing effective training programs for
different levels of employees to enable them to reach their full
potential, achieve job satisfaction and maximize their contribution
to the Company.

We will continue to modify the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

contents of the Company to make our CSR adapt to the constantly
updating CSR idea of China.
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Management of stakeholders MEAERE S EE

The Company attaches great importance to communications with RG] 5 E B3 E AR HEH BB - @
stakeholders. We propagate the concept and practices of fulfillingour BE&EEEEEAQAANLEETELEE
social responsibilities through various channels. We also take measures £+ BER A Z5HE R 5 A B3k I FRELE $ 48
to satisfy the advisable expectations and demands of stakeholders  jf5 » @@ FlziBf 5 & IR R L B ARk o

based on understandings of their requirements.

Stakeholders
FEHEEA

Expectations and requirements

MERER

Communication channels

BEAR

Government and regulators

BRREEHE

Shareholders

e

Customers and partners

EFRAEBH

Environment

Sl
o

Employees

Implementing national policies as well as laws and regulations

Promoting local economic development
Driving local employment

Accelerating industry development
EREBERRERIERER

R RBERRE

WEM R E

EBITEER

Return of profits
Compliance operations
Safety production

W 3R

AREE

RENE

Performance in accordance with law
Management with credibility

High quality products and services
RERBH

BIEKE

BEERERE

Compliance with discharge permits

Energy conservation and emission reduction
Ecological protection

BRI

EOBE R

R

Right and interest protection
Occupational health

Salary and welfare

Career development
EmgE

BERE

FrE A

BEER

Reporting documents
Advice and suggestions
Special reports
Business cooperation
Ty

BERR

EERER

ARATE

Company announcement
Special reports

Field investigation
RARE

HERRER

EER

Business communication
Customer feedback
Exchange and discussion
A%ER

BRbEE

Lot a

Work report

Report submission
Investigation and inspection
THEEH

EEEb

AHRE

General meeting of employees
Collective negotiation
Democratic communication platform

BIKEKAE
SEBHAE
RIBRYA
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Stakeholders Expectations and requirements Communication channels
FEMEER HEEER BEARX
Community and the public Improving community environment Company website
Participating in public welfare activities Company announcement
Open and transparent information Interview and exchange
HERAR HEHRERE YNSEE
CETYN eSS NGNS
ERRFEH A
Identification of material issues BEAMEESRR

In order to understand the expectations and demands of stakeholders, AR ZHAER A BB BT - IRARE R
and promote the relevance and responsiveness of the report, the  $t¥fMEEEBIEN - R D RKECGEE - HE@ R
Company identified major environmental, social and governance  EJAFREIES|YR(AIHELEE RS HEmM )(G4.0)
issues, according to requirements of the Environmental, Social and &K #HFIERE - L@ MEREBATETE
Governance Reporting Guide and the Sustainability Reporting RKMYHF @ BRBEHENENTEEEZ QAR
Guidelines (G4.0), and graded them based on their importance. This  ZEMAZSB@H BTN EL:EE -
commitment ensures that the information disclosed in the report

covers material issues of the company’s development and concerns of

stakeholders.

Selection Process of Environmental,
Social and Governance Issues
RB - g REABREMEME
Source of issues AR

— Management Suggestion

— RAERERE

— Analysis and suggestion from internal and external experts
—  ROMBERDITIER

—  Media analysis

— ZEREROW

—  Domestic and foreign benchmarking study

—  BERINFERERHRE

—  Social responsibility standard guidelines

— HEeEFE£EEET
Selection standards £FiEIZ%E

—  Contribution to sustainable development

— HAHEREMNER

—  General concerns of stakeholders

— MmMBEETEERT

—  Emphasis of social responsibility guidelines

— HEEEHABEEENRH

—  Compliance with the Company’s development strategy
— TARRBBERTE

Substantial Judgment Results (Materiality Matrix)
EEMHUELER (EAMEEER)
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-~
High &
Compliance operations
Safety production, occupational health safety
Stable energy supply
Emission management, resource use
Promote local employment Ecological protection
Drive regional development Employee training and development
- R E 5
3 ERIHER
%9
e
&=
o
B
7 o
# o
5,
= o
2 > Technology advancement
B Oi Intellectual property management
2 Volunteer activity Customer relationship maintenance
@ Community public welfare Supply chain management
HRREES Al
HERAZ MBERER
BEERREE
HEEEE
Low & P High =

Influence on the Company’s sustainability

HARAHBERROTERE

SAFE PRODUCTION, CLEAN OPERATION

As a leading CBM production enterprise in China, we take it as our
responsibility to supply green energy and strive to become a pioneer
in ‘green and safety production.” We adopt advanced technology and
industrial standards to improve resource efficiency and Health, Safety
and Environment performance in our projects.

Sound HSE Management System

To ensure HSE is not only an important corporate culture of the
Company but also its solemn commitment to the society and each
employee. In 2016, the Company continued to devote itself to
demonstrating its outstanding leadership in HSE and security. We
pursued the goal of zero harm to people and zero pollution to
environment. We place matters pertaining to HSE in a position equally
important to other critical matters, and willing to play its exemplary
role in the CBM industry.

The Company established its HSE policy and management system
according to ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 standards, and reviews the
implementation of the HSE management system regularly, and
requires contractors to abide by the HSE management system in
processing HSE affairs.

ZEEEFREE
ERBIRBANEBREELE  BAINREH
BeRRACHT  PEEHECER2EEFAN
T1TH - MRBEHIRA R ENRIEMITERZ
A RFHTE B B E TR T AR A HSE £ 18 -
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We has made constant progress regarding HSE reliability, integrity and
compliance through the effective HSE management system. We
encourage employees to identify and report dangerous behaviors and
unsafe conditions, and to be well prepared in dealing with
emergencies and safety threats at all times. Furthermore, employees
are encouraged to identify risks and reduce them to a reasonable and
controllable scope during the design, construction, production and
operation of projects.

The Company has complete operation qualifications, and strictly abide
by national and industrial HSE laws, regulations, and standards such as
the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Safety Regulation for Coalbed Methane
Surface Exploitation (on trial), the Emission Standard of Coalbed
Methane (on trial) (GB21522-2008) and the Safety Regulation for Fire &
Explosion Prevention of Coalbed Methane Surface Exploitation
(AQ1081-2010).

HSE management framework

The outstanding HSE performance of the Company depends on our
strengthening and perfecting HSE management framework. All
projects of the Company establish HSE Management Committees led
by project general managers, which are responsible for regularly
reviewing HSE policies and plans as well as managing rectification of
potential safety hazards, HSE training, emergency drill, and other
important works.

Each project has an independent HSE department for guiding,
monitoring and coordinating HSE management work during various
activities of projects in accordance with national and local laws and
regulations as well as corporate policies or regulations; including work
plans and budgets while supervising the implementation. HSE
department is an important part of the supervision system in the HSE
management framework. Besides coordinating with the HSE
department to complete relevant plans, production and administrative
departments are responsible for implementing the HSE work in its own
business, which is also an important part of the execution system within
the HSE management framework.
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Safety experience sharing activities

Our employees are the foundation of the HSE management framework
of the Company. In order to actually implement the concept of “safety
is everyone's responsibility”, The Company has been conducting the
safety experience sharing activities for many years. Every capable
employee and long-term contractor, who have opinions about safety in
work and life, can apply to share his or her safety experience.
Moreover, they can host the department’s safety meetings, participate
in safety inspection and audit, organize HSE training and other
activities, and receive in-kind incentives.

Safe Production

The Company adheres to the safety management concept of “safety
comes first, prevention-oriented, and comprehensive control” and
adopts safety and health management in every detail of operations
according to relevant safety laws and regulations as well as industrial
standards. By making clear safe operation regulations and instructions,
providing appropriate tools and personnel protective equipment,
establishing a safety audit inspection system, and conducting
comprehensive health and safety inspections regularly, we have rooted
health and safety management in every detail of operation.

In 2016, the Company had no work-related injury, fatality, or any
occupational disease cases confirmed by medical examination.
Because of our good safe production performance, we won the Safe
Production Advanced Unit Award and the honorary title of “Star Unit
Reaching Standard in Fire-fighting issued by Qinshui County
Government”.

Site management

The Company is committed to achieving the objective of zero harm to
people, follows the principle of proactive hazard identification, process
management and subsequent review and audit, to strictly control
safety risks. We take identification, control, and review measures for all
main risk sources on-site such as hydrogen sulfide, dangerous energy
source and squeezing points. Moreover, we have established special
safety regulation for drilling engineering, CBM desulfurization and
other operations. The Company has formulated the Stop Work Policy
and Fitness to Work Procedure to ensure that employees or third
parties have the right and responsibility to stop work when their health,
safety or environment is under unsafe condition.
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For procedure management, our projects strictly implement work
permit and management change procedure to achieve dynamic
management of operation process and site condition, in order to
control risks from the beginning and the work process. We carry out
periodical audits at all levels by combining the internal audit and
external audit, comprehensive inspection and special inspection, and
on-site work and written documents to correctly identify potential
hazards.

The Company extends HSE management into the whole value chain
through contractor qualification verification and safety training. The
Contractor Management Process of the Company divides the HSE
management of contractors into two stages and five key processes,
that is, pre-qualification and selection & verification during pre-contract
stage, communication and auditing and evaluation at post-contract
stage, to integrate HSE management requirements into the whole
process control of contactor.

Each project of the Company has a sound emergency response plan,
emergency management mechanism and team, to monitor and
manage the implementation and drill practice for various emergency
response plans. These plans cover different potential hazard and
corresponding areas, such as the Emergency Response Plan for
Coalbed Methane Leakage and Burning, as well as Emergency
Response Plan for Hydrogen Sulfide Leakage.

Safety training

In 2016, the Company made multi-level training work plans according
to the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Safety Training Management Method, as well as local and industrial
requirements on production safety training. The Company regularly
holds health and safety training, covering important issues of the
industry, such as hydrogen sulfide poisoning prevention, management
of change & permit to work, temporary power utilization, dangerous
chemicals, and special operations.

The Company specifies that the participation rate of safety
management knowledge training among main responsible persons
and HSE personnel of the unit should reach 100%. And 100% of special
operation person should go on duty with certificates after safety
training. In 2016, the total safety training hours of the Company
reached 13,077 hours.
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Case: Apprenticeship cultivation mechanism

We set up the “Apprenticeship” Job Training regulation for New Employee for newly-
recruited employees at well-site, which stipulates that all formal employees who have
worked for half a year and above can participate in the selection to become a tutor. Tutors
have the obligations to ensure trainees’ completion HSE tertiary entrance education within
the specified time, and arrange time to guide trainees in learning operation safety skills.
Tutors should also submit evaluation opinions to the examination department after the
probation period of trainees.

Environmental Protection

As a pioneer in CBM clean energy development and utilization, we
have attached great importance to the impact on the environment
during the exploration, development, production and operation
process. The Company strictly abide by national and local
environmental laws and regulations on CBM, to ensure the protection
of surrounding communities and ecology. In 2016, we had no
environmental pollution or ecological damage accidents.

Clean attribute

With the main component similar with that of natural gas, CBM is a
type of clean energy and an important complementary energy to
natural gas. The recycling utilization of CBM is of great significance to
environmental protection:

Reduction of greenhouse gases: The main component of CBM is
methane with a greenhouse effect of 21 times more than that of carbon
dioxide. In order to ensure the safe production of coal mines, the
volume of CBM extraction has been raised significantly in recent years,
and it helps to reduce the emissions of greenhouse gases during the
coal mining process to accelerate CBM reclamation and utilization.

Reduction of pollutant discharge: Pollutants caused by burning CBM as
a clean energy are far less than those discharged by coal-burning.

Comparison of Pollutants Discharged from CBM and Coal Burning
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Carbonic Nitric Sulfur
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3,000m* CBM 8.05x10* 0.0189 10.20 1.89 0.86
3,000m3EE R
3.99t standard coal 10.87x10* 7.60 50.74 53.64 83.82
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Reference: Hu Kun, Chen Minggiang, Guo Yongcun; A brief Discussion on CBM Recycling
and Environmental Protection; Coal Engineering, Issue 11 (2009).
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Compared with coal mining, the exploitation process of CBM is
cleaner, and has less negative effect on the surrounding environment
such as the landform. The Company continues on research &
development to improve the commercial development technology of
CBM, also utilizes various CBM exploitation technologies according to
geological conditions of specific coal seam to further reduce the
impact of exploitation activities on underground water and vegetation.

Emission reduction

Continuously improving emission performance by complying with strict
emission standards has become the basic policy for the Company to
cope with environmental protection and climate change. We eliminate
pollution by specifying waste water and waste management as well as
continuously strengthening supervision on implementation.

By pumping water from the well flows into the water storage pit at the
well site, and regularly testing the water quality in the pit, to ensure
that the water quality achieves standards. The water in the storage pit
is transported by certified professional sewage transport companies to
industrial sewage treatment plant for processing. The domestic
wastewater treatment equipment removes the large suspended matter
by grids. Then the wastewater goes through a biological
denitrogenation and ultra violet sterilization. Consequently it reaches
the emission standards and is utilized for forestation and watering on
the roads.

Production Amount of Domestic Wastewater and Discharge
Amount of Pumping water in 2016

Discharge amount of domestic waste water
(tons of waste water)

Chemical oxygen demand discharge amount of
pumping water (tons of chemical oxygen demand)

The household refuse generated at the project well-site is recycled and
put in assigned location for waste processing after being stored by
different categories; hazardous waste is recycled and disposed by
contractors with relevant qualifications.
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Disposal of Hazardous Waste in 2016

Drilling mud (tons) LR ()
Drilling cuttings (tons) BHERE (W)
Waste engine oil (tons) E M (E)

Resource saving

We keep a detailed record of the energy utilization and timely conduct
energy conservation transformation to save energy. We also provide
decision support for long-term resource utilization strategy while
achieving the delicate management of operation costs.

In 2016, the Company utilized 63,712 megawatt hours of purchased
electricity; fuel gas (including natural gas and LPG) 3,684 kilosteres; fuel
oil (including gasoline and diesel) 799,260 liters.

In 2016, the Company took various energy conservation measures to
reduce the utilization of 1,321 megawatt hours' electricity.

2016 FRBRBERYEERR
9,900
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16
BRER
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Measures Taken by the Company in Energy-saving A B BRERAY B BE 5 T
Production technical measures Administrative measures
L ERMIERE THEEEH
Frequency conversion retrofit of the compressor in Initiative of saving electricity
Panzhuang project
TR B B Ry B SR R0E ERHI R EEH
"Pigging” technology in Panzhuang project Reduction of business travel and vehicle utilization
IR R [RER] Bl B 2 ik e BB

Utilization of non-distributed CBM
RE BN G R A

Fuel generator changed to gas generator in Mabi project

BUEAEMBE BRI R EH

Energy conservation transformation of compressors
at the gas gathering station of Mabi project
BWIEE SR BRSNS
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The Company continues to conserve and recycle water resource and
has achieved the maximum utilization of water resources through
technical transformation. In 2016, the Company carried out the pilot
work for the recycling of pumping water and fracturing fluid in the
Mabi project and pumped the above waste water into the treatment
plant equipment. Through chemical deposition, the particles and
suspended solids in the waste water were removed first, and then the
waste water went through multiple physical filtrations to complete
water quality purification, the purified water was transported to the
fracturing site for reuse. The waste water recycled by this method
reached 1,339m3 for the whole year.

RARFHEIBHREFEBEFMAKER BB
R SEERKERNSEAEFIA - 20164 -
A BE B IE B HEITHHROK B Rk a = A
A2 BIBKERG LSRR ARIRRRE 5
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KR EBERIFISHAFA - 2FBAER
NEBFBRSKE339L K »

Total Water Consumption in 2016 (Unit: m?)
2016 FHFEKE (Bfy : X FXK)

Ecological protection

The Company manages the project’s surrounding environment
according to Investigation Report on Environmental Protection
Verification, Ecological Environmental Protection and Recovery &
Management Plan for Mines, and other related documents, actively
prevents and mitigates the negative impact caused by production
operation and its own activities on surrounding ecological
environment. The reclamation rate of mining land covered by the
Company achieved 100% in 2016.

Land conservation:

o The road access to the well site is set as a 3.8m single lane road,
increasing some meeting points.

o Pipelines, roads and electricity are constructed synchronously.
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Engineering restoration and land remediation:

o The surface at the laying place of buried pipelines is restored to
the original condition, and the grouting cutoff wall is utilized at
the abrupt slope to prevent water loss and soil erosion.

J The side slope of road utilizes the grouting for slope protection.

Vegetation restoration:

o Greensward and shrubs are planted on the area which is
temporarily covered by pipeline.

o Biota orientalis are planted on both sides of the road.

J Biota orientalis are planted in the well site.

CUSTOMER FIRST, WIN-WIN COOPERATION

In order to guarantee product quality to realize our responsibility for
our customers, the Company put strict control and supervision over the
quality of product, according to natural gas international and national
standards as well as industry standards, on the basis of abiding by the
national laws and regulations of product quality.

We execute a high-level safety management throughout all business
links of CBM commercial development to provide safe, reliable, clean
and economic new energy for residents and industrial consumers,
together with upstream and downstream partners such as the pipeline
operator, supplier and project partner. In this way, we achieve the
common, comprehensive and sustainable development among the
industry chain.

Forging a Development Community

The quality assurance and safety controls during production, sales,
transportation, utilization of natural gas, as well as other processes are
inseparable from the close cooperation between upstream and
downstream industries. The Company has always endeavored to form
a development community. We have carried out adequate
collaboration and exchange with upstream and downstream partners
in the industry chain in such aspects as product quality, technological
innovation and market development.

Ensuring stable energy supply

Together with the downstream customers including LNG (liquefied
natural gas) manufacturer, downstream pipeline customers, pipeline
operators, urban gas operators and industrial consumers, we jointly
carry out the real-time monitoring of product parameters as well as
emergency handling program to ensure a stable, safe and high-quality
CBM supply. The Company has sold CBM to a variety of downstream
customers and has conducted direct pipeline connections. For
example, ENN Energy and Shuntianda have built plants connected
with a gas gathering station at the Panzhuang to process CBM and
transport to Henan Province as well as downstream users in cities along
the coast.
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For a long time, together with partners CUCBM and CNPC, we have
been committed to the stable output of CBM during the production
process. We have also provided stable products and sufficient CBM to
satisfying the transportation parameter requirements to ensure a stable
natural gas supply to customers and their customers. By the end of
2016, Mabi has connected with the CBM processing center of CNPC
through pipeline and it will join the country’s first West-East Natural
Gas Pipeline Project (WEPPI).

Dealing with market and industry changes

The Company emphasizes in sharing of the industry trends with
customers and partners to further strengthen the relationship with
partners as well as with supervision organizations. We can then jointly
make production and sales plans to better cope with the changes in
international and domestic natural gas markets.

The Company has been focused on achieving a win-win situation with
customers. We hope to realize mutual benefits with our customers by
establishing a flexible price communication mechanism as well as good
communication channels for dealing with market changes and
equipment malfunctions, etc.

Sharing and cooperation of technology management

The Company continuously pursues more advanced technologies and
sound management modes. We regularly hold sharing meetings at
different project stages and invite partners, customers, expert
representatives, suppliers and contractors to jointly discuss existing
problems and find solutions. The discussion covers problems in design,
construction, and transportation to downstream customers.

The Company regularly has joint management meetings with all of its
internal responsible departments and external partners to summarize
the work in operations, finance, marketing and sales, HSE, and other
aspects, as well as to report and discuss plans. The purpose is to
facilitate well communication in technology management.
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Supplier Management

The Company actively promotes the sustainable development of the
whole supply chain and leads partners to jointly undertake social
responsibilities so as to provide high quality products and services for
society.

Our goal is to comprehensively improve the management levels of
suppliers and contractors, and gradually develop a dynamic and
comprehensive integrated management mode. We strive to achieve a
win-win management principle through mutually beneficial relations
with suppliers to provide supports for the company to carry out long-
term, efficient and quality operation and management activities. The
Company advocates energy conservation and emission reduction by
trying to select the local suppliers while ensuring quality and
qualifications of suppliers at the same time.
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Improving management system

The Company performs HSE requirements and social responsibility
throughout the management of suppliers and contractors, by
implementing various management measures and improving the
management level. These measures include establishing sound rules
and management systems; carrying out comprehensive risk rating and
strict HSE qualification access; improving the social responsibility
performance of contractors; regulating safety training for contractors;
improving working skills of contractors; strictly managing work permit;
strengthening process monitoring; and strictly assessing the
performance of contractors. In 2016, the Company set up a new
contract management department to make the contract management
more standardized and unified as well as to achieve the risk control of
projects in terms of budget, procurement and implementation.

The Company constantly improves the Procurement Work System,
specifying strict procurement methods and approval process to ensure
the fairness and compliance of procurement. The Company provides
fair, transparent and competitive chances for suppliers through public
bidding, and has created a unified supplier database. In 2016, suppliers
who were implemented evaluation and supervision accounted for over
20% of all suppliers and contractors.

Training and technological exchange

With the core values of safety, health and environmental protection,
The Company continues to improve the contractor management and
their awareness in those aspects. We carry out contractor training
activities covering entry, foreman management, safe operation, skill
improvement and other aspects.

In 2016, the Company organized various knowledge and skill
competitions for employees and contractors. These activities
strengthened the relationship between internal employees and
external contractors. They also enhanced the communication of front-
line technologies to improve safety awareness and professional skills of
both parties.

Case: Excavation and Trenching appraise activity

In 2016, we invited contractors of Panzhuang project and Mabi project to jointly participate
in the excavation and trenching appraise to strengthen the understanding of excavation
operation procedures and permit to work procedures by internal employees and
contractors. Activities like theoretical and on-site operation assessments helped employees
and construction parties to improve their risk assessment capabilities in excavation
operations, such as surface barrier, damage of underground facility line, rock or soil
loosening, falling of objects or personnel, and other hazards. The events improved their
safety level in excavation operations during the construction process such as preliminary
pre-spud operation, surface construction, gas gathering stations construction and gathering
pipeline laying.

110 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2016

TEEERAR
AR AH HSE Mt & B ZREBEHRH
EREMABRENBETES  HEURERE

BEESE - 2HRARTHR - BEIEHSEE S &
A RAABEHEERRE  REREHL
EHAEF - BRAFRBEIIERE - BEES
TYEFFAER - ML BEEBENREERBDEE
BEZEHMEESEEERE  BAEEK
Ao 2016 FEARRNEFRY T AREEE - £15
/\H EEE ARER— WERHEBEBAKE
R EmaaiEnRBREE -

AARTEHTEHRETIESE @ REBREHIR
BB 5 N IR AR SRR EE K,E%Z\\$ﬂ/*\fﬁ i}
BARBENTN  AHERREEAT - FH

MBS EUR—HERERE - 2016F
PR EERO BRI HEREENLLH

157%%1%?}3’5&7%@%3’\] 20% BA L o

BRI B AT ST

ARARRAZ 2 - @FEMRR S MEER
BUEAERER ReASRER HE
5 RULEIE - RREEMRERAZ T ER
RABBEIES -

20165 - AR A]E R AEDE T r A A%

B BRE B EMRELL P - M AEE T

FONEEE B R B EM — R - 1R
LEBHBMERKE -

P EREXFLED

20164 » FAFID BIEEEN G LIAE BFARH AR 2
ZRIERRL - BE—RIIEWMBIBIERETLL - MR T
NEETHABEABEEREXEAMERFARAD
RA - HEETME TSRS EREERBRTEESD T
i REHY - B T RIEMRE - A ARELIRRDY
Mgk E AR EERERAR  WMmRAEEEN TR
BRI GHEER  WHER SHERBRERTHE
RIFERN L RIRE -




Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERRE

Case: Introducing SCADA system

In order to improve the work efficiency and management level, Mabi project introduced
SCADA (Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition) system in 2016. The SCADA system has
a powerful function in compatibility, automatic operation, data integrity, graphic data
processing, monitoring classification, statement, and other aspects. The application of the
system increases the uploading frequency of production data, significantly improves the
timeliness and accuracy of data, and continuously promotes the on-site management level.

PEOPLE ORIENTATION, HARMONIOUS
DEVELOPMENT

The vigorous development of the Company requires the full support of
each employee. We regard employees as our most valuable wealth.
Therefore, we are committed to creating good conditions for career
development and improving physical and mental health of employees.
The Company strengthens the talent cultivation, promotes local
employment, and facilitates local development.

We take root in societies, and constantly strive to obtain the
understanding, support and help from local governments, communities
and residents. Meanwhile, we provide funds for the development of
local poverty groups, carry out volunteer activities and fulfill our
corporate social responsibility.

Respecting Rights and Interests of Employees

The Company attaches importance to and guarantees legal rights and
interests of employees. We adhere to “"People Orientation”. By
focusing the appeals of employees, paying more attention to and
strengthening the cultivation of talents, building a scientific and
reasonable employees’ promotion channel. We are committed to
creating an optimized work environment for employees.

Employee recruitment

According to The Law of the People's Republic of China and The
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, The Company
adheres to people orientation and equal employment to maintain and
guarantee various legal rights and interests of employee, so that we
can provide a healthy and safe employment environment, sound wage
insurance system as well as competitive salary and welfare for
employees. The Company resolutely opposes the use of child labor
and forced labor, and strictly prohibits discrimination on gender,
nationality, ethnic group, religious belief and cultural background, etc.,
throughout recruitment, training, career development and all other
aspects. By publicizing the recruitment information through industry
media as well as internal and external channels, and through campus
recruitment and other methods, we provide a transparent and open
information platform for applicants.
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We care for the health and well being of female employees, invite HMETLUE TRE  BEHE A+ BE
professionals to give theme lectures on health and carries out ZRBEANREHETEEENEENESE
promotional activities of health knowledge. e

In 2016, the total number of employees at the Company was 690, while  20164F » KAATIE THEAZGOA - 2FET
the employee turnover rate was only 4.18% for the year. MKEERL18% °

Total Workforce by Age
REFREINETAY

45
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245

215

B Below 28 years old 285%LA T

B 28-35 years old 28-355%

B 35-50 years old 35-505%
Above 50 years old 50554 £

Total Workforce by Gender
BRUBESMET AR
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B Male employees 38T
B Female employees ZE T
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Occupational health

The Company places high importance to the occupational health
development of employees, and gives priority to occupational health
and well-being. Meanwhile, we conscientiously implement the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, specifying monitoring work for occupational
health, and strengthening management of occupational health, to
protect employee health.

The adaptibility of work is an important part in risk management of
health, so we formulated the Fitness to Work and Stop Work Policy. In
2016, the physical examination coverage rate of occupational disease
in the workplaces of the Company was 100%.

We regularly organize physical examination for employee and
strengthen the occupational health management of on-site operator.
We create personal occupation health archives for all employees, in
which the copies of physical examination data are kept. In 2016, the
occupational disease examination of the Company covered all
employees with potential occupational disease risks.

Salary and welfare

The Company has set up a salary and welfare system connected with
the salary level and performance evaluation. It makes reasonable
adjustment for employee salaries according to company performance,
market condition, local employee cost and work performance, and
relevant laws and regulations.

The Company pays social insurance, medical insurance and commercial
insurance for employees according to national regulations to
guarantee their legitimate rights, and provides dormitories or housing
allowance for employees who meet certain conditions. We reasonably
arrange holidays and paid vacation, specifying that employees enjoy
marriage leave, funeral leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, and
other statutory holidays in accordance with law.
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Facilitating Employee Development

The Company pays particular attention to talent development. We
offer a clear career development path and a sound training mechanism
to motivate employees. Relying on talent cultivation and vocational
training, to provide a broad development space and platform for
employees.

The Company stresses the construction of talent training systems,
carries out relevant training programs and develops human resources
in a planned way. We encourage employees to continuously learn to
improve themselves and work skills and comprehensive abilities. By a
comprehensive promotion system integrating exams and evaluations,
we try to optimize talent growth and provides a broad development
platform for employees. Furthermore, it enables employees to
experience satisfaction from work, by simulating their enthusiasm and
promote their specialties and professional development. The Company
encourages employees to achieve their personal fulfillment to their
greatest extent while making contributions to the Company.

The Company has built a sound learning and development system to
satisfy the requirements talents and business growth. We provide
training plans and talent development channels, according to different
posts, through improving professional skills and personal capabilities;
as well as building models for high-potential talent team management
and leadership. Meanwhile, we have developed appropriate training
and development plans for employees, including career quality,
working skills, production safety, and management ability, offers
training contents related to post responsibilities of employees. The
training takes a variety of forms such as intensive classes, lectures,
conferences, video, demonstration, case study, discussion, on-the-spot
guidance, work shift, business investigation, off-job training or half-
time training, self-development and distance education.

We organize and develop sorts of management and skills training, for
improving employee’s capability, including 3 categories: leadership,
competitiveness, professional skills; and 14 courses to meet the
requirement of white collar and blue collar staffs. We also support our
people to take an active part in the special training of vocational skills.
In 2016, the Company organized a total of 24,346 hours training.

Case: Health, Safety and Environmental knowledge Training

We requires each employee to promise to follow the principle of “Safety First, Environment
Friendly”, and to participate in health, safety and environmental knowledge training.
Meanwhile, we continuously provides related training for other personnel and
subcontractor. In 2016, the per capita safety training hours in Panzhuang project were 20
hours, and those in Mabi project were 27.04 hours.
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Caring for Lives of Employees

The Company cares for the work and life of each employee, and
provides a good working environment and life quality. We're
committed to improving the working enthusiasm of employees, and
striving to create a harmonious and happy atmosphere. In order to
improve the working environment quality of the well-site employees,
we provide free working meal for on-site employees. In order to give a
feeling of safety to employees, all projects utilize facilities that can
guarantee the highest safety, and conduct physical examinations for
employees for free each year.

The Company actively supports and encourages employees to
participate in various recreational activities. These colorful recreational
activities can reveal the spiritual outlook and versatility of employees.
In 2016, we organized table tennis, billiards, and badminton
competitions and conducted group tourism to balance work with
leisure. This enhances the centripetal force and cohesion of employees
while helping them to alleviate the pressures of work.

Facilitating Local Development

We actively pay taxes in everyday operations to support local economic
development. Under the same conditions, we put priority on selecting
local employees and suppliers, to support its development. In order to
cooperate with community plans, we put a lot of efforts to participate
in public welfare and are committed to the construction of inclusive
community, finally help with the harmonious development of society. In
2016, we continued to maintain good communication with the
community, keeping the previous model of excellent social enterprise
cooperation.

Community participation

While continuously providing stable energy supply, the Company
adheres to "Open Cooperation, Win-win Cooperation” to cultivate
local suppliers and contractors so that we can promote the
development of related industries and bring benefits to local people.

Community Policy
The Company social policy is “Sustainable Development, Inclusive
Community”.

The Company insists on adhering to its social policy to improve
management level, and protect the employees and communities,
health and safety, to improve livelihood of the affected communities
and to take on and fulfill social responsibilities, with particular attention
to vulnerable groups.
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In order to promote sustainable development, we are committed to:

Be consistent with applicable PRC laws and regulations,
International Finance Corporation (IFC) performance standards
(2013), and Equator Principles 11l (2013);

Undertake continuous social impact assessments and risk
evaluations to effectively avoid and control health and safety
hazards to employees and surrounding communities and coexist
in a harmonious way with the local communities;

Maintain good relationship with the affected communities and
broader stakeholders;

Adopt and implement human resources policies and procedures
to be consistent with national employment and labor laws and
international standards (e.g. IFC Performance Standards 2013);
Avoid engaging in or supporting the use of child labor and
forced labor or compulsory labor as defined in International
Labour Organization Convention 29;

Work with our employees to maintain a healthy, hygienic and safe
workplace, and proactively reduce occupational injury and illness
risks, and promote employee health and well-beings;

Avoid or minimize both physical and economic displacement to
the local community; where avoidance is not possible, to extent
possible collaborate with the responsible government to restore
the livelihoods of the displaced persons and ensure informed
participation of those;

Ensure that all employees are aware of their roles and
responsibilities to comply with this social policy;

Require the same level to contractors to manage social
performances in line with this social policy.

Community care

The Company recognizes that local communities intend to utilize coal

as the main energy source to meet their heating supply and dining

requirements of local residents. So the pollution emissions would

increase to a higher level. For this reason, we transport some of clean

fuel gas — CBM to local communities for sales at reduced price, which

can greatly reduce local coal-burning requirements, making the living

environment of local residents cleaner, healthier as well as greatly

improving air quality.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERRE

Poverty alleviation
The Company positively participates in the local poverty alleviation
plan to respond to the “2020 China’s Poverty Alleviation Goal”.

Case: Enterprises have responsibilities in solving the toughest problems in poverty
alleviation — discussion report in Shangwoquan Village, Tuwo Town, Qinshui County
In order to solve the toughest problems in poverty alleviation and respond to the call of the
Party Committee and Government of Qinshui County, as well as fulfill the social
responsibilities of enterprises, we help and support poverty-stricken families. We have
formed an enterprise poverty alleviation group, which went to Shangwoquan Village, Tuwo
Town, Qinshui County to have discussions in the middle of July 2016. Relevant government
departments would design targeted implementation plans, and we would cooperate to
effectively promote the development of related issues.

Case: "Pairing to Facilitate Poverty Alleviation” theme activity

On 17 October 2016, the national “Poverty Alleviation Day”, the management team and
employees went to Fancunhe Town, Qinshui County, Jincheng City, and Shanxi Province to
participate in the “Pairing to Facilitate Poverty Alleviation” activity organized by the
government of Fancunhe Town. AAG Energy has always attached great attention to social
groups needing care based on the awareness of its social responsibilities.

Case: Nursing home condolences

Each year, from 2014 to early 2017, we organized employees to join in the AAG Charity
Program to visit nursing home in Qinshui County of Jincheng City, Shanxi Province, for
condolence during festivals. They give rice, flour, grain, oil and other food, as well as towels
and other daily necessities to the elderly people. Volunteers cook and sing songs for the
elderly and play games with them. They also help with cleaning, and sending our solicitude.
We wish that they can feel the warmth from enterprises and enjoy the family-like love. We
respect the old, alleviate poverty, convey warmth, and show love, to bravely shoulder our
social responsibilities.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
126 to 205, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,;

and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRESEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, FEREFTZEIZRBERMANE LA - R Y
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial AEIAHEBERENBARAEENEIE - &
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the  LEFEEERFIBATELESHMGHRIREER
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a ERFHETERIERN - RFIT Y ELEEEH
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a  FEEHMER,

separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to:
o Share-based compensation

Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

BAER BRI OB RES FRER
o DARD REREEIREN

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNNEERARETSE

Share-based compensation

LA 47 75 2 8 A9 SR A

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

F2HAMUBRERME2 -

The Company has adopted and operated Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Restricted Share
Unit Scheme (collectively the “Schemes”) to reward its
employees, which are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments”. Share based
compensation expenses totaling RMB48.3 million (2015:
RMB44.7 million) for the year ended 31 December 2016
comprise share based compensation expenses from
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of RMB22.3 million
(2015: RMB44.7 million), change of terms to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme in 2016 of RMB8.7 million (2015:
RMB nil) and issue of Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit
Scheme in 2016 amounting to RMB 17.3 million (2015:
RMB nil) which were recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
ERARIERMIT TR R AREERBRETEMER
AABERZREIKROELAE(SHRERETED
NHBET  WEBEEEMBHREEAE 25 [ ARG
REWOZN - BE2016F12A31MBIEFE - K
NRERNMNEBABOR/ARKE483BET(2015
FrARBUTIAER) HPBEEXAAHEEHE
BREEIZBERARB23BET(2015F : AR
447 B&ETT) » 20165 [ B X A 73 & B B ARAE T &l 5k
HEEMENERARKSTAET(2015%F - &) -
016 FETERARBEERZBHRMECAEZE
RAOARE17588T(2015% « &) - WREHEEHK
AR PR ©

In addressing this matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

HRERRESFET  RPITTUTER

o We obtained and examined the terms and conditions
of the Schemes and documentation and the schedule
of share-based compensation (the “Schedule”)
prepared by management.

o BRMERNRE T 5 S0 GRFRAGRMEARE R B %EHE
BILARR (0 A E TR B SREN e SR B3R ([ 28R D) -

J In relation to the awards granted during the year under
the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme, we
assessed the fair value of those awards granted on the
grant date to the market price of the Company’s
shares.

e HRAERTHWEREAARBEERIMBEIKN ELG
EITHRE  BRMUERARRENTSEEHRKT
BEER T HOR R EBEETHG -

o In respect of the change of terms made to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year, which resulted
in increment in fair value, we performed the following:

o  HREARKNFHHERAFMEEABERETEERNE
BmsIBH AR EEEM  HFRTT

(a) Assessed the appropriateness of the option
pricing model adopted by the external valuer
engaged by the Company;

(@) FHE T EREIMNEF(LADER B & IR RT R R AL &Y

R
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Key Audit Matter
BRBETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN EA NARERRENEE

Share-based compensation

BARR 47 %5 2 6 A9 SR A

The estimation of share-based compensation expense
is based on certain key bases and assumptions,
including determination of the fair value of relevant
awards granted, the incremental fair value arising from
change of terms in 2016, and the number of awards
which are expected to be vested.

AR AR RN E At ERN S RER AR RER
& BEAEERR TR LA EENETE 20165 H
R E S REIE M AR BE - URIEHE R G T
HEHE -

Because of the significance of share-based
compensation during the year ended 31 December
2016, together with the use of judgements and
assumptions, we had identified this matter as a key
audit matter.

R AR BERARMNEE2016F12 A31 HILF
EOBEBATE  UREHEBEROER - BFIRERIZ
FEREREFEE -

(b) Assessed the integrity and competence of the
external valuer engaged by the Company;

(b)  SFET R RIS DM R

(c)  Checked the assumptions adopted in valuing the
incremental fair value including (i) Company s
share price to the market price of the
Company s shares on the date of changing the
terms; (i) expected dividend yield to information
provided by management; (iii) maturity years
under the scheme; (iv) risk free rate to market
information; and (v) annualised volatility to
market statistics on the Company s share price

movements.
(© BETHERIAEBEEMAEANEBR 2150
BATIREREAFRETKRAEEANTISE

RS () IEMR S R F BT ERHEME
FHEC B (i) 5 B B F IR B A B LL B0 (v) S AL
[0 K B IS AL LB ¢ AR (v) IR E R
HENFREEFNTHAHEELE -

In respect of the share-based compensation charged
during the year, we checked the number of awards
granted and expected to be vested as shown in the
Schedule against the criteria of vesting as set out in
the Schemes and underlying supporting documents,
including minutes of Board of Directors, human
resources records, scheme and the fulfilment of
performance conditions.

HRARFHERNOURD RERBRY - RAHEL
RPHBENDRE T RIERBRE TOHRBEENE
BAXHXN BREFERLE  ANERRE &
BIBEBRAREB R M R 2 X EITRRE -

We tested the mathematical calculations of share-
based compensation expenses during the year.

BPAR T AFEUABRND AERNGMERNE -

Based on our work, no significant exception has been
noticed.

ERBMNTHE  RAEREXEF
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is:
LEONG Kin Bong

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2016 2015
2016 % 20154
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
BaE AR®T T AREEF T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE - TRMEE 7 3,188,674 2,639,914
Land use rights -+ it {F 8 12,265 12,547
Intangible assets A E 33,907 15,025
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 4,116 -
3,238,962 2,667,486
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 7E 1,760 1,097
Trade and other receivables FE UK BR 30K Eo A fE Uk R 10 319,850 255,339
Current income tax prepaid TERE HPTE T 2,555 -
Restricted bank deposits ZIREIRITIEER 12 31,583 8,033
Term deposits with initial terms of over A HARR #B:E = 1@ A &Y
three months FTEATFC 12 - 246,000
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRESEED 12 2,343,764 2,309,810
2,699,512 2,820,279
Total assets BREE 5,938,474 5,487,765
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the RENAATIEENRERS
Company
Share capital R AN 13 2,034 2,034
Capital surplus BEREH 14 4,839,134 4,700,281
Accumulated deficits Z:tEE (4,234) (110,869)
Total equity HEER 4,836,934 4,591,446
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2016 2015
2016 £ 20154
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B aE AR® T AREFIT
LIABILITIES =0
Non-current liabilities FREBERS
Asset retirement obligations BEEEER 15 13,176 8,409
Borrowings B 16 496,376 418,859
Deferred income tax liabilities EEESHRAE 17 148,213 76,158
657,765 503,426
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FERHBR R N E B~ R 18 443,775 390,453
Current income tax liabilities EHAEHAE - 2,440
443,775 392,893
Total liabilities meE 1,101,540 896,319
Total equity and liabilities MEXNEE 5,938,474 5,487,765

The notes on pages 131 to 205 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 126 to 205 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 24 March 2017 and were signed on its behalf.

Executive Director

Stephen Xiangdong Zou

F1NEE205 BN ERAESHITBKRERN

BRHS

F126BE205 BN B BREBEETZR2017
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AR
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

B mERER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR®ET T AREFIT
Revenue I@N 19 411,278 536,655
Other income E A 20 149,276 127,672
Other losses, net HibEK — FE (913) (163)
Operating expenses REMX
Depreciation and amortisation e R#EH (74,613) (142,086)
Employee benefit expenses EE®RAMAX 21 (164,142) (155,162)
Materials, services and logistics MR R R (100,203) (113,815)
Others EHAtb (23,543) (23,260)
Total operating expenses R BT (362,501) (434,323)
Profit from operations KERH 197,140 229,841
Interest income FEU A 22 10,699 5,815
Finance costs B 75 & 22 (18,578) (29,126)
Exchange losses [E 7185k 22 (10,281) (154,813)
Finance costs, net BRER — 35 (18,160) (178,124)
Profit before income tax B BT 1555 A0 K 559 23 178,980 51,717
Income tax expense FrisEi & A 24 (72,345) (108,656)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the BREREXATMEENEE
Company for the year @ (EE) 106,635 (56,939)
Other comprehensive income: HibsRE W ¢
ltems that may be reclassified HigngeENEEEE/MIAR
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences SNBSS =28 90,613 259,233
Total comprehensive income attributable SBRADATMEENEE
to owners of the Company for the year FEWRBE 197,248 202,294
Earnings/(losses) per share (RMB) sRE (BB AR
— Basic — HK 25 0.03 (0.02)
— Diluted —wiE 25 0.03 (0.02)

The notes on pages 131 to 205 are an integral part of these

FINEE205BENMERAA G BRRE

%
consolidated financial statements. FEREER S o
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Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity
EOREEEE X

Attributable to owners of the Company

BERADRANFMES
Share Capital Accumulated Total
capital surplus deficits equity
(& BERER REtEE R
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B s AREFTT ARETTT ARETT AREFTT
As at 1 January 2015 ®2015F1H18 51 2,856,420 (53,930) 2,803,001
Comprehensive income Fakas
Loss for the year FEEIE - - (56,939) (56,939)
Currency translation differences  SMEITE Z %8 - 259,233 - 259,233
Total comprehensive income &N EE - 259,233 (56,939) 202,294
Transactions with owners HFEENRS
Capitalisation issue BRI ETT 891 891 - -
Issue of additional shares BEITEINE D 223 (223) - -
Issue of shares of initial BIENARBEERD
public offering 407 1,538,841 - 1,539,248
Share-based compensation LARR D o B 1 ) SR BN 21(b) - 44,702 - 44,702
Exercise of options TERE N 2 2,199 - 2,201
Total transactions with owners BB EMNR 525 1,523 1,584,628 - 1,586,151
As at 31 December 2015 ®2015%12A31H 2,034 4,700,281 (110,869) 4,591,446
As at 1 January 2016 R2016FE1H18 2,034 4,700,281 (110,869) 4,591,446
Comprehensive income Fawas
Profit for the year FEMH - - 106,635 106,635
Currency translation differences  JMNEITE Z %8 - 90,613 - 90,613
Total comprehensive income  4& WAL - 90,613 106,635 197,248
Transactions with owners HFEENRS
Share-based compensation LARGAD o B B ) SR A 21(b) = 48,240 = 48,240
Total transactions with owners EEFfEENXZ A = 48,240 = 48,240
As at 31 December 2016 ®2016%12A31H 2,034 4,839,134 (4,234) 4,836,934

The notes on pages 131 to 205 are an integral part of these 131 B E205BMMERAAHHMBHREN
consolidated financial statements. BEEES o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORESRER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2016 2015
2016 & 20154
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B AR®TR ARETT

Cash flows from operating activities K& EZHHLRE

Cash generated from operations REEIRS 27 289,040 451,428
Interest paid ERALE (26,338) (24,165)
Income tax paid ERFTEH (5,284) (109,881)
Net cash generated from operating KEEEMSH S F5E

activities 257,418 317,382
Cash flows from investing activities RETHHRESHRE
Purchase of property, plant and BETHE  ITH: &EK

equipment and intangible assets B AE (570,062) (494,845)
Decrease/(increase) in term deposits VI HRBE=E AN EH

with initial terms of over three months TR,/ (i) 12 246,000 (246,000)
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR B8R 1T 17 ) N 12 (23,550) (8,033)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENEE  TRARE

plant and equipment PSR 343 139
Interest received S 9,527 4,802
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBMARS F58 (337,742) (743,937)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHRERE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 217 & @% FT15 7R - 1,544,380
Proceeds from exercise of options 1T{E B IEFT IS 7R - 2,433
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERATISFRIE 40,438 427,952
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER - (379,043)
Cash paid for listing expenses M ETAXZANNERS (7,700) (29,288)
Finance costs paid ERI%ER (19,864) (48,722)
Net cash generated from financing REEHTEIR S FEE

activities 12,874 1,517,712
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BERBESEEY

cash equivalents OV §ilI)::2-] (67,450) 1,091,157
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#3 4 KIREHEY

of the year 12 2,309,810 1,099,673
Exchange gains on cash and cash HENIRESZEBYIEN

equivalents g 101,404 118,980
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRAERAEEEY

of the year 12 2,343,764 2,309,810
The notes on pages 131 to 205 are an integral part of these 131 HEZ 205882 A HTHBRELN
consolidated financial statements. ERAB LS o
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GENERAL INFORMATION

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the "Group”) are principally engaged in
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
("CBM") in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 23 December 2014. The address of
the Company'’s registered office is P.O.Box 31119, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two production sharing
contracts ("PSC") entered into with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and PetroChina Company
Limited for the Panzhuang and Mabi concessions respectively in
Shanxi Province of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP") of the Panzhuang
concession was approved by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC on 28 November 2011, which
allowed the Panzhuang concession to enter into the commercial
development phase. On 1 November 2016, Panzhuang
concession entered into production phase after the Joint
Management Committee (“JMC") approved and announced
based on the terms of Panzhuang PSC. As at 31 December 2016,
Mabi concession was still in exploration phase.

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the completion of
the reorganisation as described below (the “Reorganisation”),
the Group's business was carried out by Asian American Gas, Inc.
("AAGI") and its subsidiary Sino-American Energy, Inc. (“"SAEI"),
and AAG Energy (China) Limited now comprising the Group. In
the preparation of listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Reorganisation was undertaken pursuant to which the Group
companies engaged in the relevant business under common
control were transferred to the Company.
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132

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

The Reorganisation involved the followings:

)

On 23 December 2014, the Company was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability, with AAG Energy Limited, the then parent company
of AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited, as its sole
shareholder.

On 30 December 2014, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into between AAG Energy Limited and
the Company, the Company issued 835,069,049 ordinary
shares to AAG Energy Limited, as the consideration for
AAG Energy Limited to transfer its 100% equity interest in
AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited, together with all
shareholder loans totaling RMB2,629,064,000 due from
AAGI as at that date, to the Company. Upon completion of
the transfer on 31 December 2014, AAGI and AAG Energy
(China) Limited became direct wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company and the shareholder loans were converted
into equity.

On 23 June 2015, AAG Energy Limited repurchased and
cancelled all but three of its issued and outstanding
ordinary shares, and in consideration, transferred all the
ordinary shares of the Company held by AAG Energy
Limited to its shareholders in proportion to their respective
shareholding percentage in AAG Energy Limited. The
remaining three ordinary shares of AAG Energy Limited was
held by Mr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou, Baring Private Equity
Asia IV Holding Limited and WP China CBM Investment
Holdings Limited, who are considered as the controlling
shareholders of the Group'’s business and each holds one
ordinary share in AAG Energy Limited.

The Company's initial public offering (“IPO") of its shares on the

Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was
completed on 23 June 2015.
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BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHERE
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of BRALEMHHEREREANTES K
RHRTX BEEHAN - WEBR
TR BFERNERER -

these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 wEEE

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

134

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the
financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2016:

o Clarification of acceptable methods of
depreciation and amortisation — Amendments
to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38

° Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014
cycle, and

. Disclosure initiative — amendments to HKAS 1

The adoption of these amendments did not have any
impact on the current period or any prior period and
is not likely to affect future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to
standards and interpretations are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2016 and have not
been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. None of these is expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, except the following set out
below:
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 mBEE(E)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued) SHBERREEEE (&)
(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (b)  [AIRERANEIFTER R BERE ()
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, addresses the
classification, measurement and recognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. It
replaces the guidance in HKAS 39 that relates to
the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the
mixed measurement model and establishes
three primary measurement categories for
financial assets: amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“OCI")
and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of
classification depends on the entity’s business
model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset. Investments
in equity instruments are required to be
measured at fair value through profit or loss with
the irrevocable option at inception to present
changes in fair value in OCl not recycling. There
is now a new expected credit losses model that
replaces the incurred loss impairment model
used in HKAS 39. For financial liabilities there
were no changes to classification and
measurement except for the recognition of
changes in own credit risk in OCI, for liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss.
HKFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge
effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge
effectiveness tests. It requires an economic
relationship between the hedged item and
hedging instrument and for the 'hedged ratio’
to be the same as the one management actually
use for risk management purposes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

136

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Contemporaneous documentation is still
required but is different to that currently
prepared under HKAS 39. The standard is
effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is
permitted. The Group is yet to assess HKFRS 9's
full impact.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers” deals with revenue recognition and
establishes principles for reporting useful
information to users of financial statements
about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains
control of a good or service and thus has the
ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits
from the good or service. The standard replaces
HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11 “Construction
contracts” and related interpretations. HKFRS
15 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018 and earlier application is
permitted. The Group is yet to assess the full
impact of HKFRS 15.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®)

2.1 REEE(E)
SHBERREEEE (&)

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (b)  [AIRERANEIFTER R BERE ()
(Continued)
(i) HKFRS 16 Leases (i) BB BEHMEERF16

HKFRS 16, “Leases” addresses the definition of
a lease, recognition and measurement of leases
and establishes principles for reporting useful
information to users of financial statements
about the leasing activities of both lessees and
lessors. A key change arising from HKFRS 16 is
that most operating leases will be accounted for
on balance sheet for lessees. The standard
replaces HKAS 17 “Leases”, and related
interpretations. The standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019 and earlier application is permitted subject
to the entity adopting HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
contracts with customers” at the same time. The
Group is yet to assess the full impact of HKFRS
16.

There are no other HKFRS or HK (IFRIC)
interpretations that are not yet effective that
would be expected to have a material impact on
the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)

138

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 22 WEATE
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over BN B 2 15 AN B 5 A 1 ) 4
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity MER(BELBEER) 245
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable BE2EZEEMESNE A A&
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the E¥HER B IBATEE
ability to affect those returns through its power over the BERME N EZBIRE - B AREE
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which HRBEREATGHE -[MBARAR
control is transferred to the Group. They are THIEEEEAEBE 2 BRAHA
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. AR o FRBIEIERIRR LY BT

LEEBARR -

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on EFRNIR S ERATBRXSE
transactions between group companies are eliminated. EREREARER B R GHEEER
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction i o REIFEIBL TN - BRI
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred RBEHETEREERENTE -
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries RNBEReHEARME2HES
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's MEFAEAFAEAEBN TR
accounting policies. & o

2.3 Production Sharing Contract 23 EmaHKER

The Group’s exploration, development and production
activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:

(i) The Group's assets used in joint operations;

(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred,;

Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of

the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)

Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEEHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

The Group’'s PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each

concession.

Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM
and Remainder CBM.

(@) Cost Recovery CBM

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the
operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and
development costs. 80% and 70% of annual gross
production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively.
Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred
by each party have been fully recovered. Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated as follows:

() Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery
CBM is firstly applied to recover costs incurred
during the exploration phase of the PSC and
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs
incurred during the development phase.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

140

(a)

(b)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)

(i) After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the
following mechanism:

Operating cost recovery: payment in kind for
the operating costs actually incurred but not yet
recovered by each party.

Exploration and development cost recovery:
after operating costs have been fully recovered,
the Cost Recovery CBM is allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for the recovery of
exploration and development costs. Exploration
costs, 100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development costs
can be recovered. Upon the full recovery of
exploration costs, any remaining Cost Recovery
CBM is allocated between the Group and the
PSC partners for the recovery of development
costs according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration costs
do not include any interest, while development
costs include a deemed interest calculated at a
fixed compound interest rate of 9% per annum.

Remainder CBM

Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM.

The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partner according to
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

BEEESHBEREE®W

2.4 Segment reporting 24 DEWE
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent KESMBRRE TN EMEELE

25

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is

responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the directors and chief executives of the

Company.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the
functional currency of the production sharing projects
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “exchange gains/losses”.

2.5

REERBABRET B
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BOFM B MR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®)
2.5 HNEITE ()

142

(c) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in OCI.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and
evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

2. EESHBEXBE®)

26 TEBE > IRERREE)
(RTRAREE  REENNER
HERARFASBEEEGETHERSF
MR UEREATE - T8E - TH

REOEEHERFHOT

Estimated useful lives

fhEt AT 2P S 58

Gas gathering station
R

Vehicles

B

Furniture, fittings and others

RIR - KRERHM

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the approval of ODP and the buildings,
machinery and equipment for which the construction work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which includes
construction expenditures and other direct costs less any
impairment losses. Upon completion, the development
costs recorded in construction in progress are transferred
to gas properties. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until they are completed and
available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
in the consolidated

recognised within “other gains”

statements of comprehensive income.

Shorter of remaining PSC period or 20 years
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BOFM B MR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEEHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Exploration and evaluation assets 27 BERKRMEEE
Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include BERTEAZTEEZEREHRED
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological, BE M HE - BN
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, BRI T - BNIREH  BUERA N
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the B BARHE B AT 1T MR A0 7 5 P BR AR
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a EERMAITHEAEEIH S H o

mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation A B M VIPEER - BRMEE G
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a STRELRZHE - BB EIEER
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high 1TREER 18 - AR ERENE KT
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as BERFTER - BFEELEENT
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not 17 BARZIB B ARAYFTA TSR] [
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with HXRE e lkERT IR

the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for EERFR A MER TR E —FAT
economic viability within one year after completion of B A FHEH LB TR
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if WEE A E A TR ERER - 4
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained. AR ANEAT Y -
Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less BRI AT B 2 DA K AR (B B
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets HE e BEERBERM EAIITMEER
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical REEZRAITE > HFEETEE
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral ESENHTEERAREE -

resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for BEEMERBREARE LS
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the BEMEREEEMEBBEE DK
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may SRR BEHENTGEEET
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for BER S MEREFHEEXRA
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas REERETRERR -
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Gas properties

2. EESHBEXBE®)
2.8 RARLE

2.9

Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and
probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from
whole concessions based on the current terms of the
respective PSC.

Land use rights

Land use rights represent upfront prepayments made for
the land use rights and leasehold land and are expensed in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on
a straight-line basis over the periods of the leases or when
there is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

2.10 Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives
ranging from 3 to 10 years.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM B MR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEEHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Inventories 212 FE

146

Inventories are mainly spare parts and consumables with
low value and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. When
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against
expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEEHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.15 Share capital 215 RA&

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost; any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has a contractual or an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the
period in which they are incurred.
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BOFM B MR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Trade payables

2. EESHBEXBE®)

2.18 B ERFX

148

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in
equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in OCI or
directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
group companies operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

2. EEEHHERE @)
2.19 EEFTE S FELFT B8 (&)
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BOFM B MR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2. EEEHHERE @)
2.19 EEFTE S FELFT B8 (&)

150

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.20 Employee benefits

The Group operates various pension schemes. The schemes
are generally funded through payments to insurance
companies or various government-sponsored pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a monthly
pension based on certain formulas. The Group has defined
contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan which the Group pays contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.

All Chinese employees of the Group participate in other
employee social security plans, including medical, housing
and other welfare benefits, organised and administered by
the governmental authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEEHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition 2.21 WamER
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration WarE e ERBEEBHARE
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable BEFrE2WEE R HEE R EBGK
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT. I8 - IR - REFIEETZ S
IE o

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of BEWEMEEEMTENTE - K
revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that REER ZREERARNES
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when MAEEBNESBEEZESEHFES T X
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's WA ERER  AEBEBRERK
activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not A BRIFEEEFTERNFTARARSE
considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies HHB#R - BRI ESB T RAE
relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases BT EFTE c AEESREBERESL
its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration HEWEREZFER X SEEM
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the FIETEENEEEL EET -

specifics of each arrangement.

Sales of gas HERHE

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are REBEEERBEERER - £RAFE

recognised when the gas is delivered to the customers. The FRXABERR  BERHEETU

amount of revenue to be received by the Group is allocated TR o ANEEE A5 UL WA & REAR

based on the terms of the PSCs (Note 2.3). BEMOKE R Z &K T AR
(Mt3E2.3) °

2.22 Government grants 2.22 BUR#BY

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair B BRAR BEAERREA

value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant WEIwE) WA AREBEFASEMN

will be received and the Group will comply with all attached RS Al HERR o

conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for BN ACELENM T BEL

expenses or losses already incurred with no future related BEERRBEERANMHE RO

costs, such as refund of VAT paid and subsidies granted ONEERMREEREERTH

according to CBM production, are recognised in profit or ELE - W E K A FE UG HA R R

loss in the period in which they become receivable. P == El
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BOFM B MR M A
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards

of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as

operating leases. Payments made under operating leases

(net of any incentives received from the lessor), are charged

to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.24 Share-based compensation

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options and restricted share unit) of the
Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and
restricted share unit is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options and
restricted share unit granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity's share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the Group over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or to hold shares for a
specified period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options
and restricted share unit that are expected to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options and restricted
share unit that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received from the exercise
of options net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (and share
premium).

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the options and restricted share unit,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as
measured at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM B MR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based compensation (Continued)

2. EEEHHERE @)
2.24 R B ERAREN (&)
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(b) Share-based payment transactions among group

entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
company entity accounts.

2.25 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

2.26 Provision — Asset retirement obligation

Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is
recognised when: the Group has a present constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors

Bt 75 L B i B
3.1 MEREBEZE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk and

cash flow interest rate risk), liquidity risk and concentration

risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's

financial performance.

REB MK LR MRS ER %R
w - EAER - m5EAR (B
PE B B3R 2 R A R AR R
R R EFRR - AEENERE
Rl ERAEEINERTHENT
AITRORINE - 30 BN IRUE AN 5 B B
BRAWBEIFIZE -

(a) Credit risk (a) SRR
As the majority of the cash at bank balances are R K EB 9 RIT 17 517 BRA
placed with state-owned and international banks and FREEEENRE RERIE
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong, and ThEmEE - B BERT
there has been no recent history of default in relation K& s im I AR
to these banks and financial institutions, the 8% 0 8 FE (= B R B B &
corresponding credit risk is relatively low. Therefore, K- Bt - ANEBEEHARR
the Group's credit risk arises primarily from trade and F 2R A EBIR S H M pE
other receivables. The Group has controls in place to Wk o REBE M2 618
assess the credit quality of its customers. The Group LNHMEFPHEREL - K
has concentration risk on trade receivables. Only EEmEGRREKREROEFRR
limited allowance for uncollectible receivables were S AR AEBREABR
made in the past as the Group's sales were only made FEEERHNRPEITHE
to the customers with good credit history. The & HALEBEAEEER
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. A E ) E R REE B
REE - ERRENEAS
S EHRESE o
(b) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US$. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the
entity’s functional currency.

(b) TWHER
() SMNEER
AEBARIEEEY
PTEE AL SMNE R - L IA
RHHUCHEREENRE
EAERBINGE RIS
WE®:HE AgEL
SMNE R
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BOFM B MR M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. KRBERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEEKBEE(E)
(b) Market risk (Continued) (b) miaEl.Fﬁ(ﬁ*)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) ()  SMNER B (E)

Prior to 30 April 2016, the Group was exposed 2016¢4ﬂ 308 ZHI
to non-cash foreign exchange risk arising from REEFZHIER I
retranslation of US$ denominated inter- R EMTED
company loans. To manage the foreign UETFENARBEE

156

exchange risk, management decided to execute
a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by
converting the inter-company loans into
perpetual loans through entering into perpetual
loan agreements between respective group
companies such that the perpetual loans do not
bear interest and the lenders can not request
repayment. Upon completion of this debt
restructuring, any foreign exchange differences
arising from retranslation of these US$
denominated perpetual loans are recognised in
equity in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates, and by monitoring the amount of
the US$ loan utilised from the US$250 million
revolving credit facility (Note 16), which is the
Group's only US$ borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2016, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
RMB3,909,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB28,905,000) lower/higher, respectively,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of US$ denominated
payables held by the Group entities with their
functional currency as RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BIBEREREW
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEEBEE(E)
(b) Market risk (Continued) (b) TEEMR(E)

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk (i) B FERE R
The Group's income and operating cash flows REERUWARLEE
are substantially independent of the changes in SREEYE T M5
market rates. The Group's floating-rate bank MEREEHTE - K&
borrowings expose the Group to cash flow B B F B A R ERITIE K
interest rate risk. A detailed analysis of the FEREEEEERSRT
Group's bank borrowings, together with their KA o NEBIRITE
respective interest rates and maturity dates are RO - ERE
included in Note 16. =S EOR I BN RSk

RMIEE16 ©
(c) Liquidity risk () REMERE

The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEENRBUERABRFER

maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRGERBRFTERRTT

through operations and funds from shareholders. The BHRe MR EEMHET

table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities rdl o TRBRAEEN S

into relevant maturity groupings based on the MEE LREBEND S

remaining period at the balance sheet date to the B REREEHEERE

contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in HIAM R GREET D -

the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. TRIAEESEARMEN

BRRERE -

Less than Over
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
PR—F —EWEF MERF EFME

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TT ARETR

As at 31 December 2015 #HZ 20155 12H31H

Borrowings B 20,160 20,160 63,796 460,160
Trade and other payables  FE{BRFN & E b FERT X 367,242 - - -
387,402 20,160 63,796 460,160

As at 31 December 2016 EHZ2016F12831H
Borrowings B3 25,469 25469 589,020 -
Trade and other payables &8 20N E fid fE 5% 416,641 = = =
442,110 25,469 589,020 -
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BOFM B MR M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

BEEREREE)
3.1 B¥EREZE(E)
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(d) Concentration risk
Revenue of the Group is all derived from Panzhuang
concession. Any disruption to the operation of the
concession may have a material adverse impact to the
result of operation and the financial position of the
Group.

During the year, all the Group's revenue was derived
from sales made to nine customers. In the event that
these customers terminate their business relationship
with the Group and the Group fails to find new
customers, it may have a material adverse impact on
the Group’s financial position and result of
operations.

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-cash ratio
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of borrowings
divided by total cash and bank balances as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet, and monitoring when the
borrowings are due for repayment. The debt-to-cash ratio
at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was 20.9% and 16.3%,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BREAKREE®
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREEME

The measurement of fair value uses different level of inputs AABENFEERATRSERBA

to valuation technique. Such inputs are categorised into EENEERN - ZEH ASER

three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: REESFHRADR/=TEX T

PR

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for e MHREEXBEEERETS
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). EHMECRAR)(B1E) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level s BRTFIVEMBRIEHMEIN
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either ZEEMBENTEHRMNE
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived b A - Al AEE (BFwE
from prices) (level 2). B HEENRBBE)(FE2

) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e EENBGBYWIFEKEUER
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) MISEEE A (BIFETER
(level 3). BANEIE) -
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BOFM B MR M A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

4.1 Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than
possible reserves.

The Group’s reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
such as supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir’s
producing life.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
(Continued)

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract
terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant
cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (ii) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

162

4.3

4.4

Impairment of gas properties

Gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the recoverable
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future
cash flow to be associated with the assets and discounted
rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to such
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will be revised and
this may have impacts on the Group's result of operation or
financial position.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.
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CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The cost of gas properties is amortised using the unit of
production method. Unit of production rates were previously
calculated at individual well or well group level based on the
proved and probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable
from each well or well group. With effect from 1 January 2016,
the Group has applied the unit of production rates calculated at
concession level based on the proved and probable gas reserves
estimated to be recoverable from the whole concession.
Management considers that the change in estimate to use the
concession level reserve will be more reflective of the overall
utilisation of gas properties over the life of the PSC and is
consistent with industry practice. This change resulted in a
decrease in depreciation by approximately RMB72 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016. It is impracticable to estimate the
impact for future years.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executives of the Company
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group's operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about resources
to be allocated and assesses their performance. Consolidated
financial statements of the two PSCs have been separated to
present segment information to be reviewed by the CODM.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments of the PSCs based on
profit before income tax, depreciation and amortisation, interest
income, finance costs and exchange losses (“"EBITDA").

5.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as

6.

72 ERE R ()
HE206F12A3BIEFE A2
WMOTIRHEAETBLEERRENDILE

follows: BT

Panzhuang Mabi

concession concession Total

BHER BEXEHR st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREBTT ARETT

For the year ended BZE2016F12H31H
31 December 2016 IEFE
Revenue from external customers PEEINEEI SN 411,278 = 411,278
EBITDA EBITDA 441,628 (45,075) 396,553
Other income H A 149,276 = 149,276
Operating expenses LiEEA (184,449) (50,135)  (234,584)
Depreciation and amortisation ER#HE (65,906) (5,589) (71,495)
Interest income B A 8,933 113 9,046
Finance costs b =95 (2,654) (61) (2,715)
Exchange (losses)/gains [ 5, (FB%k), Wz (13,262) 3,782 (9,480)
Income tax expense FriSii & A (72,345) - (72,345)
For the year ended BZ2015F12H31H
31 December 2015 IEFEE

Revenue from external customers KEINIBEEEWA 536,655 - 536,655
EBITDA EBITDA 554,009 (43,313) 510,696
Other income E A 127,672 - 127,672
Operating expenses LiEEA (241,557) (51,496) (293,053)
Depreciation and amortisation e R#HE (131,214) (8,370) (139,584)
Interest income FE YA 5,138 36 5174
Finance costs B 75 F (2,053) (51) (2,104)
Exchange losses P& H Bk (62,832) (88,703) (151,535)
Income tax expense Frisii& B (108,656) - (108,656)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. PHER @
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTT ARETT

As at 31 December 2016 M2016%F12H31H
Total assets 8RB 2,344,636 1,991,940 4,336,576
Additions to non-current assets IEmENEEL M
(other than deferred tax assets) CRIEESTREERIN) 234,448 336,837 571,285
As at 31 December 2015 A2015%12A31H
Total assets 18R EE 1,948,253 1,653,994 3,602,247
Additions to non-current assets JEENVE E IS AN
(other than deferred tax assets) CRIEFSTREERIN) 54,462 462,875 517,337
A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is EBITDA EiR FTEf AT F B2 B &
provided as follows: T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEEE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Total EBITDA for reportable segments A 2323 5 #Y EBITDA# %8 396,553 510,696
Headquarter overheads wEAH B (124,800) (138,769)
Depreciation and amortisation IrE N (74,613) (142,086)
Interest income B A 10,699 5,815
Finance costs B 75 & A (18,578) (29,126)
Exchange losses [E W8k (10,281) (154,813)
Profit before income tax bR FT15 55 B0 A1) )E 178,980 51,717
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEERE)
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as A2MOPEELBEEHFRNOT ¢
follows:

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2016 2015
2016 F 2015 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Total segment assets DEEEETE 4,336,576 3,602,247

Unallocated Ko Ee

Unallocated cash and cash equivalent KPR ENRIREEEBY 1,594,604 1,878,878
Others HAh 7,294 6,640
Total assets per balance sheet BEBERTEESRE 5,938,474 5,487,765
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7. F*BHE-  IHREERE

Exploration
and Gas Furniture,
Gas  evaluation  gathering Construction fittings and
properties assets station in progress Vehicles others Total
HAR HE #E
RAREE TEEE SR EEIR BH REfh L
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR AR%Tn ARETR
As at 1 January 2015 M2015%1518
Cost ey 845,861 1,014,401 254,557 283,046 13,932 21842 2,439,639
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (257,943) - (28,144) - (6,745) (17,546) (310,378)
Net book value FmFE 587,918 1,014,401 226,413 283,046 7187 10,296 2,129,261
Year ended 31 December 2015 HE2015512831BLLEE
Opening net book value ENEAFE 587,918 1,014,401 226,413 283,046 7187 10,296 2,129,261
Additions 10 344 429,090 542 201,508 1,131 13,729 646,344
Transferred in/(out) g/t 59,192 - 52,128 (111,320) - - -
Disposal — cost RE— KA - 221 - - - (825) (1,046)
— depreciation —E - - - - - 790 790
Depreciation charge FEBR (110,016) - (18,991) - (2,697) (8,530) (140,234)
Currency translation differences EENEER 3,566 - - 1222 - 1 479
Closing net book value FRREFE 541,004 1443270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15471 2,639.914
As at 31 December 2015 R20156128318
Cost XA 910,378 1,443,270 307,227 374,456 15,063 40,761 3,091,155
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (369,374) - (47135) - (9,442 (25,290) (451,241)
Net book value REFE 541,004 1,443,270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15471 2639914
Year ended 31 December 2016 HE2016512R31ALEE
Opening net book value ENEEHE 541,004 1,443,270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15,471 2,639,914
Additions b=y 3,044 261,692 440 336,171 809 11,410 613,566
Transferred in/(out) )/t 155,534 - 48,893 (204,427) - - -
Disposal — cost RE— WA - - - (830) (972) (979) (2,781)
— depreciation —E - - - - 972 966 1,938
Depreciation charge HEER (40,127) - (22,130) - (2,302) (7,188) (71,747)
Currency translation differences EEREEE 4,857 - - 2,748 - 179 7,784
Closing net book value FREAMFE 664,312 1,704,962 287,295 508,118 4,128 19,859 3,188,674
As at 31 December 2016 R2016512A318
Cost XA 1,075,627 1,704,962 356,560 508,118 14,900 51,373 3,711,540
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (411,315) = (69,265) = (10,772) (31,514)  (522,866)
Net book value EHFE 664,312 1,704,962 287,295 508,118 4,128 19,859 3,188,674
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7.

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, borrowing costs
capitalised in property, plant and equipment amounted to
RMB33,369,000 (2015: RMB28,739,000) (Note 22) at the weighted

average rate of 6.79% (2015: 6.51%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the additions of
property, plant and equipment include RMB3,484,000 (2015:
RMB1,397,000) relating to the asset retirement obligations

recognised during the year.

TEE - ITHRZE®

HEEE2016F12A31 81 T8E -
ImEEBERENERKNABARE
33,369,000 (2015 4F : A R # 28,739,000)
(MF5E22) » HRINEF T 6.79% (2015
T 651%)5HE °

HEFE2016F12A318 1 TFE -
T B 3% 45 42 hn A R ¥ 3,484,000 (2015
F o AR¥1,397,000) - BERNERHE
EREEKHEB -

8. LAND USE RIGHTS 8. LTibfF R
RMB'000

ARETIT
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1A1H8
Cost %N 14,099
Accumulated amortisation BT (1,270)
Net book value REFE 12,829
Year ended 31 December 2015 BE2015%F 12831 BLLEE
Opening net book value FYEREFE 12,829
Amortisation charge BIHE A (282)
Closing net book value FAREREFE 12,547
As at 31 December 2015 M2015%12831H
Cost AR 14,099
Accumulated amortisation R (1,552)
Net book value FRIREFE 12,547
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE2016F12A3MBLEE
Opening net book value FHREFE 12,547
Amortisation charge BIHER (282)
Closing net book value FRREFE 12,265
As at 31 December 2016 M2016%F12H31H
Cost AR 14,099
Accumulated amortisation BT 5 (1,834)
Net book value FRIEEFAE 12,265

The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid

operating lease payments. All of the Group's land use rights are

located in the PRC.
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9. EIEE
Computer
software
EE 4
RMB'000
ARBFIT
At 1 January 2015 Mn2015F1818
Cost (BN 8,061
Accumulated amortisation RET 5 (3,048)
Net book value R FE 5,013
Year ended 31 December 2015 HZEZ2015F12A31HILEE
Opening net book value FHREDFE 5,013
Additions 140 11,582
Amortisation charge BHER (1,570)
Closing net book value FARREFE 15,025
As at 31 December 2015 M2015%12H31H
Cost %N 19,651
Accumulated amortisation BT 5 (4,626)
Net book value IREFE 15,025
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE2016F 1231 BLLEE
Opening net book value FHEREFE 15,025
Additions bl 21,466
Amortisation charge TR (2,584)
Closing net book value FAREREFE 33,907
As at 31 December 2016 H2016%F12H31H
Cost DN 41,117
Accumulated amortisation 2t (7,210)
Net book value AR E 33,907
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 10. FEUSAR AR I HL fth B LT K
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
Trade receivables FEUBR K

— external customers — NI 20,061 20,368
— CUCBM (Note (a)) — B E R (7T (a)) 32,948 65,288

Notes receivable (Note (b)) FEM =5 (7T (b)) 119,567 23,000

Government grants receivables (Note (c))  FEURER T B (B 5E (<))

— Government — B 43,102 77,873
— CUCBM — FERER 42,620 33,256
Due from CUCBM for cash calls and JEW B IEE IR S ER K
accrued expenses (Note (d)) e g A (I3 (d) 40,631 17,296
Prepaid expenses, deposits and others TERERFR - e REM 28,118 25,455
327,047 262,536
Less: provision for impairment OB (7,197) (7,197)
319,850 255,339

Notes: BeE -

(a) Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the cash collected from (@) FE MG R gt B SRR R M BR B R B S D
external customers attributable to SAEI and deposited into CUCBM's bank FY¥EABTHREREXFERAFKRA
account on behalf of the Group, which is jointly managed by CUCBM and BIE - WAHPHRERRKRAEERIOR
SAEI TRPZBRS -

(b)  Notes receivables are bank acceptances with maturity dates within six b) ERFEFEGRIEBENER AR RITHA
months. HEig -

() This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies for CBM (c) It 7 i A R B R RR Y R B R IR E TR
receivable through CUCBM. BB R BFFHEEL

(d)  This represents CUCBM's share of the cash calls and accrued expenses for d)  ERTERER D BRI E R EA AR
the development costs of Panzhuang concession yet to be received from SERRIAREA - HAR A TR E R -
CUCBM.
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 10. BEURBRFX R H Al FE UK ()
(i) Aging analysis (i) BRERDHT
(1) Trade receivables — due from external customers (1) FEWERR — ERINTES

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
Within 3 months =@EARN 12,864 13,171
Over 3 years =FLAE 7,197 7,197
20,061 20,368
Provision B (7,197) (7,197)
12,864 13,171

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2016 2015
2016 % 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
Past due but not impaired 2 A EREE ARMT T ARBT T
Within 3 months =@\ARN 12,864 13,171
These relate to a number of independent customers HERBERNZRBULER
for whom there is no significant financial difficulty and TEEAMBRE  ERB
based on past experience, the overdue amounts can Tacsk - mHASFER T -
be recovered.
The trade receivables are due upon billing. PR RR R R B K o
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 10. BEURBRFX R H Al FE UK ()
(i) Aging analysis (Continued) (i) BREDF(E
(2) Trade receivables — due from CUCBM: (2) BEWERMR— ERPHEER

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2016 2015
2016 FF 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
Within 3 months =@EARN 32,948 65,288
(ii) Movement of bad debt provision: (i) RERESH:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2016 2015

2016 % 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTFT

Beginning and end of the year FHFER 7,197 7,197
(iii) As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amounts of trade and (i) 7R2016F12A31H  EBRERR K
other receivables approximated their fair values. Hin EUCREEREEEREE AR E

ERE -
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 10. BYWURR R H b EURR ()

(iv) The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other (iv) 7<% B &9 FE 4R 30 8 H fh FE MR
receivables (excluding prepayments) are denominated in (AR FRIBRR AN HBRTE B E A 5
the following currencies: BHEHE -

As at 31 December

M12HA31H
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB AR 298,378 240,494
HK$ otisd 723 664
us$ ETT 17 -
299,118 241,158
11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 1. €@ T A (RER)
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Financial assets as per balance sheet REEEBRNERMEE ARET T AREBTFT
Loans and receivables B EWR
Trade and other receivables excluding JE U BR TN E b R MR
prepayments (Note 10) NEFETAR R (HIEE10) 299,118 241,158
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12) We MRS EEY (HiE12) 2,343,764 2,309,810
Term deposits with initial terms of #1965 BARR #2838 = 18 A &9
over three months (Note 12) FEHFR(HEE12) - 246,000
Restricted cash (Note 12) SBRBIEITFER (HIFE12) 31,583 8,033
2,674,465 2,805,001
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11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

12.

174

(Continued)

1. @ TR GRER) @)

As at 31 December

R12A31RH
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB'000 RMB'000
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet REESERNEFEE ARB TR ARETT
Financial liabilities cRasE
Borrowings (excluding finance lease BR(TERERNEEEEE)
liabilities) (Note 16) (FifEE16) 496,376 418,859
Trade and other payables excluding TEEFS A ENEMNIRN
non-financial liabilities (Note 18) FE M ER (5L 18) 443,775 390,453
940,151 809,312
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 12. RERBITEER
As at 31 December
M®12H831H
2016 2015
2016 5 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED
— Cash on hand —EFRE 270 364
— Cash at banks — RITER 2,343,494 2,309,446
2,343,764 2,309,810
Term deposits with initial terms of over )46 BABR B 38 = & A AY
three months E BT IR - 246,000
Restricted bank deposits (Note (a)) ZRHIRITFR (M5 () 31,583 8,033
2,375,347 2,563,843
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12. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued) 12. RERBTER @)
(@) As at 31 December 2016, restricted bank deposits (@) F2016F12A31H » ZREHIET
represented land restoration deposits for Panzhuang and FRAEERRNE NERA T
Mabi concessions. BEFR -
Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following RE MIRITERITAT BT E ¢
currencies:

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2016 2015
2016 % 20154
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBT T
RMB AR 779,458 669,696
HKS B 1,518,355 1,642,595
us$ ETT 77,534 251,552
2,375,347 2,563,843
13. SHARE CAPITAL 13. A
Equivalent
Number of Nominal value nominal value
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares shares
ZERHE ZEREE EERSEERE
Thousands US$'000 RMB'000
Fhx FET ARET T
Issued and fully paid: EETRHEH ZEIK -
Ordinary shares of HARME{E0.0001 EITH
US$0.0001 each LR
At 1 January 2015 A2015F181H 835,079 84 511
— Capitalisation issue — B EAT
(Note (a)(i) (B EE (a)i)) 1,458,375 146 891
— Issue of additional shares — BTN
(Note (a)(ii) (B &E (a)ii)) 364,754 36 223
— Issue of shares for the IPO — BIIHARAES
(Note (b)) Betn (BT EE (b)) 666,161 67 407
— Exercise of share options — IT{E AR
(Note (c)) (Bt L (<) 2,411 - 2
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 #2015% 2016 %
12A31H 3,326,780 333 2,034

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER 175




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM B MR M A

13. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

176

(a)

On 23 June 2015, immediately prior to the IPO,

() the Company issued 1,458,375,107 shares for the
capitalisation issue with nominal value of US$0.0001
each, equivalent to RMB891,000, to increase the share
capital of the Company with a corresponding
deduction in capital surplus.

(i) 364,753,845 additional shares were issued by the
Company to its then parent company, AAG Energy
Limited. The shares were issued with nominal value of
US$0.0001 each, equivalent to RMB223,000, to
increase the share capital of the Company with a
corresponding deduction in capital surplus.

On 23 June 2015, the Company completed the IPO by
issuing 666,160,920 new shares with nominal value of
US$0.0001 each at a price of HK$3.00 per share, through
which the Company’s share capital increased by
approximately US$67,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB407,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no share options
were exercised (2015: 2,411,325) (Note 21(b)(i)).
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R2015F6A23H  BEEBHXA
FEER

iy ANAFEENMEBEITHIET
1,458,375,107 f% &= % ™ &
00001 ZE LK H - HER
KRNBRAIE INERARE
891,000 * 1M & A & 4 HH FE

(i) ARBAHEEFHAR DX
R AR 2 A B
364,753,845 & f& 7 < 12 B i
[ {80.0001 3€ 7T 3 17 &9 i 17
FRN AR A PRAE 0 AR
AR #223,0007T - MEARER
FRIAER D ©

MR2015F6A238 AR FRE
1% 3.00 8 T AIE I8 E5 1T 666,160,920
% 4 A% 1 {E 0.0001 3= T T A% 15 72
REBRXARBE  NAFMRAR
HINH67,000ETT(HEERHOAR
#407,0007C) ©
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14. CAPITAL SURPLUS

The capital surplus consist of share premium, share-based

14. EAREER
AARBOIERDEE - URG AL
KRN RSN 1T S 4

15. EEEZEERK

compensation and currency translation differences.
15. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

Beginning of the year REF] 8,409 6,363
Provision B 4,355 1,655
Accretion expenses EANE 2 412 391
End of the year RER 13,176 8,409

The asset retirement obligations primarily represent the present
value of the estimated future expenditures on decommissioning

BERERBKIZEZARERRAR
BENMETARKAXHIRE -

and restoration of gas properties.
16. BORROWINGS 16. &K

As at 31 December

®W12A31H
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT

Bank loans, secured IRITER - R
Between 2 and 5 years —E=RF 496,376 -
Over 5 years HELE - 418,859
496,376 418,859
Annual interest rate F R LIBOR+4.15%  LIBOR+4.15%
Annual effective interest rate BRFER X 6.79% 6.51%
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16. BORROWINGS (Continued) 16. B (&)
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group's borrowings were 20164 201512 4318 A&
all denominated in US$, which were drawn down by SAEI. On 8 BRI AETTEHE » ;AEFRER A A
July 2015, SAEI as borrower entered into an up to US$250 million IREL - 201567 A8H « EFHREIRAF]
senior secured revolving credit facility with AAGI as guarantor, EBEBERAT YRR 2508 EETTNE
and with AAGI's shares in SAEI mortgaged as security, for a term LABRBEREERE  BoEAEE
of 69 months with a final maturity date of 31 March 2021 bearing [ERIEAERANEMFEESEIRA T
interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 4.15% for the first 4 years and RO ERIR - BEREOMBA - &ET
4.65% for the remainder of the facility. HIRA2021F3A318 aUEMFIE

RImBRITRIZEFRMEFENA5%E
FIAFEOF SR MBERTT R ER/EF
EIN4.65% M| REAH -

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: REBEBUTRIBEUERREE

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

USD’000 uSD’000

FEx FET

Expiring beyond 1 year —F DA _E 5 B 174,000 180,000
As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of borrowings R2016FE 128318 £ AABE
approximated to RMB496 million (31 December 2015: RMB419 A ANREL96EH & L (2015F 12 A 31
million). The fair value is within level 2 hierarchy (Note 3.3). H: ARB49BEERL) - ZAREEE

F_ER(MEE33) -
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17. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is
as follows:

17. EEFIEHREE

EEREEREEHRB BTN -

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Deferred tax assets: ELEFEBHREE
— Deferred income tax assets to be — R 1218 B AUk e &9 E
recovered within 12 months FRiSHiEE 845 4,009
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BREBB 128 A B ER
recovered after more than 12 months BIEFTS R & E 7,188 1,982
8,033 5,991
Deferred tax liabilities: EZEFEHERE:
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — BRARBIE 1218 A & U E A
recovered after more than 12 months EIEFTETAE (156,246) (82,149)
Net balance ERFEE (148,213) (76,158)

All deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to
Panzhuang concession, where the Group has legally enforceable
right to offset each other. Accordingly, it is presented on net
basis.

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as
follows:

PRARLEMEHEELEAFEYEHRRE
AR - ANKEROR®R ST RN E
AR - FIAFEEREZS

EEFTISIR B V@& sm T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREEFIT

Beginning of the year REA (76,158) (6,789)

Charged to the consolidated statement of A& 4R & Wiz K 0Bk (K sk 24)

comprehensive income (Note 24) (72,055) (69,369)
End of the year RER (148,213) (76,158)
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17. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

180

17. EEFEHREE®

EEFTSHARE A ST -

Depreciation

Income not

and yet subject to
amortisation tax and others Total
TEMBH
e R W I H At At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBETT
At 1 January 2015 M2015F1H1H 26,785 (33,574) (6,789)
Charged to the consolidated REHERE WaE RNk
statement of comprehensive (M$7%24)
income (Note 24) (23,487) (45,882) (69,369)
At 31 December 2015 M2015%12831H 3,298 (79,456) (76,158)
Charged to the consolidated NE Bz e RN
statement of comprehensive (FMi7%24)
income (Note 24) (36,442) (35,613) (72,055)
At 31 December 2016 M2016F12A31H (33,144) (115,069) (148,213)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.

Deferred income tax expense mainly relates to government
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds
received by the Group, which will be taxable in specified future
periods according to relevant tax regulations and local authority.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of RMB136,376,000 (2015: RMB89,147,000) in
respect of the accumulated losses which are related to Mabi
concession amounting to RMB545,502,000 (2015:
RMB356,585,000). Such losses are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production. Due to the Mabi concession is still under exploration
stage, no deferred tax assets were recognised on these losses.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

18. ERERA R EMESRK

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFTT
Trade payables FETERFK 393,198 341,414

Amounts due to related parties FETREES B

— CUCBM — R ESR 1,000 1,000
— PetroChina Company Limited — R ABRARBNODERAE 8,852 8,183
Social securities and other payables R E A fE A R0 40,725 39,856
443,775 390,453

(@)  The aging analysis of trade payables were as follows:

(@ FENERFRERRESITT

M2016F12831H ERNBER

At 31 December 2016, the aging analysis of the trade

payables based on invoice date were as follows:

HIR) R BRR RO BR B D AT A0 TS

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2016 2015
2016 % 20154
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEF T
Within 6 months NMEAR 322,202 303,650
6 months to 1 year NEBRE—% 18,700 10,553
1 to 2 years —EMF 29,895 20,418
2 to 3 years ME=4F 16,480 5,929
Over 3 years =FME 5,921 864
393,198 341,414

(b)  As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amounts of trade and

other payables approximated their fair values.

(b) F2016F12A31H - ENEFK
HEMROEEEEEEQARE
ERE -
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

(©)  The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other

payables are denominated in the following currencies:

18.

PE A BRI EL ot PEAS K ()
(© AEBHME IR RE AN R
BRI T 51 S8 HE

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2016 2015
2016 & 20154
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFIT
RMB AR 430,811 371,518
HK$ P 286 71
us$ ETT 12,678 18,864
443,775 390,453

19. REVENUE 19. LA

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, all the Group's
revenue is derived from the sale of the Group’s share of CBM

sold to customers in the PRC.

20. OTHER INCOME

20.

HE2016F M2015F 12 A31 HILFE
AEEMBRAHERE RSB AN EE
REPHEFHHENS -

HABA

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLLEE

2016 2015

2016 £ 20154

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T ARETFIT

VAT refund (Note (a)) BEFERE () 29,456 58,864
Government subsidy (Note (b)) B EL (M 5E (b)) 119,820 68,808
149,276 127,672

(@) The VAT refund is granted by the PRC government
according to “The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The

Ministry of Finance and The State Administration of

Taxation on Speeding Up The Drainage of Coal Bed
Methane" (€87 BR 2B B 5 15 75 48 R BA R AN R R [E SR R A B8
i U B 2R [ BB B9 3B &0)) for the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2016. CUCBM applies for the VAT refund for
Panzhuang concession. The Group recognises its

entitlement based on the Group’s share of CBM sold and

when there is reasonable assurance that the amount will be

received.
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20. OTHER INCOME (Continued)

(b)

The subsidy is granted by the PRC government according
to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies Granted by
The Ministry of Finance on The Development and Utilisation
of Coal Bed Methane” ({87 &6 B 7 B & S| (I A ) A 28 7
A E R E R )) at RMBO0.2 per cubic meter of the CBM
sold for the year ended 31 December 2015 and was
adjusted according to “The announcement of Subsidies on
The Development and Utilisation of Coal Bed Methane
during the Country’s 13th Five-Year Plan”({BR "+ =1"Hj
IR R (RLET) F 2 M AR IREM B AD)) to RMBO.3 per
cubic meter of the CBM sold for the year ended 31
December 2016. CUCBM applies for the subsidy for
Panzhuang concession. The Group recognises its
entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold and
when there is reasonable assurance that the amount will be
received.

21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

20. HAUW A @)

(b)

HE205F12A3MBIEFE
Bl 52 AP B BT AR 45 B BT 8 A
EBR (R AEMNAMMNEREER
E)EL  eHEAMLERERE
THKARBWLTHE HE
2016F 12 A31 B IEFERECEER)
+=F ] HEEER (FLET) MEF
AR ERBADARE S REIZAN
HERBREL A KAREOIT
FE -APHEERAELEIER
e - AEBEEREBEAREBREHEET
ERERREABRREZSTIK
EREREMZENDE -

21. EEEARX

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREETFIT

Wages and salaries ITENFHS 91,757 92,603
Welfare and other benefits (Note (a)) BF R EMF 2 (5T (a) 24,115 17,857
Share-based compensation (Note (b)) LARRAD A ETE R FREN (M 3E (b)) 48,270 44,702
164,142 155,162

(a)

Welfare and other benefits
Welfare and other benefits primarily comprises of:

(i) Housing benefits, representing the Group's
contributions to government-sponsored housing
funds at a rate of 12% of the Chinese employees’
salaries, subject to certain ceilings.

(i)  Contributions to pension plans, which are defined
contribution pension plans organised by the
municipal and provincial governments at rates ranging
from 19% to 20% of the Chinese employees’ salaries,
subject to certain ceilings.

(a)

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER

BAREMAEEEGEUT
&I :
‘AR EMENERRRE

() EFEHR AEERTER
BHES 2% R (ARET
ERBR) ABFEBOER
ESEHAHRK -

(i) EAREFEEFIERTER
BH S 19% 5 20% th X (A
XETERAR) MHRER
fiT & 22 6 B E R BUR K2 5
SEHROHSK -
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation

21. EEEABEX ®)

(b)

BARR A7 75 2L 1 Y 3R A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
Share-based compensation VARS 15 72 EE i A R B
— Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme — BAAFAEERERETE
(Note (i)) (PR (i) 22,319 44,702
— Incremental fair value related to — B A BRI
change of terms (Note (i)(3)) RABEHEOEA) 8,648 -
— Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit — BRAFREEEZB RN
Scheme (Note (i) BALETE (HIEE Gi)) 17,303 -
Amount charged to employee BETRMNE
benefits expenses 48,270 44,702
— Cash settlement in lieu of — IR HEENEITRG
issuing shares (30) -
Net amount credited to capital surplus 5T A B RZ 5 F5E 48,240 44,702

(i)  Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The “2012 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” refers to
the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by the
board of directors of AAG Energy Limited on 15 June
2012 which was modified in October 2014 and
replaced on 31 March 2015, namely the “2015 Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”. The vesting conditions of the
unvested options under the 2015 Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme are (a) 50% of the options shall be
time-based and shall vest at the rate of one half for
each 12-month period commencing from 1 January
2015 if the relevant employment date is on or prior to
1 January 2014; or one third for each 12-month period
commencing from the relevant employment date if
such date is after 1 January 2014; (b) 50% of the
options shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one half for each 12-month period commencing from
1 January 2015 if the relevant employment date is on
or prior to 1 January 2014; or one third for each
12-month period commencing from the relevant
employment date if such date is after 1 January 2014.

184 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2016

(i)

BHRAAHBREANBRESS
[2012F R AR ERIER
BBl 3ER2012566 A15
H AAG Energy Limited & %
CRME X AFEEAER
st & R2014F10A &
5] 20153 A31HF# -
BN [20154F & ) A 7 8 & A
BERIERT 2] - 2015 F B R A
M ERBREST AT R
ITEERR R (TR A
(a) 50% HE B HE i LA B F) A L
% WHE 201551 51 HiRst
AENEAPEN—FuR
E#EBABHBHEE2014F1
A1z BB #@ER
HHAFE st m 1218 A BRI (1
ZHHA201441 B1HAE)
B=m2Z— : (b) 50% K BE %
FEMEEKPIEE  WED A=
MED  SHE=-EAERE
MBI R — @R W
201541 A1H # &121@ A
HRER—FHNEE R
BN EBBHIE2014F
1TATASKZ A KR
LB B HAEF 1218 A BRI R
REPpZ—WHEE WRE
B8 M ot ¥ H HA R £ 2014 1
B1BZ21#% -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 21. EERAMZ @
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) UARMABEBNOTEM(E)
(i)  Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) () BARLBBEAERETE
(&)

(1) Movements in the number of share options (1) MERITHEOERESE
outstanding and their related weight average NE 1T EER
exercise prices are as follows: ZET -

Exercise price Number of
in US$ per  share options
share thousands
BRITEE BREHE
(%5t) (F12)
As at 1 January 2015 20151818

Granted by way of replacing LAB#2012 F BN A FE

2012 Pre-IPO Share Option ERIERERTE T
Scheme (31 March 2015) i (2015F3 831 H) 0.6 56,070
Transferred (31 March 2015) BEEE(2015F3A31H) 0.6 1,500
Granted (5 June 2015) BIXHE (20156 A5H8) 0.6 4,280
Adjustment upon the IPO BRAAEERARE
(23 June 2015) (201546 A23R) 184,370
Cancelled SRR 0.151 (398)
Forfeited B ERE 0.151 (1,194)
Exercised [=EGRES 0.151 (2,411)
Expired SAEN] 0.151 (3,560)
As at 31 December 2015 M2015%12H31H 0.151 238,657
Cancelled B 0.151 (398)
Forfeited B ERE 0.151 (5,255)
Expired 2 & 0.151 (2,389)
As at 31 December 2016 M2016%12831H 0.151 230,615

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER 185




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM B MR M A

21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 21. EEBFBEX &)
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) UARMABEBNOTEM(E)
()  Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) LHRIBRESTS(E)

(2) As at 31 December 2016, the share options () 2016128318 #
outstanding have expiry dates between 2020 i 4% &) F 83 B ¢ 2020
and 2023, of which 141,405,688 (31 December F E2023% H @
2015: 94,109,071) options were exercisable. 141,405,688 (2015412

A 31H :94,109,071)
AT RE R o

(3) During the year, the terms of the vesting ) HEE—FH - FTHRE
conditions of certain 15,874,205 KPI-linked P # 5t &1 15,874,205
options and the exercise period of options B KPI £ #5 1Y B AR 1 9
vested for certain management under the Pre- AT 1T HE 5 1 EL 57 B8 A
IPO Share Option Scheme were changed. The EEEEMERENT
incremental fair value arising from changes of ITREEA R G R -
terms during the year were determined using RFRE R IR ER
the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The key ARBENEAZER
assumptions and parameters used in the pricing BT EERA - NFER
model are shown below: BB ERENEER

AFANEERERS
ZHWT
Options
changed terms
in 2016
02016 F
BENBRE
Share price as at the valuation date (US$) {4 {E B &9A(E (E7T) 0.164~0.181
Expected dividend yield TEHAR Bl s R -
Maturity years FIHA G & 0.50-5.78
Risk free rate 2 5 B A1) 2 0.48%-2.08%
Annualised volatility FRENR 41%-45%
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

(ii)

Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme

On 18 December 2015, the Company announced the
granting of restricted share units (“RSUs") to certain
grantees of the Group in accordance with the Post-
IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme conditionally
approved and adopted by the Company on 5 June
2015. The acceptance letters of RSUs to the grantees
were signed on 31 January 2016. The vesting
conditions of the RSUs under the scheme is (a) 50% of
the RSUs shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate
of one fourth for each 12-month period commencing
from 31 March 2016; and (b) 50% of the RSUs shall be
KPl-linked and shall be divided into three equal
instalments, with each instalment being linked with
one of the three KPIs and vested at the rate of one
fourth for each 12-month period commencing from 31
March 2016.

Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as
follows:

21. EEEABE @
LA 13 B B A B ()

(b)

(ii)

BRAHREAZRERME
IV g |
B2015F 12 A18H » XA A
BB AR A R2015F6H5
BAEKEIERRANE E
MREIRABCETE - S/
MASBEE FTEARAFRER
PR I A% 10 B oz ([ BR &I 1% A%
Z D EZAET - R
ZEM R B IR (2)50% KR
IR =2 AR A ER
B B2016F3A31H M
HF12EAERNY 2 —HE
B © F(0)50% B BR ) 1t A% 22
JEEKPIH S - WD AB=%F
- BHE=EERERE
B2 — - 8201693
A 31 BRELAE 1218 A #ER
DZ—HEEB -

RIERK IR ) 1M B R B B A
M

Number of RSUs
thousands
REMEREHE
TR

Granted (31 January 2016)

Forfeited B 1ERE

2T (201651 A318)

41,064
(910)

As at 31 December 2016

2016%12H31H

40,154

The fair value of RSUs is determined by the closing
price of HK$1.16 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 31 January 2016.
During the year ended 31 December 2016, none of
the RSUs was vested.

BR I 1% B SR

AR EEREEEHARHHNA

IRATIN201651 A31B AR T BEA1.16
BILRTE - HE2016F12 8318 1E » WET
IR HI MR RE 5B -
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid individuals

Details of five highest paid individuals are set out below:

21. EEEABE @
() ENBEHMAL
AEEEHEMATHEBNT -

Number of Individuals

AE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Director (Note 32) E= (M5E32) 1 1
Non-director individuals (Note (i) IEEFKE () 4
5

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the five individuals whose
emoluments were the highest in the Group include one (2015: one)
director whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 32. The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2015: four)
individuals, one of whom resigned on 30 October 2016, during the

year are as follows:

0} H1E2016F12A31H » REE AN
EEHMALBRIE—R (015 : —
ZVER - HESHHIER20H 1T
PR o RAFEEEM ST Az (2015
FNE - Hbh— & E%20165 10
B30BaMELH) ATHFSNT ¢

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31ALEE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% TR AREF T
Basic salaries and allowances EiEH & ROREL 12,936 12,048
Discretionary bonuses HiE#e 3,394 5,373
Share-based compensation DARS 5 7 EE AR 0 SR EM 26,340 24,949
Other benefits including pension HipEh (BEERE) 7,654 3,040
50,324 45,410

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HIMEE DT

Number of Individuals

AE

2016 2015
2016 20154

Emolument bands FrNeE
HK$7,500,001~HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 & 7T & 8,000,000% 7T 1 -
HK$8,000,001~HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 /& 7T 2 8,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$10,000,001~HK$10,500,000 10,000,001 77T & 10,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$14,000,001~HK$14,500,000 14,000,001 77T & 14,500,000 7 7T = 1
HK$15,000,001~HK$15,500,000 15,000,001 /& 702 15,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$16,500,001~HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 77T & 17,000,000 7 7T - 2
HK$25,000,001~HK$25,500,000 25,000,001 78 7L = 25,500,000 7 7T 1 -
4 4
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22. FINANCE COSTS, NET 22. BIER — 25

23.

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A3MHILEE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Interest expense of bank borrowings RITEROAEE A (33,369) (28,739
Bank loan commitment fee RITERAHE (18,236) (13,925)
Write-off of unamortised costs relating to  12BI{EERITHE XK
prepayment of bank borrowings RESEA AR 2 B 5 - (14,878)
Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEEXRGENEILSER
obligations (342) (323)
Subtotal N (51,947) (57,865)
Less: amounts capitalised on W EEREEENMLERE
qualifying assets (Note 7) (BF&E7) 33,369 28,739
Finance costs bkt (18,578) (29,126)
Interest income B WA 10,699 5,815
Exchange losses VE Bk (10,281) (154,813)
Finance costs, net HKER— F8 (18,160) (178,124)
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 23. BRATEH ATFE
Profit before income tax was determined after charging the REBRFTEFRAIRENERWT ¢
following:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BHILEEE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Operating lease expense KEHEE 12,794 10,205
Auditors’ remunerations R B
— Audit services —The Company — T RS — 27 3,800 3,300
— Non-audit services — JEEET RIS 596 179
Listing expense tHEA = 28,273
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24.

190

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

24. FRGHER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A3MHILEE

2016 2015

2016 £ 20154

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Current income tax = HAFT1S R (290) (39,287)
Deferred income tax (Note 17) EEFTSRL (MI3E17) (72,055) (69,369)
(72,345) (108,656)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempt company with limited liability and, accordingly, is
exempted from payment of local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the
Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during
the year.

AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited, which were incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands under the International Business
Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands, are exempted from
payment of local income tax.

SAEI, which was incorporated in Samoa under the International
Business Companies Acts of the Samoa, is exempted from
payment of local income tax.

Corporate income tax in the PRC is calculated based on the
statutory profit or loss of branches established in the PRC, after
adjusting certain income and expense items, which are not
assessable or deductible for income tax purposes. According to
the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated by the PRC
government, the tax rate applicable for the PRC branches of the
Group's subsidiaries is 25%.
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24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the

24. FRIBHEB A @)
A W RS F AT R O B B R AR
FER RS EMERYETR SN -

theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLFE

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Profit before income tax EhR Sy =nw b 178,980 51,717

Tax expense calculated at applicable REAEERE

statutory tax rates STEABIE (22,859) (47,043)
Tax losses with no deferred income tax RERIBELEFTSH

assets recognised BENNE (47,229) (34,978)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes AR E A (1,967) (2,856)

Others i) (290) (23,779)

Income tax expense Fristi & A (72,345) (108,656)

25. EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE 25. §RKE(EE)
(a) Basic (@) EX
The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the AEXRGRWEETDIEEBRAR R
profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company by the BEOFE (BB BRUAEZE 2016
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during F12RANBLEFERNDETHE
the year ended 31 December 2016. BRSO INETHEGETESE -

REJN GRS BFEZEBR
weighted average number of ordinary shares for each of INEFHBUE RERMEBEITRR
the years was determined by taking into consideration the BERAREERATAERZR
BRBRINEIT 2 BITIRG © AN
ERONMEFEVIIE TEHIT -

For the purpose of presenting earnings per share, the

issuance of shares by capitalisation issue and additional
issue by way of debit to the capital surplus account upon
the IPO as if these issuance of shares had occurred at the
beginning of the earliest year reported.
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25. EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE (Continued) 25. FRWE 7 (BE) @)
(a) Basic (Continued) (@) ER®E

Year ended 31 December

BE12ANBLEE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of  BEBRAARIFEEHN
the Company (RMB’000) FE(EBE)(ARETFT) 106,635 (56,939)
Weighted average number of ordinary B 2717 R E AR &)
basic shares in issue (Thousands) DIREFEHE(TAR) 3,326,780 3,007,555
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (RMB) E A&, (E518)
(AR®TT) 0.03 (0.02)
(b) Diluted (b) R
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the WmEGR K RBRPTA A RENE
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding TRk LRE  RBEESBETE
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary BARE IR BGHE - NAT]
shares. The Company has share options and RSUs EMBERRENEEEER : BR
outstanding which are potentially dilutive. The assumed RERZREIRMD B - RERIELRE
proceeds from conversion of these options and RSUs shall PR HE NS IR i A 19 B L 3 #A P S ER
be regarded as having been received from the issue of HERERR BIERE2FLERT
ordinary shares at average market price of ordinary shares AmSERETMES - EREHE
during the period. The difference between the number of TRRMNEE RENBRITETE
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise PR AE OS2 IR A 10 BB L X 3 1T Y
of the share options and RSUs and the number of shares RHEE - BRERBEFEER
that could have been issued at the average market price of FImISERETLESHREE
the ordinary shares during the period with the same total ERNER T A eHEEITHRND
assumed proceeds is the number of shares issued for no HEWERE - & SREBTOR
consideration. The resulting number of shares issued for no MHER KBRS EmREE
consideration is included in the weighted average number W—n - BEREREERK
of ordinary shares as the denominator for calculating mR A& -

diluted earnings per share.
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25. EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE (Continued) 25. SRWE (BR) @)
(b) Diluted (Continued) (b) HE(HE)
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group made a HZE2015F12A3MHILEFE - K
loss therefore the effect of share options was anti-dilutive EESEEE ALERENSE
and is ignored from the calculation of diluted earnings per ABREE AEFREBTERES
share. Az o

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLLEE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of  8EBRANATIFTAEH
the Company (RMB’000) M (BB (ARETT) 106,635 (56,939)
Weighted average number of ordinary & 217 A% hniee
shares in issue (Thousands) EE(FRR) 3,326,780 3,007,555
Adjustments for assumed conversion of {8 =& 3 12 88 A4 & =R i
share options and RSUs (Thousands)  f&{n A1 a9 58 % (F %) 13,538 -
Weighted average number of ordinary st EWESR KIS
shares for diluted earnings per share  E@IANEFHE (F)
(Thousands) 3,340,318 3,007,555
Diluted earnings/(losses) ek (Ei18)
per share (RMB) (AR 0.03 (0.02)
26. DIVIDENDS 26. RE
No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the HZE2016F K2015F12A31BIEFE -
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. VN/NGINIZ S NS D s
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27. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 27. RETEBRE
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow MRS AI MR ELE S EENERER
generated from operations: BIFREH A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2016 2015
2016 & 20154
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT
Profit before income tax PSR A 178,980 51,717
Adjustments for: RPN EIBEL R
Depreciation (Note 7) e (s 7) 71,747 140,234
Amortisation (Notes 8 and 9) By (fsE8 R 9) 2,866 1,852
Losses on disposals of property, HETEE TR
plant and equipment RIBEEE 462 129
Interest income (Note 22) FEWA (M5 22) (10,699) (5,815)
Finance costs (Note 22) M5B (Msr22) 18,578 29,126
Unrealised exchange losses AEIRME L BX 12,586 159,072
Share-based compensation (Note 21(b)) VAR5 75 B 10 ) S
(Fi=E21(b)) 48,240 44,702
Listing expense (Note 23) EHER(FIF23) = 28,273
Changes in working capital: LEBEeNEE
Increase in inventories FEEM (663) (19)
Increase in trade and other receivables 52 B R N L A R Wik
Y32 0 (40,905) (7,309)
Increase in trade and other payables JE A< BR R B B At A< 3R
=ophiil 7,848 9,466
Cash generated from operations KETHELENRS 289,040 451,428
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. BEEAR S
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, B HARENERSIMEENS — %
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE— PG MEESRREBAE KR
influence over the other party in making financial and operation TR AR ARE T o X EREHIH
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are BEHME LB - KREBTEEEA
subject to common control. Members of key management and B RHERIEK B TR 2 R

their close family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.

(@) The following companies are related parties of the (@) & 1LE2016F12H318 " T35l
Group during the year ended 31 December 2016 AEAREEBEBS
Names of the related parties Nature of relationship
B S A BERME
CUCBM PSC partner of Panzhuang concession
R E R EHEBEREMDKARERA
PetroChina Company Limited PSC partner of Mabi concession
PG HRARKDFR A BUEREDIKEREEA
Xilingol Haitian Dibiao Minerals Under common control until 22 June 2015
Co., Ltd. ("Haitian Dibiao")
BB R RER ZHEEHEZE201556 4220
BRAF CERIR)
Inner Mongolia Qing Yu Minerals Under common control until 22 June 2015

Co., Ltd. ("Qing Yu")

AXLHETREBERAR (ET) EHEZEHEZE2015F6 A22H
Shanxi Meiya CBM Technology Under common control until 22 June 2015

Consultancy Co. Ltd. ("Meiya”)
IWEEGEERFMZERARAR SXAREFEE2015F6A22H
(%E5)
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 28. BB AR5 (&)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) BEHEBAINEARS

Year ended 31 December

BE12ANBLEE

2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
Services received EESHIRS
— CUCBM — B EER 4,213 3,800
— PetroChina Company Limited — PR ABXARBELDER AR 6,396 6,070
— Haitian Dibiao (Note) — BRHAZ (FIFE) - 7,500
— Qing Yu (Note) — BF (M) = 3,250
— Meiya (Note) — %o (MEE) = 1,020
10,609 21,640
Note: These transactions with Haitian Dibiao, Qing Yu and Meiya were MizE : EBRMIZ  BFERETHNXZZFOR
completed before 23 June 2015, being the date of the Company'’s 201546 A 23 H (ARRA A8 KA B2
IPO. EBH) AT °
(c) Key management compensation () FEEBEAEEHM:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLELEE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREEF T
Basic salaries and allowances HEAR#H 4 Ki2AL 26,263 22,705
Discretionary bonuses g tEe 6,852 9,751
Share-based compensation VARG 17 A EE T A SR A 31,365 30,304
Other benefits including pension HER (2ERARE) 8,904 4,592
73,384 67,352
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29. COMMITMENTS 29. AHEE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EARETH
Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but RAFERDHEEILRBELN
not yet incurred is as follows: BARAT -

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2016 2015
2016 5 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARETT
Property, plant and equipment TEE - TRNEE 302,898 338,253
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHERE
The Group leases office premises from non-related parties IEE B IEAB R R 5 T AT RUE R A
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The EHERZTHERARE - &1
future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable AREEEEHE T REERER
operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date HERNEBEHMARERAEBENRKE
but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows: RIEEMNBEEFEMT

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2016 2015
2016 % 20154
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTFT
No later than 1 year —F LR 9,621 14,358
Later than 1 year but —FERF
no later than 5 years 6,428 15,580
16,049 29,938
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30. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 30. A AT EEABRREERE
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) AAREEEER
As at 31 December
R12A31RH
2016 2015
2016 & 20154
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Liks3 ARBT T ARBTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Long-term investment RHRE 3,230,389 2,614,143
Property, plant and equipment B ~ TH &R 2,672 2,926
Intangible assets BIZAE i 20
3,233,075 2,617,089
Current assets REEE
Other receivables E At R IR 1,524 980
Cash and cash equivalents Be MBS EEY 1,517,753 1,854,896
1,519,277 1,855,876
Total assets wWEE 4,752,352 4,472,965
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners XA T FEEER
of the Company
Share capital [N 2,034 2,034
Capital surplus BB 4,863,712 4,511,808
Accumulated deficits Z:tEiE (125,423) (58,162)
4,740,323 4,455,680
LIABILITIES &fE
Current liabilities RENEE
Other payables H bR IR 12,029 17,285
Total liabilities HWaE 12,029 17,285
Total equity and liabilities EERBEST 4,752,352 4,472,965
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the RABREERBERAEFGN 2017
Board of Directors on 24 March 2017 and was signed on its FIA24BHE - WAHATALTR
behalf RET
Executive Director HITESE
Stephen Xiangdong Zou =R
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30. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 30. A AR EEESEBEXZREEST
OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AQRFEESH

Capital  Accumulated

surplus deficit

BEREH RitEBER

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETTT

Balance as at 1 January 2015 20151 A1 B#&8R 2,628,979 -
Loss for the year REEHE - (58,162)
Currency translation differences SN E R 298,201 -
Capitalisation issue B BT (891) -
Issue of additional shares BITERIMNR D (223) -
Issue of shares as part of the IPO BRAAFRBEEEITHRG 1,538,841 -
Share-based compensation BARS A% 72 57 B S B 44,702 -
Exercise of share options TT{b A 2,199 -
Balance as at 31 December 2015 2015512 A 31 B#& 4,511,808 (58,162)
Balance as at 1 January 2016 20161 A1 &8 4,511,808 (58,162)
Loss for the year REEIE = (67,261)
Currency translation differences SN E 303,664 -
Share-based compensation LA RS A7 7o BT 1) S 48,240 -
Balance as at 31 December 2016 201612 A 31 HE & 4,863,712 (125,423)
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31.

200

SUBSIDIARIES 31. B A E]
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December ATHRE IE2016F 12 A3 EE
2016: HEAR
Issued/ Proportion of ordinary
Place of incorporation and paid-up Principal activities and shares held by the Group
Name type of legal entity capital place of operation (%)
B&f1/ REERA
£ ARt R EAERER BARE IEXBREEHE EBRELBI (%)
AAGI British Virgin Islands ("BVI), US$50,0005%70/  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company US$50,000% 7T
FEAERERAA RBURRE(RBEREE)) REREERE  RBARES 100%
BRAF
AAG Energy (China) Limited BVI, Limited liability company US$5,000% 7T/ CBM project development, BV 100%
US§5,000% 7T
REERES BRAAF KEREERE RBARES 100%
SAEI Samoa, Limited liability US$7,000,000%70/  CBM project development, 100%
company US$7,000000%7  Samoa
EHERAA BES ERAA KEREERE BED 100%
Alpha Eagle Limited Cayman Islands, US§137T/USS13ET  CBM project development, 100%
Limited liability company Cayman Islands
EEARAR FEHES  AREALA KEREERE 100%
REHS
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (a)
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive
is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2016:

32. EEREANRA =
EERERUTENHS

B 1F2016F 128318

BEFNERPITENFMAT -

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's
other services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs
contributiontoa  of the Company
Discretionary Allowancesand  retirement benefit or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind scheme undertaking Total
A8
AREHERS
EREARRRN
EZWEMRRN
#e ER e BiE%s BARE  BIEMEAGE  xAZHLNEM At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARMT T ARMTT ARMTT ARMTT ARMTT ARMTT
Executive Director HiEE
Dr. Stephen XiangdongZou ~~ FREL - 7124 1,781 3,337 76 - 12,318
Non-executive Directors e
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BFURE - - - - - - -
Mr. Zhen Wei REgs S o - - - - -
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7t & = = = = = = =
Mr. Zhijie Zeng BBREE = - - - - _ _
Mr. Lei Jin SRS = = - - - - -
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEERT = = = = = = =
Mr. Bo Bai (Note (vi) BREE ) = = = = = = =
Independent Non-executive B H7EE
Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu RIEXRE 330 - - 259 - - 589
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks % 405 = = 313 = - 78
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong EAREL 88 - - 3 - - 121
Mr. Fredick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barett 7225 381 - - 313 - - 694
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law Stephen Cheuk Kin
Lawik 27 - - 54 - - 0
Chief Executive ERHAE
Mr. Carl Lakey (Note (v) Carl Lakey 52/ (i3 () - 3,104 936 17,589 - - 21,629
Mr. Jing Li EXy L3 = 3,745 936 8,243 80 - 13,004
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EEEMERZ=E 5

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEREITENME (B)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015: #H L2015 12 4318 -

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's
other servicesin
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs
contribution to of the Company
Discretionary Allowances and aretirement or ts subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme undertaking Total
AfekE
AREBEESA
KERRAEN
ESHABRENL
4 7 #e Rigte B/HEY  BIRAENHE REEGET At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AEETR

Executive Director Y1782
Dr. Stephen XiangdongZou ~ HREHL - 652 314 1250 4 - 10,964

Non-executive Directors FH17ES
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw ETHEE - - - - - - -

Mr. Zhen Wei REgd - - - _ _ _ _
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7t & - - - - - - -
Mr. Zhijie Zeng BIREE - - - - - - -
Mr. Lei Jin SREE - -
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEERT - -
M. Bo Bai Bkt - -
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFH{TEE

Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu RIEXRE 107 - - 173 - - 20
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks % 4 107 - - 187 - - 94
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong EAREL 107 - - 178 - - 25
Mr. Fredick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 7225 107 - - 19 - - 302
Chief Executive ERUGE
Mr. Carl Lakey Carl Lakey %5 - 333 2054 8349 - - 13726
Mr.Jing Li BV - 3239 831 9212 4 - 13326
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments

(Continued)

(a)

Notes:

@

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou is also the chairman of the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

On 28 April 2016, Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong retired as an independent
non-executive Director from the Board and ceased to act as the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee.

On 28 April 2016, Mr. Zhijie Zeng retired as a non-executive Director
from the Board.

On 2 July 2016, Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law was appointed as an
independent nonexecutive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.

On 30 October 2016, Mr. Carl Lakey resigned as the Co-Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Company.

On 28 February 2017, Mr. Bo Bai resigned as a non-executive Director
from the Board.

2. EERARAE @

(a)

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER

ESRERUTENME (B

B UE20165F K 201512 A31 8 + 8
ARBLIRBAREER

201654 528 H » ERATHELEE
EFZSBUHRTESHY  LET
BEIEXZZECIERIEREES
KE -

E2016F4 A28 0 L2 HEABT
EZSHNITEERG -

1201647 A2H - Stephen Cheuk
Kin Law e E R ERB U IENITES -
EREEETIERIREREREENKE -

12016510 A 30 H + Carl Lakey 5t 4
BEARRMEERENTERB LS
JEEETRAS -

M2017F 28288 AR LBTE
FEEPERTEER -

203




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM B MR M A

32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

2. EERARAE @

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (a) EEREEITENMNES (B
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments EEHM
Aggregate emoluments
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable
paid to or receivable by directors in respect of their
by directors in respect of other services in connection
their services as directors, with the management of
whether of the Company or  the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total Total
EERHEFERES ESHHERQAARH
(FHREALAAREMBLARN MELXNEBEEEFHENEM
BIR 75 3% 45 2 FE Uk 9 48 357 T PR 5 M 32 4 2 Uk 69 357 A 48 2R aFt A&t
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
20165 20154 2016 20154 2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥ETT ARBTR ARETTT ARBTR ARETTT
14,731 12,125 - - 14,731 12,125

Notes: Emoluments above include estimated money value of non-cash
benefits: share options, RSUs and insurance premium.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b)
During the year ended 31 December 2016, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group was paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries (2015: nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c)
During the year ended 31 December 2016, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services was
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor is any payable (2015: nil).
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)
(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making

(e)

(f)

available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2015: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

There is no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities (2015: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2015: nil).

2. EERARAE @

(d)

(e)

(f)

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER

HEZREOEEH D BRERMLH
A

H1E2016F12A31H RERE
ERB A B ER AR R - 17
77 B 08 5 FE R BN (2015 4F -

z)

BARUES ZEBEARRE
ZESHRABNERBNER
BEERREMRZER

BRBNESE - RIEHEAREZE
SHEBNEBNER  EEFRR
HittZX 5E# (2015 : &) o

EEERS  THREHNFAE
HWERER
BIAEERE2ERBERE K
NANEBFINAMBEAEEESKE
BEANREEHEE A EZ (B
WEEEIBBE)INEARS &
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4 : 100004

REREROBFETAE

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

ERAEBSERE
EBPREHFELERAA
BRET

ERREFR 1835
AR
17H1712-1716 F

DEREREBRERRIR/ 2 —RFFER 207




Corporate Information

DNRER

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communication Limited, Offshore Banking Unit

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince's Building
Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law and United States law:
Kirkland & Ellis

26th Floor, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

King & Wood Mallesons

40th Floor, Tower A Beijing Fortune Plaza
7 Dongsuanhuan Zhonglu

Beijing 10020

People’s Republic of China

As to Cayman Islands law:
Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Haitong International Capital Limited
22nd Floor, Li Po Chun Chambers
189 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
2686

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.aagenergy.com
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